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Praise for Oak Island Odyssey: A Masonic Quest


  
	“Oak Island Odyssey is an engaging and informative read for anyone interested in the Oak Island mystery and the ongoing search for treasure believed to have been buried centuries earlier on this small island in Mahone Bay, Nova Scotia.

	Scott Clarke’s story of his reconnection with his birth parents and his subsequent discovery of his extended family’s relationship to a succession of the early Oak Island treasure hunters is a compelling springboard for a deep dive into his two extensively researched and persuasively presented main theories regarding the possible source and nature of the ever-elusive treasure.... Clarke leaves no stone unturned in his desire to get to the bottom of this tantalizing mystery.

	Although Masonry’s involvement was first suggested some years ago by Reginald V. Harris, a former Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, Clarke reveals in detail that members of the fraternity owned property on the island prior to the discovery of the so-called Money Pit in 1795. That some of these individuals were members of the author’s extended birth family, and that he is a Mason committed to the quest, makes Oak Island Odyssey a treasured addition to our knowledge of this great Canadian mystery.”

	–Mark Finnan, author, Oak Island Secrets




  
	“Many books have been written about this fascinating island. Oak Island Odyssey by Scott Clarke, a Freemason, offers us a unique perspective into and some intriguing theories about this fascinating mystery. He takes us on a journey to discover his ancestors and their friends and associates who were also Freemasons. There is a strong masonic connection to the island and [Clarke] has proven that beyond a doubt, describing in detail the Masonic symbolism on the island and the early ownership of island lots by Masons predating the 1795 discovery of the Money Pit. He draws thought-provoking connections between brothers from various Masonic lodges. What drew these early Freemasons to the island? Were they simply landowners or did they have another purpose in mind? My brother Scott believes he has the answer. This is a book that anyone—especially my fellow Masonic brothers—interested in the island and its many secrets will enjoy.”

	–Charles Barkhouse, Oak Island Historian and 
Freemason, Unity Lodge #4, A.F. & A.M.
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	“Treasure hunting is [about] something more than monetary value—it is a part of eternal hope, a mystical quest, the satisfaction of an unfulfilled dream.”

	—Harry Middleton Hyatt
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  Foreword


  
	It is certainly a humbling honour to have been asked by my friend Scott Clarke to write a foreword to his book, Oak Island Odyssey: A Masonic Quest. I first met Scott on his visit to Oak Island in 2006. It was immediately apparent in my discussions with him how passionately he believed in the Oak Island story and how committed he was to his personal pursuit of answers to help solve the enduring mystery. As we walked the island it was evident that the experience of being there ignited in him a resolve to search for answers. I did not realize until reading this book, however, that his family legacy was deeply associated with Oak Island.

	Readers will certainly come to understand that Scott’s perspective—because he is a Mason himself—is unique. The genealogical research he has done on his extended family as it relates to the search activity over the years is intriguing. The fact that he can look at the history through the lens of the Masonic brotherhood grants him a rare view into the Oak Island mystery. The research he presents is impressive, as he’s made several truly compelling connections.

	His journey is a very personal one, which is captured here in his writing. Having been captivated by the Oak Island story since I was eleven, I can certainly relate to his belief in the importance and impact of the research in this book and his willingness to commit his time and energy to its pursuit.

	Scott speaks so passionately about the fellowship of the dig, and I know he understands as well as his readers that through each of you the fellowship continues to grow.

	It was indeed a pleasure to read this book. Welcome to the Fellowship…. One in, all in…. Once in, forever in….

	Sempre Avanti

	Rick Lagina

	Member of the Fellowship

	The Curse of Oak Island
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  Introduction


  
	An odyssey is usually defined as a long and eventful journey or experience, especially while searching for something. This definition seems fitting to describe Nova Scotia’s incredible Oak Island mystery, as there has never been a longer or more eventful treasure hunt anywhere in the world.

	An odyssey can also refer to an intellectual or spiritual quest, and that is precisely what I feel I’ve been engaged in over the past twenty years. It is a quest that has already led to discovering significant new information and fascinating connections involving Oak Island, as well as priceless treasures in my own life.

	But this book is not just about my personal quest for answers to the centuries-old Oak Island mystery or to the mysteries of Freemasonry. It is also about that of the current fellowship of searchers on Oak Island, and all the searchers who came before them. In addition, it is about the journey that many Freemasons partake in through their initiation ceremonies, which is part of a much older and larger tradition.

	The “Fellowship of the Dig” is the collective name adopted by the group that has been searching for answers to the Oak Island mystery since 2014. The name is an homage to the well-known Fellowship of the Ring from J. R. R. Tolkien’s book and Peter Jackson’s movie The Lord of the Rings.

	In The Lord of the Rings, the fellowship consists of nine men who form a brotherhood and come to strongly support each other as they embark on a perilous quest. The Fellowship of the Dig on Oak Island also started with a core of nine men in 2014: brothers Rick and Marty Lagina, Marty’s son Alex Lagina, long-time Oak Island residents and treasure hunters Dan Blankenship and his son David, Craig Tester and his stepson Jack Begley, historian and Freemason Charles Barkhouse, and long-time Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Henskee. Much like the Fellowship of the Ring, the Oak Island Fellowship has forged a strong bond in its quest for answers on the enigmatic island.

	Membership in this Fellowship has grown significantly over the years to include many supporting characters, whom the viewers of the TV show The Curse of Oak Island will know well. As Rick Lagina has stated more than once, research and theories can be just as important as the actual digging when it comes to discovering clues and adding pieces to the overall puzzle.

	I’m proud to say that I too am now a member of the Fellowship. In September 2021, as I was walking from the war room on Oak Island with Charles Barkhouse after just having presented one of my theories to the team, Barkhouse turned to me, shook my hand, and said, “Welcome to the Fellowship!”

	Every quest needs a hero, and if you think about it, everyone is the hero of their own life story. When I first started learning about Oak Island, I considered Dan Blankenship a heroic figure. As the Fellowship has grown and changed more recently, I would say that torch has been firmly passed to Rick Lagina.

	All of the members of the Fellowship play an integral part in the search for answers, but Rick Lagina is the leader everyone looks up to—a true hero who does things for the benefit of others, rather than himself. The very first time I met Lagina in 2006, he told me he wanted to restart the treasure hunt on Oak Island for all the people who are interested in the mystery. The TV show allows millions of people around the world to feel like they are right there on the island, engaged in the quest with the Fellowship.

	But can the search on Oak Island be seen as an archetypal hero’s journey? Later in the book, I will discuss what this means and explain how, I believe, it relates directly to Oak Island and may have influenced a certain Masonic ritual.

	Both my individual quest and the collective quest on Oak Island have involved a good deal of perseverance. My original goal was, and continues to be, finding historical information that ties directly to Oak Island, which will hopefully lead to the knowledge of who was responsible for the pre-1795 workings on the island. After I had discovered quite a bit of information that was new and interesting, it also became one of my goals to present my research on the TV show.

	In 2017 I had submitted my research to certain people connected with the show. I was told then that they loved it and that I’d likely be asked to present it on camera. To my disappointment, however, nothing came of it. In 2019 I had discovered additional compelling information and submitted my research once again. This time, I got invited to talk with the producers on the island and was filmed with two members of the Fellowship, presenting my research at a museum in Chester, Nova Scotia. I was doubly disappointed when my segment did not air during season 7 of the show.

	At that point, it would have been easy to give up and move on to something else, but I believed in myself and the validity of the information I’d already discovered. My old friend and Oak Island researcher Chris Donah had presented his findings in the war room on the TV show during season 6, and he also encouraged me not to give up. He suggested that I go on an Oak Island podcast to start getting my research out to the public.

	The more research I did, the more my new theory fell into place. There’s an old saying, “the third time’s the charm,” that proved true for me. My new theory quickly reached Rick Lagina, and I was told that he loved it. I then sent him my older theory involving Sir William Phips and silver from the Concepción shipwreck, and he loved that too, since silver had recently been detected underground on Oak Island. I was asked to present both theories to the Fellowship.

	After receiving the invitation, I spent two months putting my presentations together. I had been on the island with most of the guys in 2019, but my time there in 2021 was extra special, as I now consider many of the members of the Oak Island Fellowship to be friends. For the better part of three days, we had meals together, chatted in the research centre, walked through tours behind the scenes, and filmed in the famous war room twice. I cannot speak to the production side of things, but I will say that every member of the crew that I met was friendly and professional. They made me feel generally at ease, even when there were multiple cameras pointed at me.

	My Phips & Belcher Concepción Silver presentation was first aired in Canada and the United States in late January 2022 in the 12th episode of season 9, and it was the 150th episode of the show overall. The episode was named around my theory, “The Silver Liner,” and it had the second highest ratings of the entire season, according to Showbuzz Daily.

	There is much that I presented in the war room regarding this theory, that viewers of the TV show did not get to see. When taken all together, the theory becomes even more compelling and plausible. The entire theory is detailed in this book.
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  The author in the war room with Rick Lagina and the gang from The Curse of Oak Island. From left: David Fornetti, Alex Lagina, Rick Lagina, Doug Crowell, Jack Begley, Scott Clarke, Charles Barkhouse, and Scott Barlow. (Scott Clarke)

  
	The other theory that I presented in the war room involves my discovery of what I believe to be multiple Masonic Royal Arch ciphers on a 260-year-old map that all point directly to Oak Island, thirty-three years before the discovery of the so-called Money Pit in 1795. I showed that these same ciphers also point to a particular missing national treasure of Scotland. The original discovery story of this priceless treasure over a thousand years ago in England is quite fascinating. This theory is detailed in this book as well.

	The segment based on my theory involving the red garnet stone that was found on Oak Island was aired in April 2022 and was titled “A Lot of Secrets” in reference to lot 8 where the garnet was found. I had theorized that it was the perfect size, shape, and colour to have come from a Masonic Royal Arch high priest breastplate. This theory is also fully detailed in this book.
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  From left, the author with Charles Barkhouse and Rick Lagina, outside the war room in September 2021. (Scott Clarke)


	Knowing that I was a Freemason, and that my theories contained so much Masonic research, I was also asked to take part in the filming of The Curse of Oak Island: Drilling Down episode, later titled “The Freemason Factor.” I filmed my segments with host Matty Blake and Fellowship members Mason Charles Barkhouse and soon-to-be Mason Jack Begley. That’s right, Begley is also a Freemason now! The episode aired right before the season 9 Curse of Oak Island finale in early May 2022.

	I’ve believed that the mysteries of Oak Island and Freemasonry are intertwined since the very beginning of my research. That belief has only grown stronger with each new historical discovery that I’ve made. I’m talking about proof of multiple Freemasons owning up to half of Oak Island before the discovery of the Money Pit; I’m talking about a significant connection between certain early Masonic high-degree rituals and Oak Island; and I’m talking about a direct connection between Oak Island and the oldest and highest levels of Freemasonry in North America.
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	Chapter 1 Beginnings


  
	When I first read about the incredible Oak Island mystery almost thirty years ago, in the summer of 1993, I could have never imagined that multiple generations of my yet-unknown birth family had been involved in numerous treasure hunts on Oak Island, on and off, for almost 150 years.

	It was only a few years later that I first heard about the secretive society known as Freemasonry. The more I read about Freemasonry, the more fascinated I became. I remember thinking how cool it would be to become a member and get to wear one of those seemingly magical rings. I did not, however, know anyone who was a member. At the time, I had no way of knowing that Freemasonry was already in my blood and that I even had family ties to the Craft’s mysterious beginnings in North America.

	Oak Island and Freemasonry came together for me on one fateful day in April 2000. It not only led me to find priceless treasures in my own life, but also to an immediate and ever-increasing conviction that the Oak Island mystery and the mysteries of Freemasonry are strongly linked together.

	On a Saturday morning, while browsing through the weekend edition of the Toronto Star, I came upon an article that immediately grabbed my attention. It showed a diagram of a very deep and elaborate pit with layers of logs at various intervals and flood channels running diagonally upwards toward the ocean.

	I quickly learned that Oak Island was the site of the longest ongoing treasure hunt in the world, with reports of supernatural sightings and booby traps, likely involving the infamous pirate, Captain Kidd. But there were also alternative theories mentioned involving Spanish conquistadors, the French Crown Jewels, the lost Shakespearean manuscripts, and even the Holy Grail itself! The author described it as a “classic Indiana Jones-worthy tale of buried treasure” (Silk 1993).

	I thought, Are you kidding me?! We actually have something this incredible in Canada?

	In order to tell my story properly, I need to briefly go back to the beginning of my life. I was adopted by my Clarke family at only a few months of age, and I had a great childhood and upbringing and feel very fortunate for all the comforts that I had.

	As a young boy in the 1970s and into the early ’80s, I loved reading the Hardy Boys mystery books. I received my first Hardy Boys book for Christmas when I was nine years old, and over the next three or four years, I collected all fifty-nine of the original books. I loved immersing myself in the different mysteries with brothers Frank and Joe and trying to think ahead and solve the case before they did.

	In the summer before I started high school, one of the greatest treasure-hunting movies of all time was released in theatres. Raiders of the Lost Ark was an instant classic in 1981 and is one of my favourite films ever. That movie was my introduction to the Ark of the Covenant, which sparked my interest in Biblical archaeology, which continues to this day.

	As I got into my late teens and early twenties, I started becoming more and more interested in genealogy. I got as much information as I could from my Clarke parents and my grandparents and then searched various genealogical databases. Back in the late ’80s and early ’90s, it wasn’t easy to track down genealogical information.

	Of course, as I worked on my Clarke genealogy, it was almost impossible not to wonder about my birth parents and my genetic bloodlines. In early 1994, I finally decided to contact the Adoption Disclosure Registry in Toronto. It wasn’t long before I received a letter telling me that my birth mother, Margaret, had also registered years earlier and that she was interested in reconnecting with me. After a couple of letters back and forth, we met, or rather re-met, in person. We were able to see each other quite often during the initial years of our reconnection, and we developed a great relationship that has enriched both of our lives.

	About a month after first meeting my birth mom, I had the pleasure of meeting my birth grandmother, Iris. I was thrilled to discover early on that my grandmother had spent many years putting together a very extensive and privately published genealogy, which had been started many years earlier by her mother (my great-grandmother). Here was every branch of my birth mom’s family, stretching back many generations. It was exactly the kind of information I’d hoped to discover.

	I had certainly asked my birth mom what she knew about my birth father, Alan. She had not seen him since I was born, but she did tell me certain details about him and his family. She also had several photos of the two of them together from when they were dating. Over the next few years, I tried to get in touch with him a few times but was unsuccessful.

	In April 2000, talking to my birth mom about my birth dad sparked my interest in wanting to find him once again. I’m not what you would call a religious person. Still, I do believe in God and consider myself a Christian. I had prayed on and off in my life, and for some reason, on April 12, 2000, I decided to pray to God that I would find my birth father and that he would want to get to know me and have a relationship.

	The very next day, I went on eBay. I loved searching  he big online flea market for everything from antique manuscripts to megalodon shark teeth. On this day, the first thing that came to my mind was Oak Island. I did a search, and among the listed hits was a relatively new book by Steven Sora called The Lost Treasure of the Knights Templar: Solving the Oak Island Mystery.

	In its description, I read that “Sora presents a fascinating and convincing scenario that has the Sinclair clan of Scotland transporting the wealth of the Templars—entrusted to them as the Masonic heirs of the order—to a remote island off the shores of present-day Nova Scotia” (1999).

	I had felt drawn to the mysteries of Freemasonry and was considering joining the order, but I had read that you must be referred by another member to be considered. I didn’t know anyone who was a Freemason, so I decided to then google “Freemasonry” and “Ontario,” and the search brought up the “Grand Lodge of Canada in the Province of Ontario” website.

	After browsing the website for a bit, I noticed that there was a section of members’ email addresses. There were many hundreds of email addresses, but they were arranged alphabetically, and you could click on a particular letter to go to surnames beginning with that letter. I decided to see if there were any other Clarkes who were Masons and clicked on the letter C. As I started to scroll down the list of names, I immediately got goosebumps!

	One of the first names to appear on the list was “Calder, Alan,” which I knew was the name of my birth father. I understood that this could be a different Alan Calder and could just be a bizarre coincidence, but then I remembered that I had just prayed to God, specifically asking to find my birth father. Now on the screen in front of me, less than fifteen hours later, was his name with an accompanying email address.

	Of course, I emailed him right away. I told him how I came across his name and contact info and provided a little of his family information that I got from my birth mom, so he would have a pretty good idea of who I was.

	The next morning, I received a reply saying that he was in fact the Alan Calder that I was looking for. Just like that, I had found my birth father.

	If all this wasn’t amazing enough, one of the first things my birth dad wrote was that his mother’s (my birth grandmother’s) maiden name was Sinclair. This was the one name mentioned on the back of Sora’s Oak Island book. Alan Calder told me that he was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, and that he was a 32nd degree Scottish Rite Mason. He and his wife were living in Toronto, and he did not have any other children. He also told me that his father, my birth grandfather, was a long-time Freemason from Edinburgh and was also living in Toronto. Sadly, my birth grandmother had passed away several years earlier.

	Over the next five years, as I got to know Alan, his wife, and the extended family, I read well over a hundred books about Freemasonry, the Sinclair Clan, Rosslyn Chapel, Knights Templar, the Holy Grail, the Rosicrucians, Francis Bacon, Oak Island, as well as several others involving esoteric topics or historical mysteries. I discovered that Alan and I had very similar interests in reading material, so I often loaned him books after I’d read them, so we could discuss them later.

	During that same period, I also immersed myself in genealogical research. I became very familiar with my birth mom’s family history and worked hard to further the research that my birth grandmother and great-grandmother had done. I also did a lot of research into my birth dad’s family in Scotland, obtaining many copies of birth, marriage, and death records from a website called Scotland’s People.

	In March 2005, I decided to reread the book Oak Island Gold by William Crooker. I had purchased and started reading this book the day after I first learned about Oak Island from the Toronto Star back in 1993. It had just been released earlier that year and was the first book to detail the Nolan’s Cross boulder formation. By 2005 I had forgotten many of the smaller details related to Oak Island’s history, so I picked it up again. I was only about twelve or thirteen pages in when I had a wow! moment.

	I was reading about the establishment of the so-called Onslow Company of treasure hunters that is said to have formed in 1803, about seven or eight years after the initial discovery of the Money Pit. There were four names of the group’s founders given, and as soon as I read the names of Colonel Robert Archibald and David Archibald of the Truro and Onslow area of Nova Scotia, I knew that I was related to them. There was a whole section dedicated to the Archibald family of Truro and Onslow in my birth grandmother’s genealogy document.

	So, twelve years after first falling in love with the Oak Island mystery, I discovered that I was actually related to two of the earliest treasure hunters on the island. This lit a fire under me to learn more about the history of Oak Island and my Archibald relatives.

	I discovered an excellent genealogy website, perfect for my research, run by genealogist Jane Wile, that focused specifically on the descendants of the families who settled in Colchester County, Nova Scotia, beginning in 1761. Colchester County is an area in the northern part of central Nova Scotia that includes the town of Truro and many small villages and communities like Bible Hill and Onslow, where I knew that this branch of my ancestors had settled.

	It didn’t take long for me to start making all the connections from my birth grandmother’s genealogy research to the extended families. I’m almost certain that, back in 2005, I was the first Oak Island researcher to uncover that all four of the often-mentioned Onslow Company members (Colonel Robert Archibald, Captain David Archibald, Simeon Lynds, and Sheriff Thomas Harris) were related to each other by blood or marriage. Suddenly I was related to four of the earliest treasure hunters on Oak Island. And that list was only beginning to grow.

	I’ll detail these Onslow Company connections a bit later in the book and show that future generations of the same families continued to be involved in subsequent treasure-hunting companies on the island for many years. The overall extent of this family involvement is quite fascinating and rather mind-boggling.

	Not long after discovering these connections, I found a website called Oak Island Treasure that had an online discussion forum. This website had been launched in 2001 by a woman from the UK named Joanna Atherton who went by the name Jo. I joined the forum in May 2005 under the username GrailKnight7.

	At the time, this was the only online discussion forum for Oak Island researchers and enthusiasts. One of the more prolific posters was retired federal Fisheries inspector Danny Hennigar, who lived close to Oak Island, in Chester Basin. He was the president of an organization called the Oak Island Tourism Society and had been a tour guide on Oak Island during the mid-1970s and again in the late 1990s.

	Other key members of the Oak Island Treasure forum were authors D’Arcy O’Connor, Graham Harris, and Les MacPhie. O’Connor had written The Money Pit back in 1978, which was republished in 1988 as The Big Dig, and again in 2004 as The Secret Treasure of Oak Island. Harris and MacPhie wrote Oak Island and Its Lost Treasure in 2000.

	Another forum member, Petter Amundsen, went on to write the book Organisten in 2006 in Norwegian. In 2012 Amundsen followed it up with an English translation, titled Oak Island & The Treasure Map in Shakespeare. Amundsen is a Freemason from Norway, and I was interested in his theory as soon as he started writing about it on the forum. He believes that William Shakespeare was associated with a secret society called the Fraternity of the Rosie Cross (or Rosicrucians) and that at least two of Shakespeare’s publications have encrypted and concealed messages. Amundsen shows how these messages first point to a particular constellation in the heavens and then down to a boulder formation on Oak Island known as Nolan’s Cross.

	Forum member Joy A. Steele also went on to write a book. The Oak Island Mystery Solved was published in 2014. Steele offers one of the more scientific explanations as to what may be behind the Oak Island mystery. Very sadly, she passed away in late 2021.

	Five members of the forum have also gone on to present their research or theories on The Curse of Oak Island. Norwegian Freemason Petter Amundsen, Nova Scotian Freemason Kel Hancock, Terry Deveau, and Chris Donah have all made appearances on the show at least once. And, as of January 2022, I, an Ontario Freemason, became the fifth member of the old forum to appear on the show.

	Of all the excellent Oak Island researchers that were on the old Oak Island Treasure forum, there was one who stood out the most. His name was Paul Wroclawski.

	Wroclawski was constantly challenging the status quo of what was known about Oak Island’s history. He quickly debunked the Money Pit discovery story of the three boys by showing genealogical evidence that they were all in fact men in 1795. Many old accounts also say that the island was uninhabited in 1795, but Wroclawski found copies of the census records to show that there were at least four families living on the island in 1795.

	For me, one of the biggest contributions that Wroclawski made was his tracking down most of the earliest deeds and land records for the ownership of lots on the island.

	Mark Finnan’s book Oak Island Secrets (1995; republished in 1997, 2002, and 2009) had the most connections to Freemasonry of all the Oak Island books. Also, due to my Sinclair birth family connections, I was very interested in one of his other books called The Sinclair Saga (1999).

	In an e-mail to Finnan, I had briefly mentioned that I was related to some of the earliest treasure hunters who had searched on Oak Island and that I was also related to the Sinclair family in Scotland. Finnan was curious if I had any “family” stories. His own biography on his website stated that he was involved in Edgar Cayce’s Association for Research and Enlightenment (A.R.E.). My birth grandmother, Iris, mentioned her involvement with this group at one time, so I revealed this fact to Finnan. It turned out that they knew each other quite well thirty years earlier.

	It felt like the universe was trying to tell me something or point me in a certain direction. After all the previously mentioned synchronicities, I had e-mailed the one author on earth who has written about Oak Island, Freemasonry, and the Sinclair family, only to find out that he was an old friend of my maternal birth grandmother, the same grandmother through whom I’m connected to the Oak Island mystery.

	This all seemed like more than just a series of coincidences. I truly felt that I was meant to go on this intriguing and at times mystical Masonic quest to try and solve the Oak Island mystery.

	Essentially there are two types of people who are interested in the Oak Island mystery: those who are simply interested in the reward of treasure, and those who believe that the journey itself is the reward. I consider myself to be among the latter. My personal quest has truly been a labour of love thus far, and I’m not yet ready for it to end.
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	Chapter 2 Setting Out on My Journey


  
	It turned out that my joining the online Oak Island Treasure forum in May 2005 was very timely.

	As I’ve mentioned, forum member Danny Hennigar was the president of the Oak Island Tourism Society (OITS) at that time. In 2004 they held their first Explore Oak Island Days weekend, with the legendary Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Blankenship in attendance and lots of Oak Island artifacts for the public to see firsthand. I had joined the OITS not long after learning about its existence.

	In 2005 the OITS received permission from both Dan Blankenship and his business partner, David Tobias, to give public tours on Oak Island for the first time in many years. A special weekend was organized for mid-August.

	For someone like me, who has been interested in the Oak Island mystery for many years and who was becoming more and more passionate about the research, this weekend sounded like heaven. I found out later that I was the very first person to register for the first tour in 2005.

	I did some research before we went to Nova Scotia to determine which places, other than Oak Island, I wanted to visit. As a lover of history, I had to visit Annapolis Royal, the oldest town in Canada and the second-oldest settlement in North America (after St. Augustine, Florida). It’s also the site of the oldest Masonic lodge in Canada. I also wanted to visit Truro and Onslow, where several of my ancestors had resided, and I hoped to do some research there. In addition, I wanted to visit the Masonic Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia in Halifax (even though I was not yet a Freemason) to see if they would let me do research there.

	I was very excited when the day of our Oak Island tour finally arrived. There were about eighty to a hundred attendees, and we all gathered at a school a few kilometres from the main road that leads down to Oak Island. Danny Hennigar, who was our tour guide, asked that we follow each other down to the island in our cars.

	As an avid photographer, I took lots of photos, and in looking through my photos, years later, I noticed yet another one of those strange coincidences that I kept having. As I drove my car onto the Oak Island causeway for the first time, I quickly held up my camera and took a photo to immortalize the auspicious event. I didn’t know it then, but the car directly in front of me on the causeway had a small Masonic compass and square logo near the licence plate. I was being led onto the island by the main symbol of Freemasonry. The car turned out to be that of Ken Pineo. Pineo was a very proud and distinguished Freemason from Nova Scotia, with whom I talked many times before becoming a Mason myself. Sadly, Pineo passed away in 2018.

	Once on the island, we gathered in front of the old Oak Island Tours building to hear Hennigar give his introduction to the island. We then started out, walking past the old McInnis foundation and into the heavily wooded centre of the island along the main dirt road. As we walked along, we passed Dave Blankenship’s home on the right and then the huge Cone E boulder, which marks the bottom of the Nolan’s Cross formation, on the left of the road. The road then came out of the woods at the south shore, next to the swamp.

	Past the swamp, the road turns uphill and to the left, toward the old Money Pit area. The Money Pit area wasn’t much to look at, as it was just an opening in the grass enclosed in a small wooden fence for safety, with a few wooden beams showing and a metal caisson nearby. It was still a thrill to be standing there next to it. Hennigar explained that the hole we were looking at was from the Triton Alliance searcher shaft and that the exact location of the original Money Pit had been lost over time. It was, of course, somewhere in that vicinity.

	For many, the most interesting part of the tour was the Borehole 10-X caisson, where Dan Blankenship was sure he could make out a human body and a treasure chest in the murky depths when he had lowered a camera to the bottom. That weekend at the nearby Western Shore & Area Improvement Association building, a small television was set up in one corner of the Oak Island exhibition, showing the black-and-white and very grainy footage that Dan Blankenship had recorded deep down Borehole 10-X. I wouldn’t go so far as to say those items are not there, but I could not make them out.

	Borehole 10-X was located inside a shack and was surrounded by a number of other weathered old shacks, including the one that treasure hunter Dan Henskee used to live in while on the island.

	Just down the hill to the east of Borehole 10-X was Smiths Cove, and about halfway between them was the Cave-in Pit, which was then full of water. The Cave-in Pit was said to have been created around 1890 when Sophia Sellers’s oxen were grazing on this part of the hill, and it suddenly collapsed.

	After exploring the Smiths Cove area, the tour group headed back along the way we had come. I continued to take as many photos as I could. It was starting to get quite dark by the time we had returned to the parking area near the causeway. After all the reading I’d done over the years, it was very satisfying to have finally walked the storied island myself and seen everything firsthand.

	The next two days were filled with Oak Island exhibits, photographs, drawings, maps, and artifacts, all displayed at the Western Shore & Area Improvement Association building. Dan Blankenship was also in attendance both days to answer any questions.

	There were many different small pieces of metal and broken chain link on display that had been brought up from deep underground. There was a large wooden beam with Roman numerals carved into it, and there were samples of the blue clay that had been found in the Money Pit area. It was very interesting to see an actual original 1897 share certificate from the Oak Island Treasure Company, as well as the original 1938 letter to Professor Erwin Hamilton on Oak Island from none other than US President Franklin D. Roosevelt. The letter was typed on White House stationary. Roosevelt was a long-time and active Freemason who was initiated in 1911. As a later Scottish Rite Mason, Roosevelt would very likely have been aware of the strong similarity of descriptions between the Money Pit on Oak Island and a particular Scottish Rite degree ritual.

	Visitors to Oak Island that weekend were also treated to two excellent presentations by Oak Island authors and researchers: D’Arcy O’Connor and Les MacPhie. Both O’Connor and MacPhie gave me permission to fully videotape their presentations. One of the great things for me that weekend was meeting so many other Oak Island enthusiasts, researchers, authors, and even treasure hunters, in person. I made several friendships that last to this day.



  [image: A group of twenty-four Oak Island treasure hunters, researchers, authors and enthusiasts pose in the lobby of the Oak Island Resort & Conference Center in 2005. All are standing, except for Dan Blankenship’s wife Jane, who is seated among the group. Most are members of the Oak Island Tourism Society.]
  Members of the Oak Island Tourism Society with Dan and Jane Blankenship at the Oak Island Resort in August 2005. (Photo by Dave Van Vugt, at far left). 
1. Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Henskee; 2. Oak Island Exploration Co. investor Bill Milstead; 3. Oak Island author and researcher D’Arcy O’Connor; 4. Oak Island Treasure website and forum founder Jo Atherton; 5. Oak Island Tourism Society president and tour guide Danny Hennigar; 6. Oak Island researcher Terry Deveau; 7. Oak Island researcher Paul Wroclawski; 8. Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Blankenship; 9. Oak Island researcher and author Scott Clarke;


	As enjoyable as my Oak Island and Nova Scotia experience was in 2005, it was even better in 2006.

	After arriving back in Nova Scotia in mid-August 2006, we spent the first day of our trip in historical downtown Halifax. I spent a few hours exploring the hauntingly beautiful Old Burying Ground in search of Masonic headstones. Established in 1749, Halifax’s Old Burying Ground is one of the oldest cemeteries in North America, and the majority of its 1,300 headstones are in remarkably good condition.

	Knowing that many of Halifax’s earliest governors and prominent citizens were Freemasons, I had hoped to find a few gravestones with Masonic symbolism on them. I was certainly not disappointed. I came across quite a few very old Masonic gravestones, including one of the most beautiful that I’d ever seen. It was covered with fifteen examples of Masonic symbolism from top to bottom and belonged to a Mason who was a member of Virgin Lodge No. 2 in Halifax. This lodge had previously been known as Artillery Lodge, and as I was to discover later, one of the past masters of this lodge had a significant connection to Oak Island.



  [image: A beautiful 200+ year old dark gray headstone with patches of lichen growing around the base. Two Masonic pillars adorn each side of the headstone with an arch at the top going from the top of one pillar to the other. At the top center of the arch is a keystone with letters engraved on it. Under the keystone there is an all-seeing eye that looks very realistic. Other symbols in the top third include a small heart, a sun symbol a crescent moon, 7 stars and a ladder with 3 rungs and the letters, F, H & C. There is also prominent carving of an open book with the Masonic compass & square overlaid on top. The headstone reads “Abner Stowell, Died 26th of June 1821, Aged XXXV years, This monument is erected by the Brethren of Virgin Lodge No 2, As a token of respect to the Memory of their departed Brother”. Near the base it also shows the name “D. Kinnear” who would have carved the headstone.]
  The 1821 Halifax gravestone of Freemason Abner Stowell. (Scott Clarke)

  
	We made our way over to Lunenburg the following morning. Lunenburg is not only a unesco World Heritage site, but also one of the most postcard-worthy towns in North America. Lunenburg was founded in 1753 and is considered to be one of the best-surviving examples of a British colonial settlement in North America. The buildings are incredibly colourful and beautifully preserved. The Masonic lodge in Lunenburg is also one of the more beautiful lodge buildings I’ve seen in my travels.

	Lunenburg is also the home of Canada’s most famous ship, Bluenose. It was originally launched from Lunenburg in 1921 as a fishing schooner and went on to win the prestigious International Fishermen’s Race many times over the fastest American schooners. It was nicknamed the “Queen of the North Atlantic” and was immortalized in 1937 when its image was engraved onto the Canadian dime. The image of Bluenose has remained on the Canadian dime ever since and was given a special redesign in 2021 to commemorate the hundredth anniversary of Bluenose’s launching. On the new commemorative dime, the water is coloured blue.

	What many may not know is that the original Bluenose schooner featured a Masonic square and compass symbol between the names Bluenose and Lunenburg on its bow. This is because Bluenose was not only designed by Freemason William James Roué, but three of the schooner’s four owners were Freemasons of the Unity No. 4 Lodge in Lunenburg. They were Captain Angus Walters, E. Fenwick Zwicker, and Arthur H. Fenwick. Also, many other members of the Unity No. 4 Lodge helped build or sail the Bluenose.

	Sadly, Bluenose hit a coral reef in the West Indies in 1946 and sank. Bluenose II is a replica of the original vessel and was built in 1963; it underwent a major restoration and relaunch in 2012. We were happy to find it docked in Lunenburg during our visit.

	I couldn’t wait to get back to Oak Island that evening and see several of my forum friends and walk the island once more. On every tour, I learned new things and enjoyed talking with various experts. Forum founder Jo Atherton was there all the way from Hertfordshire, England. Ken Pineo was there, proudly sporting Masonic logos on both his t-shirt and baseball cap. Oak Island researcher Paul Wroclawski was there with his expensive camera. And it was the first time I had the pleasure of meeting researcher Chris Donah in person.

	This time the tour was led by the Oak Island author D’Arcy O’Connor. A number of OITS members, who were also Oak Island Treasure forum members, were dressed as pirates and made a surprise appearance later on the tour.

	As the tour group finished visiting the Money Pit area, Borehole 10-X shaft, and Smiths Cove beach, they headed back along the main road past the swamp. Suddenly there was a commotion to the left on the south shore beach. As I made my way over, I could see D’Arcy O’Connor down on his knees clearing away the sand. It seemed he’d just found the famous missing 90-foot Stone, said to have been discovered 90 feet (27.4 m) down in the Money Pit way back in 1804.

	Of course, it was just a replica of the alleged real stone, but it was fun to watch O’Connor pretend to discover it. The children in the tour group got down in the sand and helped him uncover it. After the tour had ended, I had the privilege of helping to carry the very heavy stone to a nearby pickup truck and to bring it back to the old Oak Island museum. We took the stone inside the old museum, which still contained many of the old artifacts and signage from the 1970s. This building became the orginal war room when the Curse of Oak Island TV show first started.

	That evening, those of us who were from the Oak Island Treasure forum met at the Black Pearl Bar & Grill in Western Shore for the launch of our new book, The Oak Island Code.

	The content for The Oak Island Code came together in a hilarious way, day-to-day and week-to-week on the Oak Island Treasure forum earlier in 2006. Utilizing many of the regulars on the forum as characters, members D’Arcy O’Connor and Danny Hennigar took turns adding stories on to the previous chapter. My forum name GrailKnight7 became Gail Night in the book. Although I never had any influence on the content of the book, I was certainly happy to see my character help solve the mystery in the final chapter. I won’t give away the ending, but I can say that it involved Freemasons. The book is very hard to find now and could be something of a collector’s item.

	The following day I attended presentations by Les MacPhie and Lee Lamb at the Western Shore & Area Improvement Association. Lamb is the daughter of Robert and Mildred Restall, who lived on Oak Island for almost six years, from 1959 to 1965, searching for the treasure. Tragically Lamb’s father Robert and older brother Bobby both lost their lives when they were overcome by gas in one of the shafts near Smiths Cove in 1965. Lamb wrote a book titled Oak Island Obsession: The Restall Story to tell her family’s story.

	Later that night, I had the pleasure of meeting and chatting with Rick Lagina. He asked me if I had a theory, and I told him that I was convinced Freemasons were involved. He passionately said that he hoped it could be proven that the Knights Templar were involved.

	The next morning, I attended a presentation by author and researcher Graham Harris regarding his theory involving Sir William Phips. Harris had written and self-published a forty-eight-page booklet to go along with his presentation, titled The Oak Island Treasure: The Case for Sir William Phips. I picked it up and opened it somewhere near the middle and was rather shocked to read my name, “Scott Clarke of Toronto…,” on the page.

	I had corresponded with Harris several times and given him some information possibly related to Phips, involving my extended family from Truro and Onslow. Harris never told me that he was writing a new booklet or that he would be including my information in it. It was certainly a nice surprise.

	Harris’s research is the backbone of one of my theories. In his booklet, Harris presents ten pieces of circumstantial evidence to back up his claim. I was later able to find four much larger and more compelling pieces of circumstantial evidence, including a previously unknown accomplice of Phips’s, that I believe, when combined, offer the most evidence for any Oak Island theory to date.

	Later that afternoon, I attended the second Oak Island tour of the weekend, led by Danny Hennigar. Since this was now my third tour of the island, I decided to stay at the back and focus on taking photos of the group. We had gone along the main dirt road, through the middle of the island, and were just coming out next to the swamp at the south shore when I heard an engine in the woods coming up behind me.

	Seconds later, we saw a cool army Jeep emerge from the trees, with Rick Lagina and presumably the rest of the Michigan group who had recently purchased part of the island. The Jeep stopped briefly due to all the people blocking the road, and I quickly took some photos.



  [image: An army jeep with five men riding in it has temporarily stopped on the dirt road close to the swamp on Oak Island as there is a tour group blocking the road. The author was a member of this tour group and quickly took the photo. Marty Lagina is in the passenger seat and is in the middle of saying something to the author (although the author cannot remember what). Rick Lagina is seated sideways behind Marty with his legs hanging out over the side of the jeep. He is smiling at whatever Marty is saying. Tour group members look on from the opposite side of the jeep.]
  Rick and Marty Lagina on Oak Island in 2006. (Scott Clarke)


	As the crowd parted, the Jeep slowly continued on its way along the road toward the southeast end of the island. The tour group made its way past the swamp and up around the Money Pit area and the Borehole 10-X shack. I was in the shack with Hennigar taking some photos when I noticed another guy with a camera who seemed to know his way around. I happened to take a photo of him, among others, and he, in turn, took one of me. I later discovered that this was Doug Crowell, whom many will know as a great Oak Island researcher and a regular cast member of The Curse of Oak Island TV show. He and I have now been friends for many years and correspond now and again regarding different areas of our research.

	The tide was extremely low as we got to Smiths Cove. I’d never seen so much of the cove exposed, so it was a great opportunity to explore it and take lots of photos. This was twelve years before Rick Lagina and Gary Drayton found the now-famous lead cross there.

	The following morning, I made my way to the Masonic Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, which houses an extensive library. I hoped to not only get a glimpse inside but perhaps be allowed to do some research.

	After explaining to the gentleman in charge that I was not yet a Freemason but was planning on becoming one soon and that my father and grandfather were Masons in Toronto, he reluctantly allowed me to spend some time in the library. I also mentioned that I worked in a library for many years, which helped put his mind at ease.

	Along with housing many books, the library also had many artifacts and antique documents displayed in cabinets or being stored. Some of the items were from the 1700s.

	I was keeping an eye out for anything that might pertain to Oak Island. I found much of the material quite fascinating. There was one particular large stone in the library that was rectangular and looked very much like what I expected the 90-foot Stone from the Money Pit to look like. However it was somewhat smaller than originally described, and there was a large obviously Masonic symbol carved into it (and not the strange characters from the discovery story).

	I spent most of my time looking through old books—in particular, those that showed the names of lodge members. I, of course, was looking for any matches to known Oak Island treasure hunters. At that time, I didn’t find any direct hits but did find one relative of a known prominent treasure hunter. One document showed that a Caleb McCully became a member of the short-lived Colchester Union Lodge in Truro in 1824.

	The following morning, I visited the Nova Scotia Archives in Halifax and found a record that showed that Caleb McCully was the brother of Jotham Blanchard (J. B.) McCully, who was the secretary of the Oak Island Association in 1862 and was responsible for one of the earliest newspaper accounts of the Oak Island mystery.

	The Archives also had the original 1862 booklet belonging to the Oak Island Association that has hand-written notes showing the names of all the men involved in the treasure hunt. The names include J. B. McCully, James McInnis (likely a relative of Daniel McInnis), and “Mr. Barkhouse-Mason.” As viewers of The Curse of Oak Island will know, Freemason Charles Barkhouse has been a regular cast member on the show. The reference to a Mason in the 1862 booklet is likely to an operative stonemason, but still the coincidence 150 years apart is interesting.

	Before heading home, I was able to spend a few hours in the Colchester Historeum Archives in my ancestral home of Truro and purchase some of the genealogy books that included branches of my ancestral family in that area.

	In the summer of 2007, we were back in Nova Scotia yet again to attend the Explore Oak Island Days weekend. Once again, I was looking forward to gleaning new information from the various presentations and continuing to expand on my ongoing research. The Friday evening Oak Island tour was a little different this time. Rather than finishing before it got dark, this one started not long before the sun set. Everyone made their way over to the hill between the Money Pit area and the Borehole 10-X shack, where seventeen low torch-like candles were set up in a triangular formation. There, renowned late psychic Eugenia Macer-Story gave her impressions of what she felt had happened on Oak Island.

	Rick and Marty Lagina were both in attendance, along with Craig Tester and author Les MacPhie and his family. Once the sun went down, things started to feel very spooky, especially with all the things I’d read about supernatural sightings on the island over the years. Once the psychic reading was over, we all made our way back along the dirt road, through the centre of Oak Island, in almost complete darkness, with only a few flashlights to illuminate the way.

	The following day, after watching the morning presentation and helping at the display area, I attended yet another tour of Oak Island. This was my fifth tour in three years. I went around trying to get new and interesting photos of island landmarks and tour group scenes. I was transitioning from an awestruck enthusiast to something of a tour guide assistant and was even asked if I was interested in being a tour guide on Oak Island. I kind of laughed off the idea. I’m sure I would have done well with the factual history, but I’ve never really been comfortable speaking in front of a large group.

	The long-time Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Henskee not only attended this tour but also spent quite a bit of time talking with me about his time working on the island. He even took me into his old broken-down shacks: one where he had lived and slept and another that was more of a workshop and storage area. He showed me several items from the shacks that he had left there over twenty years ago.

	On the afternoon of our final day in Nova Scotia that year, I, along with some other long-time Oak Island Treasure forum members, got to attend a barbeque at Garnette and David Blankenship’s home on Oak Island. David Blankenship is one of the key members of the Fellowship of the Dig on The Curse of Oak Island. He is, of course, Dan Blankenship’s son, and he’s lived on Oak Island his entire adult life. Garnette Blankenship is David’s wife and was one of the members of the original Oak Island Treasure forum, whose forum name was Ghost of Oak Island. Dan Blankenship with his wife Jane, Rick and Marty Lagina, Craig Tester, and many other family members and friends of the Blankenships were in attendance.

	In November 2008, after many years of reading and thinking about Freemasonry, I was finally initiated into a lodge in Toronto. It was a special night for me, with my birth father, Alan, and birth cousins Mathew and Philip in attendance.

	Four months later, after already having been passed to the second degree of Fellowcraft, I was raised as a Master Mason. Looking back, I’m so glad that my birth dad was there to share the experience with me. As a long-time Mason himself, I know he was proud that night.

	When I found out in early 2009 that Oak Island author Steven Sora would be a guest speaker at Explore Oak Island Days that summer, I knew that I had to attend. As I’ve mentioned previously, it was Sora’s book, The Lost Treasure of the Knights Templar: Solving the Oak Island Mystery, that indirectly led to my finding my birth father. I thought it would be great to finally meet him in person and hear about his latest research. When I originally told him my story, he said he had helped other people with their Sinclair family tree connections.



  [image: The author is standing next to long-time Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Henskee. They are standing outside, at the edge of Dan’s old storage shack on the island that has partially fallen apart. One of the walls is gone and there are piles of old tools, pieces of wood and metal and other debris all over on the shelves and floor.]
  The author with Oak Island treasure hunter Dan Henskee at his old shack. (Miranda O’Connor)


	I flew into Halifax on June 17, exactly three months to the day after having been raised as a Master Mason. The first thing I did when I got to Halifax was rent a car and drive straight to one of the local Masonic lodges. Leading up to my trip, I had been in correspondence with grand archivist Daniel Campbell. Knowing that I’d just become a Master Mason, he invited me to attend a lodge meeting that he was leading. Most Worshipful Brother Daniel Campbell is a past Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, so it was an honour for me to be his guest. Oak Island enthusiast and my now-brother, Ken Pineo, was also able to join us. I had only attended three lodge meetings in Toronto thus far, but it was interesting to experience the small differences between the lodges.



  [image: The author, looking proud, stands with his arm around his birth-father, at the east end of his Masonic Lodge in front of the lodge Master’s Chair. Both are wearing suits with ties, and both are wearing their Masonic aprons.]
  The author (left) with his birth father, on the evening of being raised as a Master Mason in March 2009. (Scott Clarke)


	After attending the lodge meeting, I made my way over to the 175-year-old Henry House in downtown Halifax to meet up with Oak Island Treasure forum founder Jo Atherton and a number of other Oak Island enthusiasts, including prolific Nova Scotia writer and storyteller Steve Vernon. Henry House is said to be one of Halifax’s oldest pubs and was built by Scottish masons, so it seemed the perfect place to meet.

	The next morning, I met Daniel Campbell at the Nova Scotia Archives. He gave the Archives permission for me to view whatever documents I wanted from the Grand Lodge’s special collection. I was most interested in the earliest history of Freemasonry in Nova Scotia and anything that might connect it to Oak Island, as well as any records that might relate to members of my own family.

	I spent about four hours going through just a few boxes, but I did find some very interesting documents that I was able to make copies of, including the original attendance records of Chester Lodge No. 9, beginning in 1784. Through previous research, I knew that Chester Lodge No. 9 was the oldest and closest Masonic lodge to Oak Island during its existence. The lodge, unfortunately, closed down and went dark in the 1820s. It was later reborn in 1870 with a new warrant under the name Clarke Lodge No. 61. As far as I’m aware, I have no family relation to Robert D. Clarke, one of the founders and the first Worshipful Master, after whom, I assume, the lodge was named.

	I could have spent weeks going through the Grand Lodge’s special collection to help catalogue the records, as many records were unorganized at the time. It would truly have been a labour of love, since I’ve worked in the library and archives field for many years. Perhaps someday I might still be able to assist with this ongoing project.

	At that time, I was corresponding with a gentleman from British Columbia who is a direct descendant of a man named James Anderson, who was a member of Chester Lodge No. 9 in Nova Scotia beginning in 1784. This man told me that his relative, William (Bill) Anderson in Wolfville, Nova Scotia, was also a direct descendant of James Anderson and that he was in possession of Anderson’s old sea chest. He said that the sea chest contained an original 1791 Masonic document belonging to James Anderson and that Bill Anderson had offered to meet with me.

	I had also recently discovered that a James Anderson from Chester had owned one of the lots on Oak Island for a few years, prior to the discovery of the Money Pit, so I assumed this was the same person. I didn’t want to pass up the opportunity to speak with his descendant and view the sea trunk and its contents in person.

	The trunk itself was beautiful and had its original key. We briefly went through some of the items in the trunk, including the then 218-year-old Masonic letter written by the Chester lodge secretary that even had its original red wax seal. Several items in the chest had been added over the years. Unfortunately, I didn’t find any other Masonic documents or anything relating to Oak Island in the chest. While chatting with Bill Anderson, I soon discovered that he had no idea that his ancestor might be connected to Oak Island. This same chest was featured early in season 5, in an episode titled “Dead Man’s Chest,” eight years after I had first examined it.

	After my visit with Anderson in Wolfville, I made my way toward Oak Island to attend my first tour in two years. Yes, this was my sixth tour of the island, but I always managed to see something different, or was able to get photos from a different angle.

	The next morning, I finally got to meet Steven Sora and his wife Terry in person and to chat about having found my birth father and about Oak Island in general.

	Later that day, I had the honour of being given a tour of the Clarke Lodge No. 61 building in Chester, with my new brother Ken Pineo. Pineo had also never been inside this particular lodge and was quite interested in seeing it. Upon entering the lodge room, we were both struck by the incredibly ornate carpet. Most lodge rooms that I’d seen photos of have a checkerboard floor (at least partially), so it was unusual to see the carpet interwoven with so much Masonic symbolism.



  [image: Left: Captain James Anderson’s sea chest is fully open and inside a smaller chest sits on a pile of old documents. On top of the smaller chest is Captain Anderson’s Masonic document from Chester Lodge No. 9. Right: The author stands next to Bill Anderson, a direct descendant of Captain James Anderson. In front of them resting on a chair is Captain Anderson’s sea chest with the lid partially open.]
  The author with Bill Anderson and Captain James Anderson’s sea-chest. (Scott Clarke)


	One of the artifacts on the wall that interested me was the original Masonic apron of Alexander Pattillo. I had recently discovered that Pattillo was a very prominent member of Chester Lodge No. 9, having served as lodge master numerous times. He was also the owner of lots 1 and 27 on Oak Island prior to the discovery of the Money Pit in 1795.

	It was through these multiple visits to Nova Scotia and Oak Island in the 2000s that I truly started developing my overall theories. Attending multiple island tours, hearing up-to-date information from Oak Island authors and researchers, reading through centuries-old documents from the Nova Scotia Archives, and searching through rare Masonic records was invaluable to me. I gained a considerable amount of knowledge that I never would have attained through books and online searches alone.

	What started out as a series of synchronistic experiences leading me to the idea that Oak Island and Freemasonry were likely connected quickly evolved into something much bigger.
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  Chapter 3 The Oak Island Mystery So Far (Including Some Little-known Information)



	Oak Island is a relatively small, wooded island in Nova Scotia, Canada, about 44 miles (70 km) southwest of Halifax. It is one of hundreds of islands in Mahone Bay.

  
  
The Mystery Begins—Original Discoverers of the Money Pit

  
	Most books about the Oak Island mystery seem to start out the same way. We’re told that it was the summer of 1795 and three teenaged boys rowed out to the uninhabited island. There are already two things that are incorrect within that statement. They were not boys, and the island was not uninhabited.

	There has been a significant amount of information about the Oak Island mystery, passed on over the years, that has either deviated from the original source material or has been proven to be false based on new evidence.

	One of the first things I started to do back in 2005 was to track down as many of the original sources of information pertaining to the discovery of the so-called Money Pit on Oak Island as I could find.

	The earliest known newspaper account of the Oak Island treasure hunt comes from the Liverpool Transcript on August 15, 1857. This article gives a brief account of the workings on the island during the summer of 1857. It isn’t until 1861 and 1862 that we start to learn how the Money Pit was discovered and of the earliest digging attempts.

	In fact, it was in June 1862 that the first details of the discovery story appeared in more than one newspaper. The author of the article was Jotham Blanchard (J. B.) McCully. McCully was then the secretary of the Oak Island Association group of treasure hunters. He had previously belonged to the Truro Company of treasure hunters who searched Oak Island from 1849 into the 1850s. McCully’s account begins by saying that when the first settlers came to Chester, Nova Scotia, in 1759, they brought with them a story of an old sailor who, while on his death bed, stated that he had belonged to Captain Kidd’s crew and had helped to bury “about two million pounds value of treasure […] on an island, somewhere in that neighborhood.”

	One thing that is mentioned in almost every early article, beginning in 1857, is that it is strongly believed to be Captain Kidd’s missing treasure buried on Oak Island. I believe I’m the only researcher who has been able to make a relatively close historical connection between Captain Kidd and Oak Island. I’ll discuss this later in the book.

	McCully continued to relate that years later a “Mr. McGinnis went to Oak Island to make a farm, when he discovered the spot in question from its being sunken, and from the position of three oak trees, which stood in a triangular form, round the pit.” He goes on to say that the “bark had letters cut into it with a knife on each tree facing the pit, and one of the trees being so directly over the pit, that two large branches formed a crotch, were exactly perpendicular to the center, and had a hole bored through, and an oak tree-nail driven in, on which hung a tackle block.” McCully says the overall appearance of the scene put Donald (Daniel) McGinnis in mind of the old sailor’s tale of Captain Kidd’s treasure.

	It then says that McGinnis told two men, John Smith and Anthony Vaughan, of the circumstance, and they commenced digging.

	I believe this is where some of the confusion has come in over the years. We’re told that Anthony Vaughan was still alive when the Truro Company was forming in the late 1840s and early 1850s and that he was the one who largely shared the details of the discovery story with J. B. McCully and others. This however was Anthony Vaughan Jr., who was only thirteen years old when the Money Pit was discovered in 1795. The earliest account by McCully says that McGinnis told “two men” about the pit. Numerous genealogical sites show that Daniel McInnis/McGinnis was born in 1758 in Scotland, so he would have been thirty-seven years old when he allegedly discovered the Money Pit in 1795.

	As McGinnis himself was a thirty-seven-year-old man, it only makes sense that he would tell Anthony Vaughan Sr. about the pit. Anthony Vaughan Sr. was forty-five years old in 1795 and had actually owned six lots on Oak Island but sold them all prior to 1790. Vaughan’s residence was on the mainland, across from the island.

	According to the earliest Oak Island land ownership records, largely brought to light by my friend and fellow researcher Paul Wroclawski, Daniel McGinnis owned four lots on Oak Island prior to 1795. He had purchased lot 28 in March 1788, then lot 21 in May 1790, lot 27 in May 1791, and finally lot 1 in September 1794. McGinnis built his home on lot 21, as the foundation of this home can still be seen to this day, next to the main dirt road and only about 50 feet (15.25 m) from the modern-day war room for The Curse of Oak Island.

	John Smith was the only one who was technically a teenager, although only two months away from turning twenty the month he purchased lot 18, the site of the Money Pit. He had also already been a husband for almost five years, as he had married Sarah Floyd on September 26, 1790, at the age of fifteen.

	According to the abstract of deed for the sale of lot 18 from Casper Wollenhaupt and his wife to John Smith, the date of the sale was June 6, 1795. There almost certainly would have been a period of time between John Smith first becoming interested in lot 18 and the actual date when he assumed ownership of the lot. I would think that the latest that John Smith became interested in lot 18 would have been May 1795.

	Like McGinnis, Smith already had family connections on Oak Island well before 1795. In fact, Smith’s father, stepfather, and two uncles all owned lots on Oak Island prior to 1795. John’s father, Duncan Smith, owned lot 24 for about a year in 1784.

	John’s uncle Edward Smith was one of the earliest lot owners on Oak Island, having drawn lots 2 and 19 in 1766. Lot 19 is, of course, right next to lot 18 and the Money Pit, but Smith quickly sold it to Timothy Lynch. He kept lot 2 for fourteen years before selling it in 1780.

	After Duncan Smith passed away, John Smith’s mother married Neil McMullen in 1788. John Smith would have been twelve years old at the time. In October 1789, Neil McMullen purchased lot 11 on Oak Island. According to the 1791 Nova Scotia poll tax records, McMullen is shown as a farmer living on Oak Island, presumably with his family, including the young John Smith. In 1793 McMullen additionally purchased lots 9 and 10.

	The other uncle of John Smith, Hector McLean, was the brother-in-law of Duncan Smith, and he purchased lot 23 on Oak Island in 1784. He held this lot for six years before selling it to Daniel McGinnis in 1790.

	McCully’s 1862 account states that the three men dug down ten feet (3 m) when they found a layer of oak timber, followed by another layer of oak timber at twenty feet (6 m), and another layer of oak timber at thirty feet (9 m). At this point, McCully says the work became too hard for the three men, and they tried to get the “inhabitants” to join them. By inhabitants I would think he meant other people then living on Oak Island, but I suppose he could also have meant locals living in the area. However, the locals refused to help due to a “superstitious dread.” Could the local population have already heard of the “curse” of Oak Island in 1795? In his book Oak Island Gold, author William Crooker relates that many years before the discovery of the Money Pit, people of nearby Chester noticed strange lights glowing on Oak Island at night. It’s said that two men went out to the island to investigate and were never heard from or seen again. The act of digging for treasure has long been associated with supernatural treasure guardians and even the devil himself.


  
Onslow Company (1803–1804)

    
	In the earliest detailed account, J. B. McCully goes on to say that about seven years after the initial discovery, Simeon Lynds of Onslow, Nova Scotia, went down to Chester and, happening to stop in with Mr. Vaughan, was informed of what had taken place on Oak Island. It’s said that Lynds then agreed to create a company, which he did, of about twenty-five or thirty men, and they commenced digging where the original three men had left off. They are said to have sunk the pit down 93 feet (28.3 m), finding a mark (or layer) every 10 feet (3 m). These so-called marks included some charcoal and some putty, and one at 80 feet (24.4 m) was a stone cut square, 2 feet (0.6 m) long and about a foot (0.3 m) thick, with several characters on it.

	So this very first detailed account doesn’t say there were layers of wood logs every 10 feet (3 m) all the way down to 90 feet (27.4 m), but rather down to 30 feet (9.1 m). And then there were layers of charcoal or putty every subsequent 10 feet (3 m). And the infamous 90-foot Stone is originally described as being found at a depth of 80 feet (24.4 m).

	McCully continues to say that the Onslow Company diggers were confined to a diameter of 16 feet (4.9 m), by the softness of the ground within that limit. He says that pick marks could be distinctly seen all around the sides of the pit. This, of course, indicates that they were re-digging a previously dug pit. Most later accounts state that the original pit was 13 feet (4 m) in diameter. After the diggers got down to 93 feet (28.3 m), we’re told it was getting dark so one of the men stuck a long crowbar into the bottom, and it apparently struck wood 5 feet (1.5 m) below. They must have done this a few times, as McCully concludes that there appeared to be a level wooden platform at the 98-foot (29.9 m) level.

	At that point, the men are said to have quit the work until morning, and when they returned, “they found the pit filled with water, as high as the high-tide level.” They initially tried bailing and then pumping the water out of the pit, but the water level didn’t change. They then decided to sink a second pit beside the Money Pit so they could tunnel under the anticipated treasure, but the account simply says that this was unsuccessful.

	We’re then told that matters stood this way until 1849, when some people in Truro heard Simeon Lynds tell his story, and they created a new company.

	Another very early account, kept in the Nova Scotia Archives, came from James McNutt in 1863. McNutt’s account is very similar to McCully’s, except that it starts out by saying that the discoverers had dug in a clover patch. It’s not known if this clover was growing only over the Money Pit area or over a larger area.

	Another thing that McNutt mentions, which we don’t normally hear about, is that as the Onslow Company was digging down in the original Money Pit, at a depth of 50 feet (15.2 m), they discovered a tier of smooth stones from the beach, with figures and letters cut into them (just like the so-called 90-foot Stone is described as having).

	Certain skeptics have argued that, since there has never been any evidence contemporary with the timeframe when the Onslow Company was working on Oak Island, the whole story was simply made up. These skeptics have argued that the story was likely invented around 1849 in order to sell shares in the new company.

	I have always thought this was highly unlikely due to my discoveries of the involvement of successive families in the treasure hunts. I’m talking about generations of families during the nineteenth century who kept the Oak Island mystery alive by passing information down from fathers to sons and between extended family members, who continued to form subsequent treasure-hunting companies on Oak Island for over a hundred years.

	Early newspaper accounts and later books all mention the same four men as members of the Onslow Company: Colonel Robert Archibald, Captain David Archibald, Sheriff Thomas Harris, and Simeon Lynds. In a later company prospectus, we learn of a fifth member of this company, Mr. William Blair Jr.

	Through my genealogical research, I discovered that all five of these men were fairly closely related to each other. Colonel Robert Archibald, who was the eldest of the group, is reported to have been the leader of Onslow Company. Captain David Archibald was his son. William Blair Jr. was Robert Archibald’s brother-in-law, as Archibald had married Blair’s sister Hannah. Another Blair sister, Rebecca, was married to Thomas Lynds, and they were the parents of Simeon Lynds, who is credited with creating the Onslow Company. Lastly, Thomas Harris was married to Jennet Savage, the daughter of Robert Archibald’s sister Margaret.

	One of the smaller mysteries within the larger Oak Island mystery is how exactly the Onslow Company members came to learn about the Money Pit on Oak Island. Most books give a vague suggestion that the Lynds family somehow knew the Vaughan family or that Simeon Lynds was visiting Chester, where he met Anthony Vaughan and learned about the Money Pit.

	I’ve found genealogical evidence that offers a perfect explanation and perfect timing. Anthony Vaughan Jr. is recorded as having been married in May 1803 to a young lady named Elizabeth Nelson. Nelson was from Truro, and her mother, Margaret Archibald, was the first cousin to the soon-to-be Onslow Company leader, Colonel Robert Archibald. Anthony Vaughan Jr.’s new wife was also a second cousin to Archibald’s son David, who in turn, was a first cousin to Simeon Lynds. So, they all would likely have heard the story of Oak Island’s Money Pit from Vaughan Jr., or his new wife, Elizabeth, in May 1803. The Onslow Company is said to have dug on Oak Island during the summers of 1803 and 1804.



  
Proof of Digging Prior to 1822

  
	In July 2006, Paul Wroclawski made a very interesting discovery that most people have likely not heard of. Wroclawski discovered proof from as early as 1822 that at least some Nova Scotians were well aware of a very deep pit having been dug in the Chester area of Nova Scotia.

	The original account comes from a series of sixteen letters that were published in the Acadian Recorder in Halifax between late 1821 and 1823. The letters were all said to be written by a man named Mephibosheth Stepsure, and they became known as the Mephibosheth Stepsure letters. They were actually written by Thomas McCulloch, a Presbyterian minister and educator, who had moved from Scotland to Pictou, Nova Scotia, in 1803.

	Anyone who has read about Benjamin Franklin, or perhaps seen the movie National Treasure, will be reminded that Benjamin Franklin did the exact same thing as Thomas McCulloch, exactly a hundred years earlier in 1722. Franklin also wrote a series of letters, using a character named Silence Dogood. These letters were published in the New England Courant.

	The Mephibosheth Stepsure letters were written largely as a satire on contemporary Nova Scotian life and the get-rich-quick mentality that many had. In Letter 6, almost certainly published in 1822, there is a mention of a farmer who purchases another farm and pays for it using doubloons that he says he found when ploughing his field. Stepsure suggests that others in the area should try this (in their own fields) and “not do like the Chester folks; who once dug for money, and at last got so deep that they arrived in the other world; and falling in with the devil, were glad to get away with the loss of their tools.”

	The sixteen letters were eventually published together as a book in 1862 and again in 1960 and 1990. In the more modern book, the endnotes explain that the mention of the “Chester folk; who once dug for money” is referring to “the man-made pit on Oak Island, four miles southwest of Chester as the crow flies.” The notes also mention that the 1804 Onslow Company included shareholders from Pictou County, where the letter’s author, Thomas McCulloch, was from.

	The 1822 account is by no means flattering to the men who dug the deep pit in Chester, but it does offer proof that the pit existed at that time.

	After the Onslow Company, the next group to hunt for treasure on Oak Island didn’t form until about forty years later. This new company was called the Truro Company, and it was largely made up of family members of the Onslow Company men, who had grown up hearing secretive and fascinating tales of the Money Pit from their relatives.



  
Truro Company (1845–1850)

  
	The Truro Company began forming in 1845 but didn’t begin working on Oak Island until 1849. According to the early sources, the Truro Company included Onslow Company member Sheriff Thomas Harris. It also included Dr. David Barnes Lynds, who was a younger brother of Onslow Company founder Simeon Lynds, and Adams Archibald Tupper. Archibald Tupper was a cousin to Colonel Robert Archibald and Captain David Archibald, and he was named after his uncle, Sir Adams George Archibald, one of the Fathers of Confederation, Canada’s equivalent of the Founding Fathers of the United States.

	Other known members of the Truro Company included Jotham Blanchard (J. B.) McCully and James McNutt. Both of these men stayed involved in the treasure hunt for many years, and both were instrumental in helping put together the earliest accounts. Anthony Vaughan Jr. was still living when the Truro Company was getting started, and he helped them determine the location of the original Money Pit.

	Another member of the Truro Company was a man named John Pitbladdo. He was a mining engineer from Truro and was acting as foreman on one of the drill crews in 1849. Part of his job was to examine the drill core samples that were brought up to the surface. He wasn’t with the Truro Company for very long, but he was involved in a very interesting incident.

	John Gammell was a shareholder in the Truro Company and was also the uncle of Adams A. Tupper. One day he was on the island, and he reported seeing John Pitbladdo take something off the drill bit, examine it closely, and then put it in his pocket. A brief time later, Gammell approached Pitbladdo and asked him what he’d found. Pitbladdo told him that he would present the item to all the directors at the next Truro Company board meeting. Pitbladdo, however, did not show up at the meeting and never returned to Oak Island.

	Charles Dickson Archibald, yet another relative of Colonel Robert Archibald and various members of the Truro Company, was the manager of the Acadian Iron Works mine. Apparently, Pitbladdo approached Charles D. Archibald soon after making his discovery on the drill bit, because not long after, Pitbladdo and Archibald were granted permission by the Nova Scotia government to dig for treasure on Oak Island. However, they were limited to searching and digging only on ungranted and unoccupied land. This ruled out the Money Pit area on lot 18 that was owned by John Smith’s family. As an indication of how serious Pitbladdo and Archibald were, they even tried to purchase John Smith’s lot. They were, however, unsuccessful. Clearly, whatever Pitbladdo took off that drill bit must have been quite valuable.

	J. B. McCully was also a member of the Truro Company, and he speaks of their activities with more certainty, as he was there doing the work. McCully says that originally the Truro Company got down to 86 feet (26.2 m) when the water drove them out. It’s not clear if he means that they tried to clear the original Money Pit or that they dug a new pit. He then says that they bored five holes in the vicinity of the Money Pit. In the very first hole, they lost the only valve sludger they had. He describes it as a long pod with a valve at the bottom to prevent contents from dropping out. The only other sludger they had left had a ball with a pin, instead of the valve, so it would not admit something like a coin to pass into it.

	We’re told that the second borehole the Truro Company bored struck the alleged platform the old diggers had informed them about. McCully says it was precisely at the 98-foot (29.9 m) depth as they had been told. The platform proved to be spruce, 6 inches (15.2 cm) thick. After the auger went through the platform, it is said to have dropped 1 foot (30.5 cm) and struck wood again. This time it was determined to be oak, 4 inches (10.2 cm) thick. It was followed by 20 inches (50.8 cm) of what he describes as “metal in small pieces.” We’re told the company knew this from the sound and from the fact that the auger went through this layer very easily. The auger then went through 8 inches (20.3 cm) of oak, another 20 inches (50.8 cm) of metal in pieces, then 4 inches (10.2 cm) of oak, 6 inches (15.2 cm) of spruce and then through 7 feet (2.1 m) of worked clay. After that, the auger hit hard clay that had never been disturbed (Crooker 1993).

	We’re also told that another of the five holes struck the alleged platform at the same 98-foot (29.9 m) depth, and that after going through, the auger dropped a little more than it did in the first hole and then struck a “cask,” which was apparently evident from their bringing up a piece of an oak stave, or part of the side of a barrel, and some pieces of birch hoops. Hoops are used to hold the cask or barrel together.

	McCully then states that they “also brought up three small links which had apparently been forced from an epaulette. They were gold.” An epaulette is an ornamental shoulder piece such as those found on certain military uniforms or coats.

	The specific mention of three links immediately puts me in mind of the secretive society known as the Odd Fellows. Odd Fellows are very similar to Freemasons in that they are also an international fraternity with a significant emphasis on charity. Odd Fellows were known to have existed in England right around the time when the Grand Lodge of Freemasons formed. Their rituals, however, are quite different, and where Freemasons use the interlocking square and compass as their main symbol, the Odd Fellows use three links. These three links are said to represent friendship, love, and truth.

	McCully says the Truro Company continued to work on Oak Island for four years. During this time, they found a drain or a tunnel, leading from the ocean to the Money Pit. McCully says they determined that the water went into the Money Pit at the top of the 98-foot (29.9 m) platform, which was just below where the Onslow Company had stopped digging at 93 feet (28.3 m) that one night, prior to the first flooding of the Money Pit. He says they also found flag stones in the form of drains, covered with a type of grass that was unfamiliar to the area and coconut fibre. Once they discovered the drains at the shore, they tried to plug them. This did have an effect of slowing the water-flow into the Money Pit, but not completely, so they suspected there to be at least one more drain or water tunnel somewhere on the island.

	He says that they also dug two more pits not far from the original two and that these ones did not have any water come in. They dug these down to 109 feet (33.2 m) and 112 feet (34.1 m). There was no trouble with water until they started tunnelling sideways toward the original Money Pit. Then eventually both of these new pits filled with water as well.



  
The Order of the Sons of Temperance

  
	Another great researcher from the original Oak Island Treasure forum was a chap from England named Peter Kirkham. Kirkham and I were equally interested in discovering original historical connections between Oak Island and the early treasure hunters, and we corresponded often.

	One of the more interesting discoveries that Kirkham made in 2006 was a write-up on the Truro Division of the Sons of Temperance that appeared in a publication titled Memorial of the 121st and 122nd Anniversary of the Settlement of Truro by the British: Being the First Celebration of the Town’s Natal Day, September 13th, 1882. Like the Odd Fellows, the Sons of Temperance have regalia and rituals very similar to Freemasons. However, their prime reason for existence was to promote temperance or complete abstinence from consumption of alcoholic beverages.

	Kirkham discovered that one of the thirteen charter members of the Truro Division, No. 41 of the Sons of Temperance was Truro Company member J. B. McCully. The division was chartered in 1848, during the Truro Company’s active years. But what is especially interesting is the Truro Division corporate seal shown in the publication. It shows a large tree, presumably an oak tree, with its branches over a well. It is very reminiscent of one of the earliest descriptions of the Money Pit with the oak tree branch over it.

	After Kirkham’s original discovery, I researched each of the thirteen charter members. Three of them were Archibalds, all related to the Archibalds of the Onslow Company. But there were three additional names that stood out, aside from J. B. McCully, who became the secretary of the Oak Island Association in 1861, after they took over from the Truro Company. Samuel Rettie was one of the charter members of the Sons of Temperance in 1848, and he happened to become the president of the Oak Island Association in 1861. Another charter member, Richard Craig, became one of the five executive committee members of the Oak Island Association, also in 1861. The third interesting charter member of the Truro Sons of Temperance was Dr. John Waddell. Through my genealogical research, I was able to determine that Dr. John Waddell was the son-in-law of Dr. David Barnes Lynds, a member of the Truro Company and a brother of Simeon Lynds, the founder of the Onslow company.

	I don’t believe that the Sons of Temperance had any significant connection to Oak Island, other than four of their members being treasure hunters and their likelihood of utilizing the imagery of the well on their logo to symbolize the Money Pit next to the oak tree.



  
Oak Island Association (1861–1865)

  
	By the early 1860s, the third company had formed, which was called the Oak Island Association. This company again included Adams Archibald Tupper and J. B. McCully, but also Isaac Blair, grandson of Onslow Company member William Blair Jr., and Robert Creelman, great-grandson of Onslow Company leader Colonel Robert Archibald.



  [image: A small circular seal showing the image of a circular well in the ground, surrounded by stones. There is a small wooden structure above the well with two small walls and a room and under the roof is a handle and bar with a rope around it. The rope goes into the well. To the left of the well is a tree with large branches that stretch over the top of the well. Around the outer edge of the seal is says “Truro Division S of T No. 41 N.S. Chartered October 31, 1848”.]
  The seal of the Truro Division, No. 41 of the Sons of Temperance.


	McCully says that the first thing they did in 1861 was dig a new shaft about 25 feet (7.6 m) from the old Money Pit. This would be the fifth shaft dug in that immediate area, including the original Money Pit. They dug this new shaft down to 120 feet (36.6 m), and their plan was to intercept the water flow so that it would not have a chance to get to the Money Pit. This, however, did not work.

	They then dug the sixth shaft 18 feet (5.5 m) west of the Money Pit. At 118 feet (36 m), they tunnelled horizontally to try and enter the Money Pit between the upper and lower platforms and avoid the drains. McCully says they misjudged the starting point, so the tunnel entered the Money Pit a little below the lower platform, where they found the soft clay that had been reported previously from boring.

	The company then bailed water from the west shaft, with the aid of six horses, for three days, when they determined that they didn’t have enough horsepower. They soon returned with thirty-three horses and over sixty men. They rigged gins and bailing apparatuses on the new shaft, the Money Pit, and the west shaft, and we’re told they ran these continuously, day and night, for three days. McCully says the tunnel leading from the west shaft to the Money Pit, which was 17 feet (5.2 m) long, 4 feet (1.2 m) high, and 3 feet (0.9 m) wide, became chocked with clay, and they had to send two men down to clear it out. As the men were about halfway through clearing out the clay, they heard a tremendous crash in the Money Pit and barely escaped being caught by a rush of mud, which followed them into the west pit and filled it up by 7 feet (2.1 m) in less than three minutes (O’Connor 2004).

	McCully says that, during the upheaval, a piece of oak timber of considerable girth and 3.5 feet (1.1 m) in length was ejected with the mud. They believed this piece of oak timber to have come from the perceived original treasure area that they had previously bored into. It is recorded that they cut up the oak timber and had walking canes made from it. One of these canes had been sent to the Liverpool Transcript’s office.

	If this truly was a piece of the original workings on the island and could be located, then it could also be dated. To me, this was definitely worth looking into.

	The Liverpool Transcript was published weekly from 1854 to 1867 and was run by a man named S. J. M. Allen. Mr. Allen would surely have been the one to receive the walking cane from McCully. I quickly discovered that S. J. M. Allen’s first name was Samuel, and that he had been a Freemason in Zetland Lodge No. 9 in Liverpool, Nova Scotia.

	To me, this is the kind of item that Mr. Allen would almost certainly have taken to his Masonic lodge to show his brother Masons. This would especially be true if Mr. Allen was aware of the Masonic symbolism of a deep vault with nine arches. He certainly would have been familiar with the Oak Island Money Pit description. It was my hope that perhaps Mr. Allen would have kept the walking cane at the lodge and that it might still be among the lodge’s possessions.

	Linda Rafuse, the director of Queen’s County Museum in Liverpool, is an old friend and shares my interest in not just history but Masonic history, so I thought she would be the perfect person to do a little investigating into the whereabouts of the Oak Island walking stick. Thankfully, she was more than happy to help me out.

	Rather incredibly, it turned out that the Queen’s County Museum had been given much of the old Zetland Lodge’s archival material to be kept as a museum collection. Rafuse, unfortunately, did not find anything in the collection that had any obvious associations with Oak Island.

	Rafuse also searched through a number of the museum’s collection databases and came across many instances of walking canes, but nothing with an obvious connection to Mr. Allen or Oak Island. One has to wonder if McCully and company would have carved anything into the walking canes to indicate they came from Oak Island.

	Rafuse wrote to me that Mr. Allen moved to Halifax with his family in 1867, and he and his eldest son were lost at sea on a trip to Ireland not long after. Mr. Allen’s wife and remaining children then moved to Yarmouth, Nova Scotia, where they were originally from. So, if the walking stick was not left in the possession of Zetland Lodge No. 9 in Liverpool, it could have been lost at sea with Mr. Allen or gone with his wife to Yarmouth.

	Getting back to the Oak Island Association, we’re told that McCully and company bailed out the water and mud and were in the process of again clearing the tunnel between the west shaft and the Money Pit when another crash was heard from the Money Pit. They believed this to be the upper platform falling, and McCully noted that the bottom of the Money Pit fell to about 102 feet (31.1 m), based on measurements from the level of the ground in the shaft to the top. Immediately after this, the cribbing of the Money Pit also fell down “plank after plank,” starting near the bottom, until there was only about 30 feet (9.1 m) of cribbing left near the top of the Money Pit. A couple of days later, the top cribbing also broke free and fell into the depths, leaving the old Money Pit a “complete mass of ruins” (O’Connor 2004).

	Toward fall of 1861, the Oak Island Association obtained a cast iron pump and a steam engine from Halifax. One of the boiler pumps, however, burst and tragically scalded one man to death and injured others.

	As William Crooker relates in his book Oak Island Gold, E. H. Owen of Lunenburg wrote a brief account of this death in 1868, but no name of the deceased is given.

	It would appear that the Oak Island Association did not want word of this death to get out. They sent a letter to the Liverpool Transcript in late December 1861, with an extract published on January 9, 1862, in which they say that they had a number of hard trials involving the boilers, including one collapsing and “slightly scalding” three men. There is no mention of a death.

	Based on E. H. Owen’s account, this man has long been considered the first to die while actively searching for treasure on Oak Island. On the Oak Island memorial stone on the island, he is listed as Unknown.

	In the spring of 1862, the Oak Island Association dug another shaft (No. 7). It was described as being close to the western side of the Money Pit and was dug to 107 feet (32.6 m). Tools were found at two different depths. At 90 feet (27.4 m), they found tools allegedly belonging to the Truro Company, and at 100 feet (30.5 m), they found seemingly older tools allegedly belonging to the 1803–04 Onslow Company. This is interesting as the 1821 Mephibosheth Stepsure letter specifically says that the diggers in Chester lost their tools.

	Still in 1862, they dug another shaft (No. 8) in the area closer to Smiths Cove in hopes of intercepting the alleged flood tunnel. They dug down to about 50 feet (15.2 m), but no flood tunnel was found. They also dug tunnels out in various directions but still didn’t find a flood tunnel.

	They then focused on the box drains at Smiths Cove and uncovered up to 40 feet (12.2 m). The workers packed the box drains full of clay in hopes of stopping water from entering. The water flow was indeed slowed down but never completely stopped.

	In 1863 they dug shaft No. 9 in another attempt to intercept the alleged flood tunnel. This shaft was dug about 100 feet (30.4 m) southeast of the Money Pit and about 20 feet (6.1 m) south of where they believed the flood tunnel would line up. They dug this shaft down to 120 feet (36.6 m) and then tunnelled horizontally toward the Money Pit, where they are said to have reached it at the 108-foot (32.9-m) level. They cribbed the Money Pit to 108 feet (32.9 m) and then dug tunnels out at that level, but nothing is reported to have been found at that time. According to author Reginald V. Harris, in his book The Oak Island Mystery, the Oak Island Association was considerably in debt by 1863. They attempted to raise £500 (about C$80,700 in today’s money) by selling shares at £5 each. However, they failed to sell nearly enough and ceased operations entirely by 1865.



  
Oak Island Eldorado Company / Halifax Company (1866–1867)


	In March 1866, the Oak Island Association assigned all rights on the island to a new treasure-hunting group called the Oak Island Eldorado Company, which later changed its name to the Halifax Company. This company consisted of H. G. Hill as president and A. O. Creighton as treasurer. James McNutt was back as a member of his third treasure-hunting group.

	This company made two significant accomplishments. They were the first company to build a large coffer dam at Smiths Cove. It was 375 feet (114.3 m) long and 12 feet (3.7 m) high and was made of wood and packed clay to keep it watertight. Unfortunately, Mother Nature did not cooperate, and the dam was destroyed by waves and storms.

	The second accomplishment of the Halifax Company was in sinking shaft No. 10 on the island. This shaft was sunk 200 feet (61 m) southeast of the Money Pit and 175 feet (53.3 m) south of the estimated beginning of the flood tunnel. It was dug to 110 feet (33.5 m), and then tunnels were dug out from there. Incredibly, the entrance of the flood tunnel was discovered. It was described as 4 feet (1.2 m) high, 2.5 feet (0.8 m) wide and filled with round stones. It was also said to be on an upward angle of 22.5 degrees toward the ocean.

	After the summer of 1867, the Halifax Company called it quits, and there was no organized treasure hunting on the island for about twenty-six years. During this time, in 1878, Sophia Sellers, the daughter of Oak Island lot owner Anthony Graves, was plowing a field on lot 19, in an area between the Money Pit and Smiths Cove. Suddenly the ground below her heavy oxen collapsed and, according to Reginald V. Harris in his book The Oak Island Mystery, they fell into a well-like hole, 10 to 12 feet (3 to 3.7 m) in depth, and 6 to 8 feet (1.8 to 2.4 m) in diameter. According to Harris, the oxen were rescued but with difficulty. This hole became known as the Cave-in Pit.



  
Oak Island Treasure Company (1893–1900)

  
	The last treasure-hunting company to dig on Oak Island during the nineteenth century was the Oak Island Treasure Company. The president of this new company was A. M. Bridgman, the treasurer was Henry Charles (H. C.) Tupper, and other members included Adams Archibald Tupper, Robert Creelman, Creelman’s son William, and William Chappell. The Oak Island Treasure Company was the fifth organized company to search for the suspected treasure.

	Another young man who joined the Oak Island Treasure Company around 1893 was Frederick Leander Blair. He was a nephew of Isaac Blair and great-grandson of Onslow Company member William Blair Jr. Frederick L. Blair would go on to spend the next sixty years of his life being involved in excavations on Oak Island.

	Frederick L. Blair was also the first documented Freemason to be involved in the treasure hunt. There could have been other Freemasons involved previously, but only Blair can be confirmed through Masonic records. Frederick L. Blair was a member of Acacia Lodge No. 8 in Amherst, Nova Scotia, and later a founding member and eventual master of Alexandra Lodge No. 87, also in Amherst.

	William Creelman was the fifth generation of that same Archibald–Creelman family to become an Oak Island treasure hunter. When brothers-in-law Colonel Robert Archibald and William Blair Jr. first set foot on Oak Island back in 1803, they surely never could have imagined that the next four or five generations of their family would still be searching for the elusive treasure on a quest that would incredibly span 148 years.

	This 148-year involvement in the Oak Island quest within the same extended family speaks volumes to me. Clearly, information was passed down from generation to generation by men who genuinely believed that something of great intrinsic or historical value had been buried on Oak Island. If they knew that their colleagues had made up information or engaged in fraud to sell shares, one of them would have warned the family not to get involved. This extended family clearly did the opposite. They kept the faith and persevered.

	In 1894 the company dug shafts No. 11 and No. 12 but with no significant results.

	According to Reginald V. Harris, toward the end of 1895, Nova Scotian shareholders in the company became unhappy with the lack of success and direction from the decision makers and demanded more involvement from local board members. T. Perley Putnam of Onslow, Nova Scotia, took over as the manager of the Oak Island Treasure Company, and Captain John Welling became the director of operations. Frederick L. Blair and William Chappell continued to remain on the board.

	In 1896 they attempted to clear out the believed original Money Pit area but could not stop the water from flowing in. They also attempted to deepen the 75-foot (22.9 m) shaft, originally sunk in 1850, but again they were stopped by water.



  [image: A partial family tree of the author’s family spanning five generations and highlighting the family members who were members of various Oak Island treasure hunting companies over a 148-year period.]
  Five generations of Oak Island treasure hunters spanning 148 years within the same family.


	The second death to occur during the active treasure hunt on Oak Island happened on March 26, 1897, when Maynard Kaiser tragically fell down a shaft after the hoisting rope that was lifting him slipped off the pulley. This might have been at the newly dug shaft No. 13, which was dug 25 feet (7.6 m) north of the Cave-in Pit. At the depth of 82 feet (25 m), they dug a tunnel horizontally, heading south, but didn’t find the hoped-for flood tunnel. 

	Spring 1897 seemed very promising. The company dug what they thought was the Money Pit to 110 feet (33.5 m), where they encountered a side tunnel. When they followed this tunnel, it led them into the original Money Pit. After clearing out all the debris, the Money Pit was down to 111 feet (33.8 m). There they found the previously described 4-foot-tall (1.2 m) by 2.5-foot-wide (0.8 m) opening that was filled with beach stones and sand. This was the opening of the flood tunnel. They were so close once again, but suddenly, the pump failed, and the water level in the Money Pit slowly but surely rose back up to sea level.

	Quite a few of the now-well-known elements of the Oak Island mystery came to light in 1897. This is the year when Captain Welling discovered an equilateral triangle of stones not far from the high-water mark on the south shore. The triangle was described as 10 feet (3 m) long on each side, with the base running roughly east to west. A triangle is an important symbol in Freemasonry, and the apex of this triangle was said to have pointed toward the Money Pit.

	This is also the year when William Chappell and his team encountered the now well-known vault, which much later became known as the Chappell Vault. The team had first drilled a series of five small holes that were about 80 feet (24.4 m) deep inland from Smiths Cove. They then loaded each hole with dynamite and set them off. They believed this would destroy or plug up the flood tunnel.

	The team then pumped the water out of the Money Pit down to 100 feet (30.5 m), and a platform and drill were erected at the 90-foot (27.4 m) level. This must have been quite an undertaking at that time. During the first attempt, the drill was said to encounter 5 inches (12.7 cm) of oak at a 126-foot (38.4 m) depth and then iron, which it could not go through.

	The second drill hole was made only 1 foot (0.3 m) away from the first, but this one went all the way down to 153 feet (46.6 m). It allegedly hit 7 inches (17.8 cm) of soft stone or cement, then 5 inches (12.7 cm) of solid oak, then a small 2-inch (5.1 cm) gap, followed by what was believed to be soft metal or metal in pieces, and then iron once again. According to author Lee Lamb, in her book Oak Island Obsession, William Chappell had been operating the drill and found traces of what he believed to be gold on it, but he kept it a secret at the time. Lamb’s father, Bob Restall, heard the information years later from Chappell himself.

	It was from the depths of this second drill hole that the well-known small piece of parchment was brought up. It had been rolled up in a tiny ball, and was only discovered after a very careful sifting through the borings. It has what are believed to be two letters written on it. These letters are usually described as vi, but could be something else. The parchment was sent to Boston for experts to examine, and it was determined to be inscribed with India ink.

	The third drill hole allegedly struck wood at 122 feet (37.2 m) and then cement or soft stone at 153 feet (46.6 m). Then it went through wood and cement for 4 feet (1.2 m), more cement for 3 feet (0.9 m), then blue clay for 11 feet (3.4 m), and finally struck an apparent iron barrier at 171 feet (52.1 m) (Crooker 1993).

	I’ve certainly wondered if they were mistaken in their belief that it was in fact iron they struck and not just very hard rock, but accounts state that the borings were checked with a magnet and iron cuttings were confirmed.

	The fourth hole is recorded as having encountered iron at 166 feet (50.6 m) but passed through it. Perhaps it caught the end of the iron and pushed it out of the way? The drill continued downwards and ended up in solid clay at 188 feet (57.3 m). The fifth drill hole is said to have encountered cement at 150 feet (45.7 m) and then ended in solid clay at 175 feet (53.3 m). Over the next three years, the Oak Island Treasure Company dug another seven shafts at various proximities to the Money Pit but none encountered anything of interest.

	With twenty deep shafts, numerous boreholes, tunnels, known collapses and cave-ins, one can only imagine the huge mess underground in the Money Pit area. Any treasure that might have been neatly contained in a precise area, such as the Chappell “vault,” would almost certainly have dropped deeper, shifted around, potentially broken open and possibly scattered by the fast-moving water. It’s no wonder that the search has gone on for so long and frustrated so many people.

	By the end of 1900, the Oak Island Treasure Company had sold off its assets, as well as all its company shares to Frederick L. Blair.

	Not much happened for a few years, and in the summer of 1904, Frederick L. Blair was granted a forty-year lease to search the Money Pit area and mine for silver and gold, with exclusive rights to deal with the landowner.



  
Old Gold Salvage and Wrecking Company (1909–1911)

  
	In 1909 the sixth treasure-hunting company, called the Old Gold Salvage and Wrecking Company, was formed. It was led by Captain Henry L. Bowdoin, an engineer from New York. Frederick Blair was the vice-president, and Captain Welling was also involved as a board member.

	Work in search of the flood tunnel started in late 1909 with excavations near Smiths Cove. However, it was not successful. Then the Money Pit area was excavated, using a bucket and ripping out previous cribbing and platforms down to 113 feet (34.4 m). The company then drilled twenty-five boreholes to various depths and at different angles. These boreholes went down to 155–171 feet (47.2–52.1 m) and hit bedrock. All that was brought up was limestone, clay, sand, and stones, and they closed their operations by the end of the year.

	Henry L. Bowdoin went on to write an article, published in August 1911 in Collier’s magazine, stating that the flood tunnel and alleged treasure did not exist and the whole thing was a hoax. Later drillings, however, would show that Bowdoin was not drilling directly in the Money Pit area, which would explain his lack of results.



  
Oak Island Salvage Company (1912–1922)

  
	In 1912, Professor S. A. Williams of Wisconsin created yet another treasure-hunting company, which he called the Oak Island Salvage Company. He was the first treasure hunter to propose an artificial ground-freezing method to stop the water. Williams organized a stock issue and obtained the rights to recover treasure for almost two years. He proposed to sink thirty-five holes, 5 inches (12.7 cm) in diameter and 3 feet (0.9 m) apart, down to a depth of 160 feet (48.8 m), all around the Money Pit area. He then proposed to freeze each hole to -35°F (-37.2°C), using calcium chloride. He believed that this method would completely freeze the area around the Money Pit so no water would penetrate and hamper the digging. Unfortunately, the stock issue failed, and the project never got off the ground.

	In 1913 Frederick Blair negotiated a new eight-year lease of the Money Pit area with Sophia Sellers, but very little happened on the island during that time.

	In 1921 Blair renewed the lease for the same area for another ten years at $100 per year. That same year, an engineer by the name of Edward W. Bowne made an agreement with Blair to search for the alleged treasure. His plan, however, wasn’t very sound, and he gave up the following year with no success.

	According to Reginald V. Harris, from 1921 to 1922 Blair was primarily in the United States in search of someone willing to invest $50,000 in the Oak Island enterprise. He found many smaller investors who were willing to organize a company through stock sales, but Blair was waiting for a larger investor who would be much less risky.



  
Chappell Family with Frederick Blair (1931–1933)

  
	A number of years went by until 1931, when Blair joined with Chappells Limited of Sydney, Nova Scotia. The company’s owners included previous Oak Island treasure hunter William Chappell, his son Melbourne, his brother Renerick, and his nephew Claude.

	It was around this time that William Chappell told Frederick Blair the secret he had kept for thirty-one years. He told Blair that he had seen, firsthand, traces of yellow metal, which he presumed to be gold, on one of the drill bits that he had operated in 1897. Clearly, Chappell was so convinced that there was in fact gold in the Money Pit that he persuaded his fellow company owners and family members to buy into the search.

	With all the previous work that had gone on, Chappell was unsure of where the original Money Pit was located. The Chappells dug a 12-foot-by-14-foot (3.7 by 4.3 m) shaft (No. 21) a little southwest of their best guess as to where the Money Pit had been. They dug down to 163 feet (49.7 m), using a powerful pump to keep the water down. They then drilled down another 14 feet (4.3 m) but only encountered mixed soil, a 2-foot (0.6 m) gap, and then hard clay. They determined that they were likely about 7 feet (2.1 m) south of the original Money Pit (Crooker 1993).

	The Chappells discovered a number of artifacts at various levels that may have been from the original depositors but were more likely from previous searchers. These items included an anchor fluke, found at the 116-foot (35.4 m) depth, an axe with a rusted head and 3-foot (0.9 m) wooden handle, found at the 123-foot (37.5 m) depth, and a pick and remains of a miner’s oil lamp together at the 127-foot (38.7 m) depth. The axe and pick were found at depths well below those recorded by previous searchers and are believed to have fallen deeper due to one or more tunnel or cavity collapses.

	After using up their budget, the Chappells were forced to end their search. In 1933 a man named John Taylor of New York was given permission to do some drilling, but it doesn’t seem like he was there for very long, as no results of his search were recorded.



  
Canadian Oak Island Treasure Company (1933)

  
	In late 1933, Thomas Nixon formed the Canadian Oak Island Treasure Company. This was the eighth company on the island. His plan was to create a circle of interlocking steel pilings to be driven down into the ground about 50 to 70 feet (15.2 to 21.3 m) around the Money Pit.

	According to author Thomas “Penn” Leary, it was around this time that a workman on the island with the surname Baker had drilled some boreholes near the Money Pit and brought up specks of a silvery substance mixed with clay. This was determined to be free mercury, which does not occur naturally. This is quite interesting as Francis Bacon, Attorney General and Lord Chancellor of England in the seventeenth century, was known to have experimented with preserving documents in mercury, or quicksilver. Bacon is also believed to have been a driving force within the Rosicrucian movement and perhaps Freemasonry.

	In the summer of 1934, Thomas Nixon drilled fourteen boreholes just north of the Chappell Shaft, down to 176 feet (53.6 m), and he brought up some pieces of oak and china fragments from 123-foot (37.5 m) depth. He also encountered a large vacant cavity between 136 feet (41.5 m) and 170 feet (51.8 m).

	In 1935 Gilbert Hedden signed an agreement with his brother Mason Frederick Blair. Hedden also purchased all the lots on the east side of Oak Island from Sophia Sellers’s heirs for $5,000. The following year, Hedden hired a company named Sprague and Henwood, Inc. from Pennsylvania to re-excavate the original Money Pit, the Chappell Shaft, and other shafts in that immediate area. They were able to clear and re-timber the Chappell Shaft down to 170 feet (51.8 m).

	In spring 1937, they dug a new shaft (No. 22) that was 12 feet (3.7 m) by 24 feet (7.3 m) and was located just east of the Chappell Shaft. This shaft was dug down to 124 feet (37.8 m). They encountered assorted items, such as pieces of old drill casings and a large section of a rusted pipe, at the 50-foot (15.2 m) level. They also encountered a tunnel at 104 feet (31.7 m) that was just over 6 feet (1.8 m) in height and about 4 feet (1.2 m) wide. It was lined with 6-inch (1.8 m) timbers and was thought to possibly be one of the original flood tunnels but was more likely a tunnel dug by a searcher group in the mid-1800s (Crooker 1993).

	In 1938 Professor Erwin Hamilton of New York signed an agreement with Freemasons Hedden and Blair to take over the search and split any treasure 40-30-30, with 40 percent going to Blair. As author Mark Finnan mentions in his book Oak Island Secrets, Erwin Hamilton was a rather high-ranking Freemason in New York.

	Hamilton’s team drilled fifty-eight boreholes down to depths ranging from 168 feet (51.2 m) to 171 feet (52.1 m), hitting the limestone. In the thirteenth borehole, they struck iron but believed it could have been from a previous drill casing that was lost underground.

	In 1940 and 1941, Professor Hamilton continued drilling and excavating. In 1941 they deepened the Chappell Shaft to 167 feet (50.9 m), down to bedrock. They continued drilling through the bedrock to 200 feet (61 m) and encountered chips of oak, which was the first evidence of workings below the bedrock.

	The search was halted for a few years due to the Second World War, and then in 1946, there is a record of a Nathan Lindenbaum of New York arriving on the island with nothing but a pick and a shovel. He was permitted to dig a little but ended up quitting very soon. This was easily the briefest search thus far.

	Also in 1946, an engineer from Toronto named Anthony Belfiglio offered to purchase the Money Pit lot from Hedden for $15,000. Hedden counter-offered $25,000 for all of his property, but no deal was reached.

	In June 1949, Frederick Blair’s treasure trove licence expired.

	In May 1950, Gilbert Hedden sold all of his Oak Island property for $6,000 to a mining engineer from New York named ohn Whitney LewisJ. The following month, Frederick Blair received a new five-year treasure trove licence, and in December, Lewis sold his Oak Island property to William Chappell’s son, Melbourne.

	In early 1951, Mel Chappell and Frederick Blair continued working on the island. They used a new electronic radar-actuated metal detector and a clam shovel. They dug a shaft (No. 23) 200 feet (61 m) north of the Money Pit. They got down to 45 feet (13.7 m) in depth with no results, and then the metal detector indicated a hit further south. They tried five different locations but found nothing each time. In April, Blair passed away at the age of eighty-three in Halifax. Chappell took over the treasure trove licence then.

	In September 1955, a man named George Greene from Corpus Christi, Texas, signed an agreement with Mel Chappell. Greene represented a number of large oil companies and had a lot of drilling experience. He immediately began drilling four boreholes in the vicinity of the Money Pit at 2, 6, 10, and 14 feet (0.6, 1.8, 3, and 4.3 m) in line from the north end of the Chappell Shaft. Three of these holes are recorded as hitting oak platforms every 10 feet (3 m) down to 110 feet (33.5 m). I would think these were searcher platforms. The fourth borehole hit 8 inches (20.3 cm) of oak at 100 feet (30.5 m), then a 10-foot (3 m) cavity, followed by another 8 inches (20.3 cm) of oak, then a very large cavity of 45 to 70 feet (13.7 to 21.3 m), and then hard clay at 190 feet (57.9 m). Greene then got called away on another job and did not return (Harris and MacPhie 2005).

	In spring 1958, two brothers from Ontario, William and Victor Harman signed a one-year agreement with Mel Chappell. They drilled four boreholes near the Money Pit and found small pieces of oak, coconut fibre, and what was presumed to be ship’s caulking at the 150-foot (45.7-m) level. A couple of months later, they ran out of money and temporarily ceased operations. A year later, with no other recorded search results, they gave up their search (Crooker 1993).

	In June 1958, the first truly comprehensive book about Oak Island was published by Reginald V. Harris. Harris was Frederick Blair’s lawyer, and Blair had commissioned Harris to research and write the book almost twenty years earlier. The book is simply titled The Oak Island Mystery, and has long been considered the Bible of Oak Island research. Reginald V. Harris also happened to be a long-time Freemason and Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia from 1932 to 1935.

	Unfortunately, those earlier generations of families did not find their hoped-for treasure on Oak Island, but they did unearth many of the elements and clues that have created the history and mystery that are so famous today. Without families like the Archibalds, Blairs, Lynds, Creelmans, and Tuppers, Oak Island would have been forgotten long ago, and the torch would never have been passed to the Restall, Blankenship, Tester, and Lagina families.



  
Restall Family (1959–1965)

  
	In October 1959, Robert Restall signed a contract with Mel Chappell for three months of work, but it was quickly extended through 1965. Restall moved his whole family to the island. Over the first year, he worked at clearing the Money Pit area and pumping the water out. In June 1962, Restall discovered a vertical hole that was 1 foot (0.3 m) in diameter and hidden under a small dome of beach stones. This opening had never been recorded previously by any other searcher. Restall tried to pump concrete into the hole to block the water flow, but the concrete kept going out into the ocean.

	According to author William Crooker, at some point in 1962, Fred Nolan made a discovery at the Registry of Deeds in Chester that Mel Chappell did not own lots 5, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 on Oak Island. Nolan quietly approached Sophia Sellers’s heirs and purchased the lots for $2,500. Not long after, Nolan offered Mel Chappell to trade his seven lots for an opportunity to excavate at the Money Pit. Chappell refused the offer.

	In 1964 Fred Nolan dug two 30-foot (9.1 m) shafts (Nos. 24 and 25) and found a 2-inch (5.1 cm) brass buckle at the bottom of one of them. I wonder how a buckle got to be 30 feet (9.1 m) underground in an area nowhere near the Money Pit.

	In early 1965, Robert Restall signed a new contract with Mel Chappell. Then in July, Restall signed a contract with geologist Robert Dunfield. In mid-July, in an effort to intercept the Smiths Cove flood tunnel, Restall dug a second shaft (No. 26) between the Money Pit and the Cave-in Pit. It was in this shaft where Oak Island’s greatest tragedy occurred a month later.

	On August 17, Robert Restall Sr. had been looking down into this shaft to check on the progress. At the time, the rectangular shaft was 10 feet (3 m) by 30 feet (9.1 m), 27 feet (8.2 m) deep, and had 3 or 4 feet (0.9 or 1.2 m) of water at the bottom. As Robert Sr. leaned over the edge, he suddenly toppled into the pit. His oldest son, Bobby Restall, ran to his father’s aid but also fell into the pit. Karl Graeser, who had been working with Restall Sr., quickly started going down the ladder to retrieve the others, but he suddenly lost consciousness and also fell in. Then Cyril Hiltz got on the ladder, but he too lost consciousness and fell in. Soon after, Andrew DeMont and Leonard Kaizer also attempted to rescue the men and met the same fate.

	Thankfully, a New York firefighter, Captain Edward White, had been visiting the island and, hearing all the commotion, ran to the scene. He was able to first get a rope around Leonard Kaizer and pull him to safety, and then got Andrew DeMont out. He too recovered. Very sadly, the other four men died from drowning. It is believed that a noxious gas or carbon monoxide from the gas pump had overcome the men.



  
Robert Dunfield (1965–1966)

  
	Eventually, Robert Dunfield was put in charge of operations for the remainder of Restall’s contract to the end of that year. Perhaps due to time constraints and the desire to find the treasure in vindication of Robert Restall, who so strongly believed it was there, Dunfield attempted the largest dig ever on the island.

	He proposed using a 70-ton (63.5 t) crane with a large excavating bucket, capable of digging a hole 100 feet (30.5 m) in diameter, down to 200 feet (61 m). He also proposed using a larger water pump that could pump out 110,000 gallons (416,395.3 L) per hour.

	He quickly had two large bulldozers remove 12 feet (3.7 m) of earth from the Money Pit area, and a number of old cribbed shafts were exposed. He also had tons of clay pushed over the beach at Smiths Cove to try and block the flood tunnel. Things like this make me wonder if the small lead cross that was found on the beach at Smiths Cove in 2017 was originally dropped at that location or if perhaps it was moved there from the Money Pit or another area by previous searchers, like Dunfield, moving dirt or clay around (Crooker 1993).

	In October 1965, Dunfield quickly had the causeway built between the mainland and the west end of Oak Island. This was so he could bring heavy equipment and machinery onto the island more easily. The causeway is about 600 feet (182.9 m) long and required about 406,118.7 cubic feet (11,500 m3) of dirt and rocks to construct. After heavy storms in recent years, the current Fellowship had a significant amount of material added to the causeway to shore it up.

	Dunfield also dug a 200-foot-long (61 m) trench down to 20 feet (6.1 m) all along the south shore in search of the flood tunnels believed to be coming from that side of the Money Pit. At this time, he discovered a refilled shaft of 8 feet (2.4 m) in diameter with no cribbing. As there were no previous records of this shaft, it was believed to be pre-searcher.

	By early November, Dunfield was able to start excavating the Money Pit. As planned, the width covered an area of 100 feet (30.5 m), but he was only able to get down to a depth of about 140 feet (42.7 m) when heavy rain started causing the sides of the pit to cave in. Dunfield’s team did find some pieces of porcelain in the spoils, dating from the early 1700s. Soon after, they encountered issues with the crane and had to stop for the winter.

	In early January 1966, the original Money Pit, the 1863 shaft, and the Chappell Shaft all collapsed in together, leaving a single 80-foot-wide (24.4 m) opening at ground level. Dunfield ordered all of this to be refilled and for a solid platform to be constructed at ground level so drilling could be done during the winter months (Harris and MacPhie 2005).

	Dunfield then drilled four 6-inch (15.2 cm) boreholes in the area of the Money Pit, down to 190 feet (57.9 m). Apparently, some of the material from the drillings was sent to the University of Southern California for testing. The results were kept private, but when Dunfield saw them, he intensified the digging.

	To my knowledge, there is no public record of the results Dunfield received. However, a curious article appeared two months later in the Halifax Chronicle-Herald. It reported that Dunfield had found a chamber between 139 feet (42.4 m) and 184 feet (56.1 m) underground that was roofed with wood and floored with iron (Harris and MacPhie 2005).

	Around this time, Fred Nolan purchased land at Crandall Point, right at the entrance to the Oak Island causeway. He then set up a barricade on his property that blocked the entrance to the causeway, in retaliation for Robert Dunfield refusing to let Nolan use the causeway to access the island.

	By April 1966, Dunfield had returned to California and didn’t do any further work on the island that summer. In August, his lease with Mel Chappell ended, and he tried to purchase the island from Chappell. Chappell, however, refused.

	In January 1967, a new treasure-hunting syndicate was formed, led by a man who viewers of The Curse of Oak Island will know well. Dan Blankenship, along with David Tobias, Robert Dunfield, and Fred Nolan, acquired the search rights on Oak Island.

	Blankenship and Tobias started work by deepening the south shore shaft that had been uncovered by Dunfield. Dunfield had gotten down to 40 feet (12.2 m), but Blankenship and Tobias went to 90 feet (27.4 m). At 60 feet (18.3 m), they uncovered a very old hand-wrought nail and what was believed to be a very old nut or washer.

	Over the span of that year, Blankenship and Tobias drilled about sixty boreholes around the Money Pit area. Incredibly, they discovered caverns or perceived tunnels in or below the bedrock. The bedrock was shown to start between 160 and 170 feet (48.8 and 51.8 m) below the surface. They found wood 40 feet (12.2 m) below this level. One borehole brought up a brass fragment from 187 feet (57 m) down, and another drill hole close to the Money Pit encountered a cavity at 202 to 209 feet (61.6m to 63.7m) and then a half-inch thick (1.3 cm) iron plate (Crooker 1993).

	In 1969 Fred Nolan drained the swamp on his land. He discovered many interesting markers and objects that may predate 1795, like rocks with holes bored or chiselled into them, wood with iron hinges, and other pieces of metal.



  
Triton Alliance (1969–2007)

  
	In April 1969, David Tobias formed Triton Alliance Limited, with himself as president and Dan Blankenship as the field operations director. Mel Chappell was a shareholder, along with a number of other wealthy Canadians, including Canadian supermarket magnate and Freemason Bill Sobey; past president of the Toronto Stock Exchange, George Jennison; Boston land developer Charles Brown III; Canadian financier Paul Desmarais; Pentagon weapons systems designer Bill Parkin; Nova Scotia’s former Deputy Attorney General Gordon Coles; and Under-Secretary-General of the United Nations, Maurice Strong. According to Oak Island author D’Arcy O’Connor, even former Canadian Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau was a shareholder while he was in office. O’Connor writes that Pierre Trudeau visited Oak Island during the summer of 1979 with his three sons, including current Canadian Prime Minister Justin Trudeau.

	In November of that year, a new shaft (No. 27) was dug and called Borehole 10-X. It was drilled midway between the Money Pit and the Cave-in Pit, 180 feet (54.9 m) northeast of the Money Pit. At 140 feet (42.7 m), a 5-foot (1.5 m) cavity was encountered. At 160 feet (48.8 m), another 5-foot (1.5 m) cavity was found, but this time, a small amount of metal was also encountered. At 180 feet (54.9 m), the company hit bedrock but continued to drill down. At 230 feet (70.1 m), yet another cavity was discovered (Harris and MacPhie 2005).

	In May 1970, Triton Alliance hired Golder Associates to drill a borehole 100 feet (30.5 m) northeast of Borehole 10-X. They encountered small pieces of metal in sand at about 85 feet (25.9 m). Soon after, Golder Associates drilled two more boreholes not far from Borehole 10-X and discovered both wood and metal fragments at a 150-foot (45.7 m) depth.

	During the year, a 400-foot-long (121.9 m) cofferdam was built around the perimeter of Smiths Cove, which was about 50 feet (15.2 m) farther out than the earlier dams. Soon after, a large U-shaped wooden structure was discovered below the low-tide mark. This structure was made of 2-foot-thick (0.6 m) logs, ranging from 30 feet (9.1 m) to 65 feet (19.8 m) long, notched at 4-foot (1.2 m) intervals with Roman numerals. Some of the notches were found to contain old wooden dowels. Experts determined that these were either part of an ancient wharf or the remains of the original cofferdam used when creating the Money Pit (Crooker 1993).

	An excavation of Smiths Cove also uncovered a reddish heart-shaped stone, a 12-inch (30.5 cm) segment of an iron ruler, a pair of very old wrought-iron scissors, a small wooden sled, iron nails, various spikes, and old tools. The iron ruler, spikes, nails and tools were all sent to the Steel Company of Canada for testing, and it was reported that they all predate 1790.

	In 1971 Dan Blankenship focused on Borehole 10-X. First, he managed to widen the hole to 27 inches (68.6 cm) in diameter and then extend it down to 181 feet (55.2 m). Additional metal pieces found in Borehole 10-X were sent to the Steel Company of Canada for testing, and all came back as estimated to be pre-1750.

	Attempts to drain water from Borehole 10-X were not successful, and the hole eventually filled to sea level, just like the Money Pit. Bird bones and small seashells were brought up, indicating that Borehole 10-X was also connected to the ocean.

	A remote-controlled TV camera was lowered down Borehole 10-X. On the video monitor, Dan Blankenship and others claim to have seen outlines of three chests, a pickaxe, three logs on the ground, a human hand severed at the wrist, and even a human body sitting against a wall. A second TV camera session was conducted down Borehole 10-X, and along with the perceived chests, timbers, and possible tools, two tunnels were perceived to be seen, leading out of the cavity.

	I’ve personally seen these original videos, albeit on a very small TV monitor, but I could not make out the objects that Blankenship is claiming were there. This is a 1971 black-and-white video, taken underwater, with silt moving around, being viewed on a small cheap TV monitor.

	More than ten dives were conducted down into Borehole 10-X and into the cavern in the bedrock, but no physical evidence of treasure or any manmade workings was found.

	During 1971 Fred Nolan was also granted a treasure trove licence, and he began digging on his land.

	In 1972 a man named P. J. Mallon of Northern Ireland discovered another stone triangle, this time on the south shore. I will talk about this later in this book.

	In 1973 Triton Alliance drilled a borehole about 660 feet (201.2 m) north of the Money Pit, which is quite a distance away, and discovered pieces of wire at a depth of 110 feet (33.5 m). They then began digging a 12-foot (3.7 m) by 6-foot (1.8 m) shaft (No. 28) at the location where the wire was brought up. In 1974 the excavation got down to about 100 feet (30.5 m) but had to stop due to a shortage of funds (Harris and MacPhie  2005).

	In 1976 Dan Blankenship had an awfully close call as he was being lowered down Borehole 10-X by his son David. Blankenship began to hear noises deep underground and yelled to quickly bring him back up. As his son frantically worked to bring Blankenship back up, an entire section of the Borehole 10-X casing completely buckled at a 95-foot (29 m) depth. Moments earlier Blankenship had been below this section. He barely escaped with his life.

	In June 1977, David Tobias acquired Mel Chappell’s Oak Island lots. From 1978 to 1980, Dan Blankenship and his partners continued to work on Borehole 10-X. Blankenship was convinced that he had seen chests and workings in the videos. They greatly expanded the width of Borehole 10-X and lined it with 8-foot-wide (2.4 m) steel casings from railway tank cars down to 50 feet (15.2 m). Then they welded steel plates as casing down to 91 feet (27.7 m), and finally, they lined the walls with concrete down to 126 feet (38.4 m).

	During the winter of 1980, four circular holes were observed in the ice off the south shore. It is assumed these were caused by either flowing or warmer water coming out from the alleged flood tunnel openings in the south shore cove.

	In 1981 Fred Nolan made his now well-known discovery of the five huge cone-shaped boulders on his land that form a large Latin cross.

	In January 1983, after much bickering and back-and-forth, Triton Alliance launched a lawsuit against Fred Nolan. They challenged Nolan’s claim to his seven Oak Island lots and access to Crandall Point (which Nolan owned and barricaded) and the causeway. In December 1985, Triton Alliance lost the case with respect to the lots, but Nolan was told to pay $15,000 to them for interfering with their tourist business. He was told to remove part of the museum that he had built over the road to the causeway. Triton Alliance later appealed the decision.

	In the winter of 1987, four circular holes were again observed off the south shore. This time they were more accurately recorded. They were said to be about 500 feet (152.4 m) offshore, each about 15 to 40 feet (4.6 to 12.2 m) in diameter and spaced about 150 feet (45.7 m) apart (Harris and MacPhie 2005).

	Between 1987 and 1990, work lining Borehole 10-X with concrete continued down to 181 feet (55.2 m). New searches revealed no artifacts of any kind. The cavities at 140-foot (42.7 m) and 160-foot (48.8 m) depths were found to be natural and not artificial. The bottom cavity at 230 feet (70.1 m) was also assumed to be a natural formation.

	In November 1987, on their appeal of the 1985 ruling, Triton Alliance lost again. In a cross-appeal, the court reduced the damages that Nolan had to pay from $15,000 to $500. However, he was still ordered to remove the part of his museum that was blocking the entrance to the causeway.

	In September 1991, a newspaper article appeared in the Halifax Chronicle-Herald regarding a man named Carl Mosher. Mosher tells a story of his grandmother showing him a wooden trunk containing about twenty-five heavy white canvas bags of gold in about 1925. His grandmother was Lucy Vaughan, a relative of Anthony Vaughan, one of the first diggers in the Money Pit. She told her grandson that the trunk had come from Oak Island. At some point, an uncle named Edward Vaughan took the trunk and disappeared. He left his home, his family, and his business and was never heard from again. This story was retold in the epilogue of William Crooker’s book Oak Island Gold. I emailed Mr. Crooker in early 2005 and asked him if he had found any further information regarding this story, but unfortunately, he had not.

	In 1999 a man named Ron Aston from Kitty Hawk, North Carolina, arrived on Oak Island and drilled a number of holes north of the Money Pit. These were all to depths of 30 feet (9.1 m) to 50 feet (15.2 m). Aston believed he would find an offset chamber near the Money Pit, but he didn’t find anything. He returned again in 2001 to drill additional holes, but again was unsuccessful.

	In May 2003, Petter Amundsen was given permission to excavate a number of shallow pits south of the large boulder that made up the bottom of the Nolan’s Cross formation. Mark Finnan assisted Amundsen in dealing with Fred Nolan and gaining access to the island.



  
The Michigan Group (Oak Island Tours) (2007 Onwards)

  
	In September 2003, an article appeared on the IGS Realty website which stated: “For Sale: Canada’s Treasure Island.” Dan Blankenship is quoted as saying, “We’re asking $7 million. If we factored the treasure into the price, then we’d be asking $50 million instead.”

	A similar ad also appeared in Islands magazine in March 2004. There are conflicting accounts as to who saw the ad first, but either Marty Lagina saw the ad while vacationing in Florida and quickly phoned his brother Rick, or Rick heard about the ad and called Marty. As it turned out, the ad was quite misleading. The Money Pit on lot 18 was not actually for sale. All that was for sale at that time was lot 25, which was then wholly owned by David Tobias. Marty and Rick Lagina went in together, along with partner Alan Kostrzewa, to purchase the lot, under the name Center Road Ventures LLC, so they could get their foot in the door, so to speak, on the island.

	It wasn’t until the following year that the Laginas, with their partners Dan Blankenship, Craig Tester, and Alan Kostrzewa, formed a company called Cerca Trova Limited. The name Cerca Trova is very fitting for a group seeking answers to the Oak Island mystery as it is an Italian phrase meaning “seek and ye shall find.” Cerca Trova Limited is more commonly known in Nova Scotia as Oak Island Tours Inc.

	Oak Island Tours spent the next six years engaged in thousands of hours of research and securing permissions before filming for the TV show The Curse of Oak Island began in early 2013.

	According to Randall Sullivan’s book The Curse of Oak Island, both Rick and Marty Lagina turned down Kevin Burns’s initial offer to create a reality show documenting their upcoming treasure hunt. Kevin Burns is the founder and president of Prometheus Entertainment, a company known for producing Emmy-winning documentaries and reality shows. The Laginas didn’t want camera crews disrupting their work, and Rick had no desire to be in front of the camera.

	Sullivan goes on to say that Kevin Burns was quite persuasive, and he was eventually able to convince the Laginas that a TV show would not only spread the legend of Oak Island around the world, but also attract the strongest investigators, theorists, and scientists.

	By the summer of 2013, the Lagina brothers and Kevin Burns had a deal in place with the History channel to produce five episodes. The first episode of The Curse of Oak Island aired in the US on January 5, 2014, and according to Tribune Media Entertainment it had 2.53 million viewers. In fact, the show was so successful that History quickly asked for another ten episodes. The number of episodes each season has steadily been growing ever since. The show is at 158 episodes over nine seasons so far, and now has an offshoot, The Curse of Oak Island: Drilling Down.

	The current search on Oak Island has been thoroughly documented on the show. I’d recommend Hammerson Peters’s Oak Island Encyclopedia books for the most detailed accounts of the episodes of the show.

	Here is a brief overview of the top ten finds that the current Fellowship has discovered over the past eight years. On October 26, 2021, just prior to the start of season 9, there was a special episode titled “The Fellowship’s Top 10 Finds,” in which the producers considered the thousands of artifacts and discoveries made by the current team on Oak Island and came up with the ten most compelling.

	Find number ten is the Chinese cash coin that was discovered by Gary Drayton during season 8. What makes this coin much more special than the many others Drayton had uncovered is that it is possibly 1,200 or 1,300 years old.

	Discovery number nine is the piece of ship’s railing that was also discovered during filming for season 8. It was found about 10 feet (3 m) deep in the swamp, and incredibly it was carbon dated to 660 ce to 770 ce. As Craig Tester mentions on the show, it was tested more than once to verify the date.

	Revelation number eight is the red garnet brooch that I will talk about in this book. This artifact was discovered by Gary Drayton and Rick Lagina during filming for season 5. The garnet is believed to be up to 500 years old.

	Number seven is the gold-plated brooch that also has a red stone mounted in it. This piece was discovered during filming for season 6. And it is the first piece of verified gold found on Oak Island by the Fellowship.

	Finding number six is the leather bookbinding and parchment that were discovered by Jack Begley in the spoils wash during filming for season 5. These pieces had come from deep underground, and to many, the idea of books or documents hidden on Oak Island is more exciting than gold or silver.

	Item number five is the discovery of the slipway or wharf in Smiths Cove. I believe this had been originally documented by earlier searchers, but the current Fellowship was able to uncover it again during filming for season 6 and had the workings definitively dated to 1771. At the time, this finding impressed Marty Lagina more than all others, as it offered scientific proof of workings on Oak Island prior to the 1795 discovery of the Money Pit.

	Number four is the now-famous lead cross that Rick Lagina and Gary Drayton discovered in Smiths Cove during filming for season 5. The team had it analyzed, and the lead was determined to have come from a mine in Southern France during medieval times. What made it even more fascinating to Rick Lagina was that it strongly resembled a carving he had seen just weeks earlier while visiting a prison in Southern France where Knights Templar had been held.

	Number three is the paved area in the swamp. This is an area toward the middle of the swamp that strongly appears to have been worked by people. Organic material just under the rocks was dated to 1200 CE.

	Discovery number two is the stone road that was originally uncovered in the southeast corner of the swamp during filming for season 8. This stone road was featured quite a bit during season 9 and is thought to possibly be of Portuguese origin. When the team visited Corjan Mol in Portugal during season 9, they found roads that appeared remarkably similar to the one at the bottom of the Oak Island swamp.

	The number one discovery that the Fellowship made is silver in the Money Pit. It was discovered by Dr. Ian Spooner near the end of season 8 when he did tests for metals that might be leaching into the water deep below Oak Island. Dr. Spooner announced that it was a “very large amount of silver,” based on the results. The TV show called it the greatest scientific discovery in Oak Island’s history.

	This discovery strongly supports my own research, pointing to silver from the 1641 Concepción shipwreck being buried on Oak Island. This theory is completely detailed in the next chapter.

	In addition to the focus on searching for silver and on the stone road in the swamp, season 9 was the first season where the team detected elevated amounts of gold in the water deep underground, around the C-1 borehole. This was confirmed by a lab at Queen’s University in Kingston, Ontario.

	When I visited Oak Island in September 2021, the guys were excitedly talking about something called muon tomography that would be employed in the future and would likely be a game changer. The Fellowship is working with a team from Ideon Technologies, who claim that they can provide x-ray–like imaging and 3D density maps of features up to 0.6 miles (1 km) beneath the surface. As of May 2022, more than a dozen of Ideon Technologies’ detectors were positioned on Oak Island to collect data.

	Based on the most recent information that the Fellowship has accumulated, an updated list of the possible original depositors on Oak Island was compiled. This episode was titled “Oak Island’s Top 10 Suspects” and was shown in The Curse of Oak Island: Drilling Down special in late 2022. As it turns out, six of the top ten suspects—Captain William Kidd, Captain James Anderson, Sir Francis Bacon, Prince Henry Sinclair, the Knights Templar, and Sir William Phips—are discussed in this book.

	Incredibly, all ten of the “Top 10 Suspects” are either directly linked to or are associated with Freemasonry in some way.
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  Chapter 4 Phips & Belcher Concepción Silver Theory


  
	As I showed in the previous chapter, successive generations of the same families were involved in the Oak Island treasure hunt for almost 150 years. But did it all really start with Simeon Lynds learning about the so-called Money Pit through his cousin Elizabeth Nelson’s marriage to Anthony Vaughan Jr. in 1803? It certainly seems like a perfect fit. But what if there had already been whisperings of a buried treasure passed down from Simeon Lynds’s grandfather? What if that treasure was deposited by a member of his own extended family?

	Of all the family links I was able to trace through genealogical research, the most fascinating branch is that of three generations of the extended Belcher family. These are Captain Andrew Belcher (1648–1717), his son Jonathan Belcher Sr. (1682–1757), and grandson Jonathan Belcher Jr. (born 1710–1776). This same branch of the family of Belchers also links both by marriage and by blood to Simeon Lynds’s family.



  [image: A partial family tree of the author’s family highlighting his connection to three fascinating generations of the Belcher Family. These are Captain Andrew Belcher, his son Jonathan Belcher Sr. and his grandson Jonathan Belcher Jr.]
  The family tree of three generations of the Belcher family who the author believes were involved in the Oak Island mystery.


	Captain Andrew Belcher’s father, who was also named Andrew, had immigrated to Massachusetts from England in 1639. That same year, he married Elizabeth Danforth, sister of the deputy governor of the Massachusetts Bay Colony. Andrew Sr. became the proprietor of the Blue Anchor Tavern in Harvard Square in 1652. This tavern stayed in his immediate and then extended family for many years. It’s interesting to note that early Freemasons were known to have met largely in private rooms or basements within taverns.

	Young Andrew Jr. left Cambridge as a peddler and made his way west toward Connecticut. There he opened his own tavern, and in 1670, married Sarah Gilbert. Gilbert’s father, Jonathan Gilbert, was a merchant from Hartford, who was conducting a flourishing trade with the local Indigenous People and settlers in the area.

	Andrew Jr. eventually moved back to Massachusetts. He apparently learned much from his father-in-law because, by the later 1670s, he was emerging as Boston’s major supplier of Connecticut grain and pork. As his wealth grew, Andrew Jr. began to acquire more ships, and his ships carried whatever cargo offered him the greatest profits. He eventually owned more than twenty ships and had a vast shipping network that extended from Europe to the Caribbean. Now-captain Andrew Belcher Jr. rose from fairly humble beginnings to become one of the wealthiest men in New England by the late seventeenth century.

	From 1702 until his death in 1717, Captain Andrew Belcher was a member of the Massachusetts Governor’s Council, primarily serving Governor Joseph Dudley for most of those years. Captain Belcher became a close associate of many of the most powerful men in New England. One of those close associates was William Pepperell, who co-owned a ship with Captain Belcher. Pepperell is known for having organized, financed, and led the 1745 expedition that captured the French Fortress of Louisbourg in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia.

	In autumn 1687, Captain Andrew Belcher arrived in Boston from England with the news that he was being appointed as the assistant to the newly knighted Sir William Phips. Phips was going to receive the powerful position of provost marshal general, essentially the chief sheriff, of the Dominion of New England. Captain Belcher would become the assistant provost marshal general.

	It was a fellow Oak Island researcher and author Graham Harris who first suggested the idea of Phips being involved in a plot to hide the Concepción shipwreck treasure on Oak Island. He first wrote about this in his book Oak Island and Its Lost Treasure, written together with Les MacPhie.

	Harris followed this book up in 2006 with his booklet The Oak Island Treasure: The Case for Sir William Phips. He wrote this booklet for his talk during Explore Oak Island Days in August 2006 that I discussed in chapter 2.

	Harris based his case for Phips’s involvement on Oak Island on ten pieces of circumstantial evidence. He discovered records at the Colonial Office archives in England, all copied in 1750, that related specifically to Sir William Phips, but also to the founding of the 1753 settlement of Lunenburg, Nova Scotia. There was nothing specifically tying Phips to Lunenburg in the documents, but Harris suggests it was suspicious that the two topics would be kept together in 1750 in England. He wonders if the Crown was perhaps concerned about having this new settlement so close to Oak Island.

	Harris also mentions a clause that was inserted into all Nova Scotia land grants after the settling of Lunenburg in 1753, which reads, “The said township is to consist with all and all manner of mines unopened excepting mines of gold and silver, precious stones and lapis lazuli.”

	As Harris mentions, lapis lazuli is not native to Nova Scotia, but to central Asia. It is also listed as being part of the cargo of the Nuestra Señora de la Concepción. The clause only stayed in land grants until 1760, when King George II’s reign ended, and was never singled out in a land grant in Nova Scotia ever again. This clause was suggested by Nova Scotia Governor and Freemason Charles Lawrence.

	Harris also points out that the naval officers involved at the Concepción wreck site all received promotions upon returning to England, even though their treasure recovery attempt had officially been unsuccessful. This included Thomas Monck, nephew to Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle.

	As I began to research the genealogy of Christopher Monck, I found that most sites do not show him as having any children. But according to Estelle Frances Ward in her book Christopher Monck: Duke of Albemarle, the duke left £1,000 to his natural son Captain Thomas Monck in his will. Thomas Monck was no doubt born out of wedlock, so other researchers believed him to be the duke’s nephew.

	As Ward mentions, when the duke received word from the King of England that Lord Mordaunt was travelling to the Concepción wreck site and had threatened to seize the wreck, he immediately wanted to go there and assist. He was, however, strongly advised by his council not to go. Instead, he sent his son Thomas Monck, who had command of the duke’s yacht. Thomas Monck hurried to lend his assistance to Phips and his crew. So we know that Thomas Monck was also at the Concepción wreck site for a time.

	Graham Harris also discusses young Thomas Monck acting as an agent on behalf of his uncle, 2nd Duke of Albemarle. Thomas Monck is recorded as having cashed a bill of exchange for £270 in Boston on November 1, 1688, having sailed to Boston on a number of occasions in the second half 1688. The bill of exchange was made out by Phips as a loan to the duke. This seems strange as the duke was much wealthier than Phips was. Harris believes that Thomas Monck was involved in funding and shipping supplies to the workers on Oak Island.

	Harris goes on to discuss the fact that descendants of the Monck family settled in Nova Scotia, and a James Monk worked with chief surveyor Freemason Charles Morris, doing survey work around Mahone Bay. 

	I was able to discover even more interesting information about this Monck/Monk family. It was actually Christopher Monck’s own father, George Monck, 1st Duke of Albemarle, who was instrumental in the restoration of the Stuart Monarchy. George Monck was an English soldier who had an exceptionally long and storied military career, rising to prominence during the period of the Commonwealth under Oliver Cromwell.

	George Monck was given command of the Parliamentary army in Scotland, fighting against King Charles I’s Royalist supporters. When the resistance had been primarily quashed, he began to see things differently. He eventually became the commander-in-chief of Scotland. Within two months of Charles II becoming king, he honoured Monck with the title of the Duke of Albemarle and appointed him to his Privy Council. He was also awarded a large annual pension. Oliver Cromwell passed away in 1658.

	A number of sources, including Armorial.org, state that George Monck was a Freemason in the Edinburgh Lodge. This would be The Lodge of Edinburgh (Mary’s Chapel) No. 1, where William Alexander and his brother Anthony Alexander became the world’s first recorded speculative Freemasons in 1634.

	After Cromwell’s death, Monck initially stayed in Edinburgh and kept in touch with King Charles II in Holland by using the architect William Bruce as a go-between. Bruce’s brother Alexander Bruce was a close friend of Sir Robert Moray. Both were founding members of the Royal Society. George Monck himself also became a member of the Royal Society. Sir Robert Morray is well-known among Masons as being the first recorded Freemason initiated in England. Morray was initiated at Newcastle in the north of England by members of the Lodge of Edinburgh (Mary’s Chapel) No. 1, who were serving with the Covenanters army in that area.

	Monck had employed a number of very prominent architects and Freemasons to assist in certain fortifications, such as the Citadel at Leith. One of these men was Hans Ewald Tessin, who had come to Scotland from Sweden. Tessin had also become a member of the Lodge of Edinburgh (Mary’s Chapel) No. 1 in 1652.

	George Monck’s younger son, also named George, was born in 1666, the year of the Great Fire of London. George Monck Jr. had at least one son, named James, who modified his surname to Monk. James Monk then emigrated to Boston, Massachusetts, by 1736, and in 1739, he joined Saint John’s Lodge. This is the oldest Grand Lodge in North America and as we will see, it had some very interesting members. 

	In 1745 James Monk was commissioned as an aide-de-camp to General William Pepperell at the siege of Louisbourg. As mentioned previously, Pepperell was a friend and close associate of Captain Andrew Belcher, and many members of Saint John’s Lodge were at the siege of Louisbourg as well.

	Monk later settled in Halifax. As Graham Harris had first mentioned, Monk was appointed as the assistant surveyor to chief surveyor and Freemason Charles Morris. As we’ll see, this was likely more than just a coincidence.

	Monk went on to become a judge and eventually Solicitor General of Nova Scotia but passed away at an early age. Monk had five children, including James Jr. and George Henry.

	James Monk Jr. became a lawyer, politician, and judge, while his brother George Henry, who was commonly known as Major Monk, became the agent and superintendent of Indian Affairs in Nova Scotia. Major Monk also went on to become the first justice of the Court of Common Pleas of Nova Scotia and a puisne judge of the Supreme Court of Nova Scotia.

	All of the above accomplishments are very impressive, but what struck me as the most interesting fact about Major Monk is that, in 1792, three years before the discovery of the Money Pit, he was in the Nova Scotia House of Assembly with Oak Island lot 18 owner Casper Wollenhaupt.

	The House of Assembly only had twenty-four members, and they met quite often, so Major Monk and Casper Wollenhaupt would surely have known each other. Two other members of that same 1792 House of Assembly were John Georgy Pyke, the former Grand Master of Nova Scotia Freemasons, and Matthew Archibald, first cousin of eventual Onslow Company leader, Colonel Robert Archibald.

	Certainly, Graham Harris made some great points that all support the idea of Phips hiding treasure from the Concepción shipwreck on Oak Island. However, I believe I’ve found significantly stronger historical circumstantial evidence that, when taken together with Harris’s research, makes this the most evidence-based theory ever presented with regard to potential treasure on Oak Island.


  
Who Was Sir William Phips?

  
	Sir William Phips was born in Woolwich, Maine, in 1651 into an exceptionally large family. His father passed away when he was only six, but his mother remarried. The young Phips helped watch over his family’s flock of sheep until he was eighteen. At the age of eighteen, he began a four-year apprenticeship as a ship carpenter.

	At the age of twenty-three, he married Mary Spencer Hull, and soon after, he established a shipyard on the Sheepscot River in Maine, not far from his family home. A year later, the shipyard was attacked and destroyed by Indigenous Peoples. During the attack, Phips was able to get many of the local settlers onto his ship and sail them to the safety of Boston. Although financially ruined, Phips was considered a hero for his actions.

	By the early 1680s, Phips began treasure hunting near New Providence in the Bahamas. He was the captain of a ship called Resolution and had some success in finding treasure. It’s recorded that he returned shares to his investors worth £54 or C$16,870 per share in today’s currency.

	In July 1683, Phips met with King Charles II and Rear-Admiral Sir John Narborough in London, England. There are differing accounts as to whether Phips had heard about the Spanish wreck of the Nuestra Señora de la Concepción in the Caribbean and then gone to seek financial backing from the king to try and locate it, or whether it had actually been Admiral Narborough who knew about the wreck and, based on Phips’s previous limited success, helped persuade the king.

	Either way, King Charles II granted Phips command of a twenty-gun frigate called HMS Rose of Algiers so he could return to the Caribbean in search of treasure.

	Phips searched a few known wrecks in the Bahamas with limited success. He eventually returned to England two years later, in August 1685. King Charles II died six months earlier, and his brother James II was now on the throne. It’s recorded that the king received £471 (about C$127,000) in treasure. However, the cost to fix the wear and tear on the Rose of Algiers was estimated at £700 (about C$189,000). When Phips requested additional funds and a ship to continue hunting for treasure in the Caribbean, King James II refused him.

	Phips also refused to give up on his dream of finding treasure. The following April, he was introduced to Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle. The duke was known for his partying ways and enjoyed taking risks. He agreed to be Phips’s main backer for his next expedition and even managed to procure additional private investors among his friends.

	Phips and his entourage left the Downs in England on September 12, 1686, and arrived in Hispaniola (Dominican Republic) on November 28. They spent a couple of weeks restocking their provisions and were then detained by harsh weather. It wasn’t until January 12, 1687, that the actual search began in an area then called the Ambrosia Bank.



  
The Wreck of the Concepción

  
	The Nuestra Señora de la Concepción, or simply the Concepción, was a galleon built in Havana, Cuba, in 1620. It eventually became part of the Mexican plate, or treasure, fleet and is known as one of the richest Spanish galleons to have sunk in history.

	The Spanish plate fleet consisted of twenty-one ships that always sailed in a convoy to protect themselves from pirates. The largest ship was known as the capitano and would sail at the front of the convoy, and the second largest was known as the almiranta and would sail at the rear. Although the Concepción was actually the largest ship in the 1641 fleet, it was relegated to the almiranta because the fleet commander was doubtful of its seaworthiness. The fleet commander sailed in the capitano or lead ship.

	Aside from being in need of repair, the Concepción was also reported as being overloaded, largely with silver, both officially and unofficially recorded. It was also said to be difficult to manoeuvre due to its larger size.

	The newly appointed captain of the Concepción was a man named Don Villavicencio. According to author Peter Earle in his book The Wreck of the Almiranta, Villavicencio was angry, not only because of the overall subpar condition of the ship but also at having been given an inexperienced pilot named Bartholome Guillen, who had never before navigated the hazardous route between Mexico and Spain.

	The ill-fated Concepción left Vera Cruz, Mexico, on July 23, 1641. At the time, the Spanish ambassador recorded that the Concepción carried four million pesos, or one million pounds. The actual amount was certainly much higher as the ambassador did not account for all of the additional personal and hidden valuables onboard. The Concepción arrived in Havana, Cuba, on August 27. August 20 had long been considered by the Spanish sailors as the latest date to sail from the Caribbean to avoid the hurricane season. Due to various circumstances, the fleet did not leave Havana until September 20.

	It’s said that the fleet encountered stormy weather almost immediately upon leaving Havana. Just eight days later, as it was passing the northern part of Florida, the winds increased to hurricane strength. The fleet was driven back southeast, past the Bahamas, and exactly forty-one days after leaving Havana, the Concepción struck a reef off the coast of Hispaniola, or modern-day Dominican Republic. Tragically, over 300 of the 496 passengers and crew lost their lives.



  
Discovery of the Wreck

  
	In a likely effort to remain inconspicuous, Phips initially only sent Captain Rogers, along with three Indigenous divers, to begin searching the Ambrosia Bank on the ship Henry of London. Just eight days later, on January 20, 1687, Captain Rogers and William Covill, second mate of the James and Mary, with the three divers, were together on the Henry of London. They were exploring the southern edge of the reef but split up. Rogers went in the ship’s rowboat with one of the divers, while Covill and the other two divers were in a canoe. The area was much too dangerous for any deeper-hulled boats.

	In less than two hours of searching, Covill and the divers, named Francis and Jonas, suddenly spotted canons lying in the white sand under clear water just off the reef. Over the next two days, the divers brought up approximately three thousand coins and three silver bars. According to Phips’s contemporary biographer, Cotton Mather, when Phips was told that they had finally found the wreck, he is said to have joyously exclaimed, “Thanks be to God! We are made!” From January to April 1687, the divers and ships’ crews worked to recover all manner of treasure, including silver coins, silver bullion, doubloons, jewellery, a small amount of other gold, and other artifacts.

	When it was brought back to England, the treasure weighed in at over thirty-four tonnes and was valued at £205,536 or C$67.5 million today. Almost a quarter of this bounty, £51,000 or C$16.9 million, went to the primary financer of the enterprise, Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle. Phips himself received £11,000 or what would be C$3.6 million today. Phips was knighted by King James II and treated as a hero in London. Along with being knighted, Phips was also rewarded with the post of provost marshal general of the entire Dominion of New England.

	It’s not known how or why, but around the same time that Phips was told he would become the provost marshal general of New England, Captain Andrew Belcher was made his assistant. Belcher was allegedly in London, England, at the same time Phips was there delivering the treasure in the summer of 1687, but I have yet to find a connection between the two men before this time.

	What is clear is that Phips and Belcher remained close friends from at least that time until Phips’s untimely death in 1695. In fact, according to the abstract of Phips’s will shown in the 1898 book Soldiers in the Expedition to Canada 1690, if Phips’s wife were to predecease him before his son was of full age, then Captain Andrew Belcher would be one of only two friends to be trustees of his estate and guardians of his son.

	In September 1687, Phips headed back to the Concepción wreck site with a squadron of five ships and almost four hundred crew members and an additional two hundred divers. This time Phips was joined by Admiral John Narborough in a frigate named the Foresight. Phips himself was in command of the four-hundred-tonne merchantman Good Luck and a Boy. A ship called the Princess was commanded by Francis Rogers. The James and Mary and the Henry of London were also refitted for the new voyage.

	The duke also sailed with the squadron as he was on his way to take up the post of governor of Jamaica. Monck, with his wife and entourage, sailed on HMS Assistance. As the duke was generally not in good health, he brought along his physician, Hans Sloane. Dr. Sloane is a most interesting character, and I’ll return to him later.

	The duke’s yacht, the Boy Huzzar, also made the journey and was commanded by his presumed nephew, Thomas Monck.

	Due to adverse weather and other issues, the squadron eventually got separated and arrived in the Caribbean at separate times. When the first of the ships arrived, they were horrified to find many other boats and divers searching the wreck site. Clearly the secret location had been discovered by some of the locals. When the other non-sanctioned boats realized that a royal ship from Phips’s squadron was nearby, they quickly dispersed.

	Even with the £205,536 (about C$64.2 million) already recovered by Phips and all that was calculated to have been recovered by others, Graham Harris and Les MacPhie in their book, Oak Island and Its Lost Treasure, state that, according to the Spanish ambassador to England, at least £500,000 or two-thirds of the original treasure still remained at the bottom of the ocean. One of the biggest obstacles was trying to break through the hard coral that had grown over much of the wreck during the forty-seven years it had been in the ocean.

	Phips, with his entourage, spent a good six months combing over the wreck site, and on May 8, 1688, he left to return to Boston. Admiral Narborough, who had been quite ill, died not long after Phips had departed the site.

	During this second expedition to the Concepción wreck site, the treasure brought back to England was valued at only about £10,000 or C$3.2 million today. This is only about one-twentieth of the amount the previous expedition had brought back.

	Certainly, suspicions would have arisen, and people would have wondered if this truly was all the treasure Phips and company had found over the six-month recovery effort. This is especially true in light of the Charles Mordaunt incident related to the so-called Glorious Revolution that took place in England soon after this treasure recovery, first mentioned in Graham Harris and Les MacPhie’s book Oak Island and Its Lost Treasure.



  
The Glorious Revolution

  
	Charles Mordaunt, 3rd Earl of Peterborough, staunchly opposed the ascension of James, Duke of York, to the throne of England. When James succeeded his brother King Charles II upon his death in 1685, it didn’t take long for Mordaunt to travel to Holland to try and convince William of Orange to invade England. William quickly rejected the plan, but Mordaunt and others would not give up trying.

	In February 1688, it is recorded that Charles Mordaunt showed up at the supposedly secret wreck site of the Concepción off Hispaniola. Mordaunt and his ships are reported to have stayed in the area for three long months.

	Mordaunt arrived back in Holland in June 1688, and almost immediately, plans were made for William and his wife, Mary (daughter of now King James II), to invade England. As Graham Harris suggests, William of Orange seemed to have suddenly found the money to finance his invasion. The same month, King James’s wife, Mary of Modena, gave birth to a Catholic son, James Francis Edward Stuart, who suddenly displaced William’s Protestant wife Mary as next in the line of succession to the throne of England.

	William and Mary’s army invaded England in November 1688. It was one of the least violent revolutions in history, thus it became known as the Glorious Revolution. Mordaunt was immediately heaped with honours. He was appointed as a member of the king’s Privy Council and was made the first lord of the Treasury. This is very curious as Mordaunt is said to have had no accounting or financial background at all. Mordaunt, however, fell from grace almost as quickly as he had risen and lost his position as first lord of the Treasury less than a year later.

	Graham Harris proposes that a portion of the treasure from the Concepción was taken by Mordaunt and used to fund the revolution, but that the further-expected treasure never showed up. Harris proposes that the bulk of the treasure from the Concepción was brought to Oak Island for safekeeping, but due to the geology of the island, a blowout occurred in a void below the Money Pit, which caused the treasure to fall deeper and scatter out of reach.



  
Discovery #1

  
	About fifteen years ago, I found a partial obscure mention of Captain Andrew Belcher (spelled as Belsharr) in relation to pirates (spelled pyrates). This information is from a 1688 letter, which I traced as having been published in an 1853 book, titled Documents Relative to the Colonial History of the State of New York; Procured in Holland, England, and France, by John Romeyn Brodhead, ESQ., Agent. Volume III.

	The letter itself was written by Captain Francis Nicholson to a Mr. Povey. This would have been Thomas Povey, an administrative agent for King James II. The letter was written in Boston on August 31, 1688, and it describes various events of the previous couple of months.

	In this letter, Captain Nicholson states he had eight men in prison who he believed to be pirates. He says that they were men working for a Captain Peterson, and that they are all the remainder of “Yankey’s and Jacob’s company.”

	Jan Willems, also known as Janke or Yankey Willems, was a Dutch pirate who started out working with English privateers. In 1683 he was known to have attended a gathering of the Brethren of the Coast on the island of Roatan in the Caribbean. The Brethren of the Coast was a somewhat loose coalition of buccaneers who were active along the Atlantic Ocean and the Caribbean. One of its leaders was the famous buccaneer Henry Morgan. Although it has a very Masonic-sounding name, I’ve found no evidence that the Brethren of the Coast had any association with Freemasonry.

	Yankey Willems sailed together with fellow Dutch pirate Jacob Evertson through the mid-1680s. Hence the mention of Yankey’s and Jacob’s company.

	The letter goes on to say that Captain Peterson, with his ship and seventy men, was seen at Rhode Island but escaped capture. Soon after, they were at Martin’s Vineyard (the old name for Martha’s Vineyard), where they were specifically seen “trading” with Captain Andrew Belcher. Two other ships were involved, and one had brought with them a “prize” ship taken in the West Indies (the Caribbean, including Hispaniola).

	The letter says that “he had out of the prize fifty hides and about forty elephant teeth. One of the pirates’ men sold them to one Andrew Bellsharr, master of the ship Swan of this place, now at London. The hides were put on board Sir William Phips’ ship, the teeth he had on his own.”

	We’re told that “Bellsharr paid to the pirate fifty-seven pounds in money, and some provisions which he carried to his commerads.”

	Captain Peterson took the “prize” ship and sailed it to what the letter refers to as “Port-la-Bare in Nova Scotia.” The letter also says that the pirates later “burnt the ship at Port-la-Bare.”

	What struck me immediately upon reading about this incident was the timing. Based on my research into Sir William Phips, Phips had just returned from his latest treasure-recovery attempt at the Concepción wreck site, where very little silver was officially found and brought back to England.

	Captain Andrew Belcher very likely did pay the pirates fifty-seven pounds, and I’m sure that some animal hides and elephant teeth (tusks) were involved, but overall, I strongly believe that the “trading” story was just a cover and that Belcher and his “comrades” were actually transferring treasure from the Concepción to be taken to Nova Scotia.

	I learned from Nova Scotia genealogical records that Port-la-Bare in Nova Scotia is actually Port L’Hebert, which sounds very similar. In marriage records from the nineteenth century, the name can be seen as Port la bare, Port le bear, and Port Hebert. Port L’Hebert was named way back in 1634 by Pierre Dugua, Sieur de Mons, for his apothecary Louis Hébert. It is approximately 60 nautical miles (111 km) from Oak Island.

	On maps of the region from the 1688 period, very few places were actually named, so Port L’Hebert would have been one of the closest locations to what was eventually named Oak Island.

	Soon after the incident, two of the ships involved were seized, and a number of the men were put in prison. Of course, this did not include Captain Peterson, who was on his way to Nova Scotia with the “prize” ship or Captain Andrew Belcher, who quickly left for England. I doubt Belcher was too worried, though, as he and Phips had also just become the highest law enforcement agents in all of New England. At the time this included Rhode Island and Martha’s Vineyard.

	It’s interesting to note that, in 1692, Sir William Phips became the first royal governor of the newly created Province of Massachusetts Bay. This new province included all of Nova Scotia, and of course, Oak Island.



  
Discovery #2



  [image: A small graphic showing the relationship and birth dates for Captain Andrew Belcher, Jonathan Belcher Sr. and Jonathan Belcher Jr.]
  The fascinating family connection between three generations of the Belcher family.


	Captain Andrew Belcher was likely a Freemason, as First American Born: The Life and Journal of Jonathan Belcher, the First-Known, American-Born Freemason author and Freemason, David Crockett, suggests.

	Captain Belcher’s son Jonathan Belcher Sr. was born inside his family’s Blue Anchor tavern in 1682 in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Jonathan Sr. benefited considerably from his father’s powerful connections. After graduating from Harvard University, Jonathan Sr. was sent on a tour of Europe by his father. While in Europe in 1704, Jonathan Belcher Sr. was made a Freemason, as he noted in his extensive journal. Much of the journal is recounted in David Crockett’s book.

	During this same trip, Jonathan Sr. visited with Princess Sophia of Hanover, the heiress to the British Crown. Sophia’s parents were the Rosicrucian Winter King and Queen, Frederick V, Elector Palatine, and Elizabeth Stuart, the daughter of King James I.

	Many researchers believe that the 1616 publication Chymical Wedding of Christian Rosenkreutz was based on the wedding of Frederick V and Elizabeth Stuart. Elizabeth Stuart was also a good friend of the mathematician, astronomer, and occult philosopher John Dee. Historian and author Frances Yates believes that John Dee was instrumental in the forming of Rosicrucianism and Freemasonry.

	In the same year, Jonathan Belcher Sr. also visited with Princess Sophia’s grandson, George, the future king of England, who was only a year younger than Jonathan Sr. In 1727, George became King George II of England. Three years later, he selected Jonathan Belcher Sr. to become the new governor of Massachusetts and New Hampshire. Jonathan Sr. held this position for eleven years and made many powerful connections of his own. He later became the governor of New Jersey and founded Princeton University.

	In Masonic circles, Jonathan Belcher Sr. is known as the first American-born Freemason. Jonathan Sr. was made an honorary member of the first Masonic Grand Lodge in North America, which was the Provincial Grand Lodge, also known as Saint John’s Lodge, in Boston, Massachusetts. It was founded in 1733. At the time, this lodge had precedence over all North American lodges, including the Provincial Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania, of which Jonathan Sr.’s friend Benjamin Franklin became the Provincial Grand Master in 1734. It was also through this grand lodge in Boston that Nova Scotia’s first Masonic lodge in Annapolis Royal was officially sanctioned in 1738.

	If, as many researchers have suggested, early North American Freemasons did inherit a particular religious treasure or sacred knowledge from the Knights Templar or the original Rosicrucians, then Saint John’s Lodge in Boston would be the most likely lodge, outside of Europe, to know about or to have been in possession of it at one time.

	Jonathan Belcher Sr.’s son Jonathan Jr. was born in Boston in 1710. In 1730, after graduating from Harvard, Jonathan Jr. was admitted to Middle Temple law school in London, England. Middle Temple was part of the original Knights Templar headquarters. Jonathan Belcher Jr. eventually moved to Nova Scotia, where he not only became the Governor, but also the Masonic Grand Master.

	Captain Andrew Belcher’s son and grandson were not only governors of Massachusetts Bay and Nova Scotia, but also very high-level Freemasons. Incredibly, both men also had close connections to Oak Island.

	These same three generations of Belchers, who I believe were responsible for hiding treasure on Oak Island and later protecting it, are also quite closely related to the very first treasure hunters on Oak Island just over a hundred years later. This includes Onslow Company members Simeon Lynds, Colonel Robert Archibald, and Captain David Archibald.

	The same three generations of Belchers are also connected to two of the earliest lot owners on Oak Island. As a descendant of these Belcher, Lynds, and Archibald families, I presented my research to the Fellowship of the Dig exactly 333 years after I believe Captain Andrew Belcher helped hide the treasure. Of course, there are many more generations of treasure hunters (and researchers) within this same extended family.



  
Discovery #3

  
	My next discovery occurred much more recently, in early 2021, while looking for anomalies or interesting features in the area of Mahone Bay and Oak Island on old maps.

	When I came across the 1701 map “The English Empire in America, Newfound-land, Canada, Hudson’s Bay &c.” by Herman Moll, I definitely hit the jackpot. This map, created 320 years ago, is a literal treasure map that strongly appears to tie the Concepción treasure to the Oak Island area.

	It seemed far too good to be true, so I searched for other references of this map linking the Concepción wreck to the Mahone Bay area but found nothing. From what I can tell, I’m the first researcher to have discovered this connection.

	According to a biographical entry on Geographicus.com, Herman Moll is believed to have been born in either Germany or the Netherlands, but he moved to London, England, in 1678. There he opened a book-and-map store. Aside from being an excellent and prolific map-maker, Moll was also known for his circle of intellectual friends.



  [image: A 1701 map of the eastern lands of the English Empire (what would eventually become Canada and the United States) extending from the norther tip of Newfoundland & Labrador, down to the Caribbean.]
  A 1701 map of the “English Empire in America, Newfound-land, Canada, Hudson’s Bay &c.” by Herman Moll. (New York Public Library)


	Moll was known to have frequented an establishment called Jonathan’s Coffee House on Exchange Alley in London. It opened in 1680 and was a favourite meeting place of merchants, seafaring men, and other traders.

	Moll’s coffee-house circle included the explorer and pirate William Dampier, scientists Robert Hooke and Robert Boyle of the Royal Society, authors Jonathan Swift and Daniel Defoe, and archaeologist and Freemason Dr. Richard Stukeley.

	Overall, Moll’s 1701 map of the English Empire in America seems very normal, except for two very interesting additions.

	The first is the specific location of the Concepción shipwreck that is actually labelled on the map. It is shown as “Sr Wil Phipps Plate Rack.” The term “plate” means “silver” and comes from the Spanish word for “silver” which is plata. The term “rack” is an old-fashioned word for “wreck.”

	It’s the second anomaly on the map that I found especially interesting. Up in New Scotland (“Nova Scotia” in Latin), where we usually see the names “Port Royal” and “La Have” on maps of this period, Moll has added La Plata. Again, in Spanish this literally means “The Silver.”



  [image: A close-up of a portion of the lower part of the 1701 Herman Moll map, showing the Bahama Islands and specifically highlighting “Sr. Wil Phipps Plate Rack” (or Sir William Phips’ Silver Wreck).]
  The specific location of Sir William Phips’s “Plate Rack” or “Silver Wreck.” (New York Public Library)



  [image: A close-up of the area called “New Scotland” showing the never-before-seen name of “La Plata” in the large bay on the eastern side of New Scotland (Nova Scotia). There is also a very small modern map of Nova Scotia inlaid inside the older map, next to La Plata, to show that this is the only large bay on the eastern coast.]
  “La Plata” (“The Silver”) labelled right in Mahone Bay on Herman Moll’s map. (New York Public Library). Inset: A modern map of Nova Scotia.


	If we compare this 1701 map with a modern map of Nova Scotia, it’s clear that the only large bay along the south shore of Nova Scotia is the combination of Mahone Bay and St. Margarets Bay. Certainly, the 1701 map is not to scale, but these can’t be mistaken for anything else.

	Moll could have used any number of terms to describe the wreck of the Concepción. He could have called it a “ship rack” or “treasure rack,” but instead, he chose to call it “the plate rack” or “silver wreck.”

	For Moll to then create a wholly new place in New Scotland (Nova Scotia) called La Plata (“The Silver”) shows that he not only meant to link the two locations by name, but also that he must have learned that silver from the Concepción was taken to that specific area. The silver was likely described to Moll as having been taken to an island in the largest bay on the Atlantic coast of New Scotland.

	Jonathan’s Coffee House in London was exactly the kind of place where secret information would have been passed. But who could have informed Moll about silver from the wreck that Phips found being taken to that precise area in New Scotland? Very few people would have known of Phips and Belcher’s secret plot.

	As it turns out, there was actually one person, tied to Phips’s entourage, who would have almost certainly known about the plot to hide the silver and who is known to have been one of Moll’s coffee-house friends. That is Dr. Hans Sloane, Christopher Monck’s personal physician. Like Hooke and Boyle, Dr. Soane was a member of the Royal Society, and like Stukeley, he was also an early Freemason.

	It was from his circle of friends that Moll gained a fair bit of privileged information that was sometimes later conveyed on his maps. I believe that’s exactly what occurred on this particular map.



  
Discovery #4

  
	A number of years ago, I discovered two small newspaper accounts in the Halifax Morning Sun from 1863 that mention small oblong pieces of wrought silver that were found on Oak Island. After speaking with other Oak Island researchers and members of the Fellowship, I believe I’m the first researcher to have discovered these accounts.

	The first of the articles appeared on February 23, 1863, under the heading “Extraordinary Discovery!” It goes on to say that the diggers on Oak Island “chanced upon two or three small oblong pieces of wrought silver, which from the indentation of the edges, and the impressions up on the surface, were deemed to be antique coins of remote age.”

	The article then says that, based on a roughly sketched representation of the objects, a friend of t he reporter believes them to be Masonic jewels. The article ends by saying “the supposed Chinese inscription, we shrewdly suspect, could be easily deciphered by a Speculative Mason.”

	The second small article about six weeks later, on April 6, states that a “Mr. Skinner of the Union Bank has shown us a piece of the silver similar to that received some time ago from Oak Island.” Mr. Skinner tells the reporter that it was picked up where the diggers were at work on the island. The article then says that it happened “to fall in with a Chinese sailor while the piece was in our procession, we learnt from him that it was a piece of money of more than the value of a dollar of British coin.”

	The article ends by saying that “this is the fifth or sixth piece of the same kind reported to have been picked up on the island.”

	So the claim of the objects being Masonic jewels was based on a “roughly sketched representation of the objects.” And the claim of them being Chinese coins was based on a “piece of silver similar” to that received some time ago, also coming from Oak Island. I set out to investigate both claims to see if I could find a close match.

	There are two types of Masonic jewels. There are the large jewels worn by lodge officers on their collars and the smaller pinned-on medals and pendants. I immediately ruled out the larger jewels, as none of them would ever be oblong in shape. Medal-type jewels, on the other hand, do often fit that shape.

	The problem is that every single example of a Masonic jewel that I came across has some kind of hole in it for attaching a small ring or ribbon.

	I also looked through a lot of examples of Chinese coins and could find none that fit the description of being oblong. The closest match I was able to find was a Japanese silver Chogin coin from the 1820–1837 period.

	Based on the reported descriptions, I believe that the unknown markings could very well have been shipper’s sigla or assayer’s stamps on silver ingots or Spanish coins, like those that made up the bulk of the treasure from the Concepción.

	Silver ingots are almost always oblong in shape, and many Spanish coins could also be described as oblong.

    

  [image: Left: An oblong silver Masonic jewel with a small ring through a hole near the top. The engraved image shows the coat of arms of the United Grand Lodge of England. Above the crest with the coat of arms is an image of the Ark of the Covenant and on either side of the coat of arms stand 2 winged Cherubim. Middle: An oblong dark silver coin that is plain in the center and has Japanese characters engraved or pressed around the outer edge. Right: A somewhat oblong silver coin that tapers slightly near the bottom. A significantly worn-down unknown image or characters cover about 80% of the surface. The characters would have been hand struck in Mexico.]
  From left: An example of an oblong silver Masonic jewel with the United Grand Lodge of England logo; a Japanese silver Chogin coin, c. 1820–1837; a silver coin recovered from the Concepción wreck site.


	The silver oblong pieces from Oak Island were said to be in Mr. Skinner’s possession at the Union Bank in Halifax in 1863. I discovered that Mr. Skinner’s full name was Thomas Skinner, and the Union Bank of Halifax was located on the northeast corner of Hollis and Prince streets. In 1910 Union Bank was taken over by the Royal Bank of Canada (RBC).

	Years ago I contacted the RBC Corporate Archives to recover any information regarding the silver pieces, Oak Island, and Mr. Skinner. The Royal Bank historian remarked that it was certainly an interesting quest but that the company archives had not been established until 1977 (sixty-seven years after the Royal Bank of Canada took over the Union Bank of Halifax) and unfortunately very few Union Bank records had survived.

	In 2017 fellow Oak Island researcher Paul Wroclawski did some research into my discovery. He was certain he’d found evidence that Mr. Skinner had donated the silver pieces to the Nova Scotia Museum in the early 1870s.

	I, of course, made an inquiry with the Nova Scotia Museum. They ran a search but the only thing they found that sounded similar was a silver ore sample that was mentioned in the 1872 Report on the Provincial Museum.

	As a follow-up to my overall research, in late 2021, The Curse of Oak Island wanted to go to the museum and film the piece of silver that had been mentioned in the 1872 report. The curator of geology did a thorough search for it but unfortunately could not locate it.

	Later in season 9 of The Curse of Oak Island, a piece of metal was found in Borehole D-2 and taken to Dr. Christa Brosseau at Saint Mary’s University in Halifax for analysis. Dr. Brosseau determined the composition to include 65 percent gold, 26 percent copper, and 5 percent silver. She thinks it is something called rose gold.

	Marty Lagina says that he looked up rose gold and doesn’t think it’s a match. Instead, he suggests it could be something called tumbaga, which is a similar mix of gold, copper, and silver that was used by the Aztec, Mayan, and Incan people to make religious artifacts and jewellery.

	During the final episode of season 9 of The Curse of Oak Island: Drilling Down, the Fellowship bring up this possible example of Meso-American tumbaga, and Alex Lagina comments that it goes well with my theory involving the treasure from the Concepción. Although most of the treasure on the Concepción was silver ingots, there was also some gold, jewellery, and other items that would have come from the Meso-American region.



  
Putting It All Together

  
	The 1688 letter clearly shows suspicious activity by Captain Andrew Belcher while he was with Sir William Phips’s ship, after Phips had just returned from the Concepción wreck site. The same letter shows that Belcher had dealings with known pirates, who are recorded as having gone directly afterward to Port-la-Bare (Port L’Hebert), Nova Scotia, of all places in the world. Again, Port-la-Bare was one of the closest, if not the closest, named places to what would become Oak Island on any map of that time.

	The 1701 map by Herman Moll with the very specific addition of “Sir Wil Phipps Plate Rack” (“Silver Wreck”) and a new place in New Scotland with the Spanish name of La Plata (“The Silver”) was clearly meant to link “plate” and “plata” on the map. La Plata is shown in the largest bay in the area that can only be Mahone Bay on the map. I believe this proves that Herman Moll had heard that silver from the Concepción was brought to that specific area prior to 1701.

	The 1863 newspaper articles also show that oblong silver pieces resembling coins from the Concepción were found on Oak Island. This is somewhat more speculative, but it gives more weight to the overall theory.

	Finally, there is my discovery of the remarkably close family connections between Captain Andrew Belcher, who I believe was very likely involved in hiding treasure on Oak Island, and not just one but two of the very first Oak Island lot owners, through Belcher’s son and grandson.

	I believe that when taken together, the significant circumstantial evidence that I’ve presented here makes a fairly solid case for silver from the Concepción shipwreck being buried on Oak Island. Two different members of the Fellowship told me that my theory was the strongest one they had ever heard in terms of overall evidence and the direct ties to Oak Island.
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  Chapter 5 Other Pirate Connections



	Incredibly, it wasn’t just Sir William Phips and the Concepción treasure that Captain Andrew Belcher was involved with. As we’ll see in this chapter, Captain Belcher was also intimately involved with two other captains who became known as notorious pirates. And both just may have had connections to Oak Island.


  
Captain Andrew Belcher and Captain Kidd


	All of the earliest accounts of the Oak Island mystery, beginning in 1857, state that it is Captain Kidd’s missing treasure that is buried on Oak Island. Captain Kidd is certainly one of the most famous pirates in the world. He’s been immortalized in books and songs, but his reputation does not do the real man justice. So it’s rather incredible that Captain Andrew Belcher had a very close connection to Captain Kidd not long before Kidd’s death.

	William Kidd was born in Scotland and moved to New York as a young man and got to know a number of prominent citizens. By 1689, the year after Sir William Phips had returned from the Concepción wreck in the Caribbean and Captain Andrew Belcher was caught allegedly dealing with pirates on Martha’s Vineyard, Captain Kidd was sailing the Caribbean as a member of the pirate Jean Fantin’s crew. During one of their voyages, the crew mutinied, ousted Captain Fantin, and appointed Kidd as the new captain.

	Not long after, Kidd was commissioned as a privateer with commissions from New York and Massachusetts Bay. He was also known to actively support the construction of Trinity Church in New York. This real church features prominently in the fictional movie National Treasure.

	In 1691 Kidd married one of the wealthiest women in New York, Sarah (Bradley) Cox Oort, who, though only in her early twenties, had already been widowed twice. Oort had inherited a large amount of money from her first husband, William Cox, after he had drowned.

	In December 1695, Richard Coote, 1st Earl of Bellomont (known commonly as Lord Bellomont), the governor of New York, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire, formally asked Kidd to go after known pirates and bring them to justice. This venture was backed by a letter of marque signed by King William III of England himself that authorized Kidd as a privateer.

	Kidd got a new ship called Adventure Galley, which was well suited for catching pirates. Its big advantage was that it had many oars for manoeuvring the ship in battle. Kidd was also able to select who he deemed the very best men for the mission. Many were loyal officers.

	However, an incident occurred at the very start of the mission which appears to have set Kidd’s later fate in motion.

	As Adventure Galley set out from London along the Thames River, it failed to salute a navy yacht at Greenwich, as a custom of the time dictated. The navy yacht then fired a shot to remind Kidd to show his respect, but the crew responded with rude gestures. Due to this significant show of disrespect for the king’s navy, many of Kidd’s crew were forced into naval service.

	Kidd, of course, was furious but had to deal with the consequences. He ended up sailing to New York very short-handed and was forced to pick a replacement crew largely from known criminals and former pirates.

	Initially, Kidd sailed for Madagascar, but before they even got there, almost a third of Kidd’s crew died of cholera. They also didn’t find any pirates around Madagascar as expected. It wasn’t long before the remaining crew became disillusioned and began to threaten mutiny. A number of times, they came upon ships that the crew wanted to attack, but Kidd refused as they were not considered enemy ships.

	In October 1697, Kidd got into a heated argument with one of his gunners named William Moore. Kidd hit him with an iron-bound bucket that fractured his skull. Moore died soon after.

	On another occasion, while Kidd was having a private meeting with another ship’s captain, his crew ransacked the other ship and tortured a number of the crew. Again Kidd was furious, but word soon got out to other ships, and Kidd was declared a pirate.

	Even Kidd’s most famous “prize,” Quedagh Merchant, was not taken by Kidd’s choice. After the crew had taken Quedagh Merchant, Kidd realized that its captain was English. Kidd tried to persuade his crew to return the ship, but they refused.

	Eventually, the majority of Kidd’s crew abandoned him, and he sailed back to Boston, believing that he would have safe passage. However, his primary backer, Lord Bellomont, fearing that he might be implicated in piracy himself, turned against Kidd.

	Kidd was arrested on July 6, 1699, and placed in prison in Boston. He spent most of his time in solitary confinement.

	Lord Bellomont and his council appointed four commissioners to focus on the investigation of Kidd. These four just happened to include Captain Andrew Belcher, who was a member of the Massachusetts government as a representative from Boston at the time, along with Samuel Sewall, Nathaniel Byfield, and Jeremiah Dummer.

	When it was discovered that Kidd had hidden part of his treasure from Quedagh Merchant on Gardiners Island, just off Long Island in New York, Captain Andrew Belcher and the other commissioners were sent there to claim it. Samuel Sewall recorded in his diary that all the treasure was brought to Captain Belcher’s wharf to be weighed. Belcher’s wharf was very close to the famous Long Wharf in downtown Boston.

	After Belcher weighed all of the treasure that had been recovered from Gardiners Island, he issued a receipt specifying the exact amounts, including “one bag of gold dust,” weighing 63¾ ounces (1.8 kg); “one bag of gold bars,” weighing 353¼ ounces (10 kg); “one bag of silver bars,” weighing 309 ounces (8.8 kg); “one bag of silver rings and sundry precious stones,” weighing 4⅞ ounces (0.14 kg), and so on.

	While Kidd was in solitary confinement, some of the commissioners, including Captain Andrew Belcher, were permitted to visit Kidd and question him. We know that Kidd eventually told Lord Bellomont that he had hidden additional treasure and that, if he were let go, he would retrieve the remaining treasure, which, as is recorded in Samuel Sewall’s diary, Kidd said, “no one else could recover.” This certainly puts one in mind of Oak Island and the allegedly booby-trapped treasure that nobody has been able to recover in over 225 years.

	Captain Andrew Belcher would have been one of the last people to talk with Kidd before his execution. Is it possible that Kidd divulged secret information to Belcher that Belcher then kept to himself?

	So, Captain Andrew Belcher was intimately connected to not just one, but two of the most famous treasures of the late seventeenth century. When I presented this information to the Fellowship in September 2021, Doug Crowell mentioned that I was the first researcher that he knew of to show a relatively close historical connection between Captain Kidd and Oak Island.




  
Captain Andrew Belcher and Captain John Quelch

  
In early November 1960, Lee Lamb’s mother Mildred Restall and brother Ricky were walking on the beach at Smiths Cove near where her father, Robert Restall, and older brother Bobby were digging holes to try and intercept one of the flood tunnels.

	As Ricky Restall describes in Lamb’s book Oak Island Obsession: The Restall Story, any rocks from the holes were put in piles and washed. As their mother walked past the piles, something caught her eye. It turned out to be a stone with the date 1704 carved into it. Ricky says that, at first, his dad thought it was a hoax, but as time went on, he started to believe it might be authentic.

	It just so happens that, in the early summer of 1704, a pirate by the name of John Quelch and some of his crew were arrested and hanged. Legend says that his crew buried some of their treasure ahead of time.

	Just like Captain William Kidd, Quelch started out as a legal privateer with a licence to attack French and Spanish ships off the coast of Nova Scotia and Newfoundland from Governor of Massachusetts Bay Joseph Dudley in 1703. Quelch wasn’t captain of the ship the Charles at first. The captain was a man named Daniel Plowman, and Quelch was his lieutenant. As they were about to leave Massachusetts, the crew mutinied and elected Quelch as the captain.

	Instead of heading north to Nova Scotia and Newfoundland, Quelch turned the ship south and headed for Brazil. There, he and his crew plundered nine Portuguese ships and accumulated an estimated £10,000 of treasure. This is about C$3.2 million in today’s currency.

	When Quelch and his crew returned to Massachusetts in June 1704, they were quickly arrested because Quelch did not have permission to attack the Portuguese, as the British Queen, Anne, and the Portuguese King, Dom Pedro II, had recently become allies.

	Quelch and nineteen members of his crew were charged with nine articles of piracy and murder and were quickly found guilty and sentenced to death by hanging. This trial was the first-ever capital proceeding against pirates in the New England colonies.

	Two members of Quelch’s crew were acquitted, as one was sick throughout the whole trip and another was only fourteen years of age. Perhaps one of them later returned to Oak Island to retrieve treasure that Quelch may have hidden there and carved the 1704 stone as a memorial marker. There’s no record of Quelch and his crew being in Nova Scotia after they returned from Brazil, but you never know.

	These potential connections between both Captain Kidd and Captain Quelch and Oak Island further the possibility that there could have been multiple treasure deposits on Oak Island.
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  Chapter 6 Nova Scotia’s Masonic Past (and Possible Ties to the Rosicrucians and Knights Templar)


  
What I’ve always found especially interesting about the Glorious Revolution is that it specifically led to what is known as the Jacobite movement. This movement, in turn, has played a significant part in the development of Freemasonry.

	Jacobitism was a seventeenth- and eighteenth-century movement that supported the restoration of the senior line of the House of Stuart to the British throne. The name comes from Jacobus, which is the Latin form of the name James.

	At the beginning of the Glorious Revolution, after William of Orange and his wife Mary had landed in Britain to assume the English throne, King James II chose to flee England with his wife and young son and go to France. James II and his supporters took part in a number of uprisings to try and win back the throne but were always unsuccessful. King James II was the last Catholic ruler in a country that had largely become Protestant. Religious freedom was a driving force behind the revolution.

	So how did the Jacobite movement influence the development of Freemasonry?

	There is much evidence to show that Freemasonry began in Scotland, beginning in 1634. But it was France where most Masonic historians believe that the so-called higher degrees belonging to Ecossais or “Scottish” Masonry were being developed, primarily by Scottish Jacobite supporters of the ousted King James II. These culminated in the Rite of Perfection degrees that were published in 1758.

	What exactly is Freemasonry? Many people would say it’s a secret society. This may have been true a long time ago but certainly not anymore. A true secret society is one that is unknown to the public, where nobody has any idea who the members are.

	Freemasonry today considers itself to be a “society with secrets” rather than a secret society. Nowadays, most Freemasons proudly display their Masonic rings and hats and Masonic logos on their cars, or belong to Masonic social media websites.

	Freemasonry is the largest and oldest fraternity in the world. Members share a common goal of helping each other become better men through the fundamental principles of brotherly love, charity, and truth. Freemasonry strives to ingrain the importance of having high morals and being true to your word.

	Freemasonry has always been described as ancient and honourable, and many great men throughout history were Masons. Thirty percent of all United States presidents (fourteen of forty-six to date) and almost thirty percent of all prime ministers of Canada (six of twenty-two to date) were. Five British kings and many leaders of other countries were Freemasons as well. There have been hundreds of well-known and respected politicians, actors, musicians, athletes, and people from all walks of life who were or are Freemasons.

	It’s now widely accepted that the institution of Freemasonry developed out of the medieval guilds of operative stonemasons. These guilds met in secretive closed lodges and used secret signs and passwords to identify other masons when travelling. In the early 1600s, one of these operative lodges in Edinburgh, Scotland, decided to admit three non-operative, or speculative, Masons, and thus began Freemasonry.

	Freemasonry originally only had two degrees: Entered Apprentice and Fellowcraft (Fellow of the Craft). The first two degrees within Freemasonry were copied from the old operative stonemason lodges. It wasn’t until ninety-two years later that a third separate degree, Master Mason, was recorded in 1726 in Scotland. Then in 1743, we find the first recorded reference to the Royal Arch within Freemasonry.

	Prior to their union in 1814, there were two grand lodges of Freemasons in England. The original Premier Grand Lodge of England was formed in 1717 from four existing lodges. In 1751 the rival Antient Grand Lodge of England was formed from six unaffiliated lodges that were unhappy with the original Grand Lodge of England having moved away from the (ancient) rituals of Scotland and Ireland. One significant difference between the two is that the Antient Grand Lodge considered the Royal Arch ritual to be critical to Freemasonry as the fourth degree and the Premier Grand Lodge of England did not. Thus, the Antient Grand Lodge featured the Biblical Ark of the Covenant from the Royal Arch ritual on their seal, but the Premier Grand Lodge of England did not.

  

  [image: Left: At the center of the seal are the Arms, showing three medieval towers and a pair of compasses. This is taken from the older operative London Company of Masons. Above the arms is a knight’s helmet or helm, and standing on the helmet is a bird. On either side of the arms are two large beavers standing sideways on their hind legs and looking up towards the bird. Beavers represent operative builders. Under the Arms are the words “Relief and Truth” and around the perimeter of the seal are the words “The Seal of the Grand Lodge of Masons – London”. Right: At the center of the seal are the Arms, showing a Lion, a Bull, a Man and an Eagle. These are meant to represent the four Christian Evangelists of Mark, Luke, Matthew and John. Above this is the crest which shows an image of the Ark of the Covenant, and there are two large Cherubim on either side with their wings raised up over the Ark. At the bottom are Hebrew letters spelling out “Holiness to the Lord”. Around the perimeter of the seal are the words “Grand Lodge In London of Free and Accepted Masons According to the Old Institutions”.]
  From left: The original seal of the Grand Lodge of Masons in London; the Original seal of the Antient Grand Lodge in London featuring the Ark of the Covenant.


	The Scottish Rite and the York Rite are considered to be appendant bodies of the main Craft lodges. The Master Mason degree is considered to be the highest degree of the main three in Masonry, and the appendant degrees represent a lateral movement in Masonic education. Still, I’m always impressed to know if a Mason has gone through various side orders. What is most impressive, however, is to be a master or past master of a lodge because it requires a huge amount of commitment and memorization of ritual.

	The Scottish Rite was developed first out of the Lodge of Perfection degrees that came out of France around the 1740s and 1750s. Later the York Rite, or American Rite, developed. Over time, some of the degree rituals have gone through revisions so not all jurisdictions have the exact same details or naming conventions. However, they are all very similar from country to country.

	The Royal Arch is a degree that has long been separate from the three main degrees of the Craft within Freemasonry, but at one time, within all Antient lodges, it was considered to be the completion of the Masonic journey. Laurence Dermott, grand secretary of the Antient Grand Lodge of England called the Royal Arch degree “the root and marrow of Masonry.”

	The earliest recorded reference to the Royal Arch is found in Ireland in George Faulkner’s Dublin Journal issue from January 1743. By 1758 the Royal Arch degree had become one of the original degrees of the Rite of Perfection, which itself turned into the Scottish Rite, one of the main appendant bodies of Craft Masonry.

	The other main appendant body of Craft Masonry is the York Rite (or American Rite). This rite is made up of three bodies known as the Royal Arch Chapter, the Cryptic Council, and the Knights Templar Commandery. The York Rite came together after the Scottish Rite; however, the earliest Royal Arch Chapter, Stirling Rock Chapter, was founded in Scotland in 1743.

	Freemasonry has also long been associated with the Rosicrucians, and there are specifically Rosicrucian degrees within the Scottish Rite. Two of the earliest recorded Freemasons in England, Sir Robert Moray and Elias Ashmole, if not originally Rosicrucians themselves, were deeply interested in Rosicrucian philosophy.

	The Rosicrucian movement came into the public eye between 1614 and 1617, with the publication of three anonymous manifestos that announced the previously unknown esoteric order. The manifestos combined references to Kabbalah, alchemy, Hermeticism, and Christian mysticism.

	A poem written in Scotland in 1638 by a man named Henry Adamson, called “The Muses Threnodie” specifically mentions both organizations as if they were connected. Part of the poem reads:



	For what we presage is not in gross

	For we be brethren of the Rosie Cross;

	We have the Mason Word and Second Sight

	Things for to come we can foretell aright.




	Second sight is the supposed ability to see the future, and it is one of the magical abilities associated with Rosicrucians at that time.

	Freemasonry has also long been associated with the Knights Templar, and just like with the Rosicrucians, there is a specific Knights Templar degree within the York Rite of Freemasonry. Many historians, however, simply dismiss the idea that there’s any historical connection between the original Knights Templar and Freemasonry.

	The Poor Fellow-Soldiers of Christ and of the Temple of Solomon, otherwise known as the Knights Templar, were a Catholic military order founded in 1119 to protect pilgrims in the Holy Land. In 1120 King Baldwin II of Jerusalem granted the Templars headquarters in a wing of the royal palace on the Temple Mount in the captured Al-Aqsa Mosque. This mosque was believed to have been built over the ruins of the Temple of Solomon. A number of researchers claim that the Templars actually spent the first years of their existence digging under the Al-Aqsa Mosque and into the old Temple of Solomon. There they are said to have discovered certain Biblical treasures, including the Ark of the Covenant.

	The fraternity of Freemasonry has long claimed a direct link with the Knights Templar. Certainly, the highest degree in the York Rite of Freemasonry is called the Order of Knights Templar, but we know that the original Knights Templar were disbanded in 1314, and the earliest records of Freemasonry don’t appear until the early 1600s. That’s a gap of about fourteen generations. But what if the original Knights Templar didn’t just suddenly disappear?

	In Portugal, the Templars of Tomar simply changed their name to the Order of Christ in 1318 and continued on for another 592 years until 1910, when the Portuguese monarchy ended. The order was revived again in 1917.

	Most of the Knights Templar and their properties were merged into the Order of the Knights of the Hospital of Saint John of Jerusalem, or the Knights Hospitaller. In Scotland, some sources claim that the combined Templar and Hospitaller order continued on as The Order of the Temple and Saint John until the Scottish Reformation in the sixteenth century. The original Templars, although no longer going by the same name, could certainly have maintained whatever secrets or customs they may have held previously and passed them on to future generations.

	The oldest records from any Masonic lodge in the world are from Aitchison’s-Haven Lodge on the outskirts of Edinburgh, Scotland, and the second-oldest minutes are from the Lodge of Edinburgh (Mary’s Chapel) No. 1. Both sets of minutes are from the year 1599, but are technically from the original operative stonemasons. Eventually, both lodges began to allow non-operative, or speculative, members, and at that point, they began to transform into Masonic lodges. 

	Both of these lodges were less than 10 miles (16.1 km) from the original Knights Templar preceptory (headquarters) in Scotland at Balantrodoch. The ruins of Balantrodoch are within the modern village of Temple (named after the Templars), where my five times great-grandfather, John Calder, was buried. I reached out to a local Temple village historian named Archie Young, who searched the old burial records book of the burial grounds of Temple and found a J. Calder who fit the timeframe perfectly.

	Rosslyn Chapel is less than 3.7 miles (6 km) from Temple (Balantrodoch). This chapel is featured in the climax of the book and movie The Da Vinci Code. It was founded in 1446 by Sir William Sinclair, 1st Earl of Caithness and 2nd Lord Sinclair. Even though I’m a Sinclair by blood, I found no records of my Sinclair ancestors living near Rosslyn. My Calder relatives, however, were all from that area. I’ve traced the earlier generations of my Sinclair ancestors to the northern tip of the Scottish Highlands in Caithness.

	Sir William Sinclair’s grandfather, Sir Henry I St. Clair, Earl of Orkney, Lord of Roslin, is often referred to as Prince Henry Sinclair. There are many who believe that he sailed to North America almost one hundred years before Christopher Columbus. In fact, Prince Henry Sinclair continues to be one of the most popular suspects for being responsible for the workings on Oak Island.

	Interestingly, Sir Henry St. Clair’s eighth great-grandson, Sir William St. Clair, 19th Baron of Roslin, became Scotland’s first Masonic Grand Master when various Scottish Masonic lodges formed the Grand Lodge of Scotland in 1736.

	Mother Kilwinning Lodge No. 0 is located in Ayrshire, Scotland. Although its earliest recorded minutes are from 1642, the history of the lodge is much older, with tradition stating that the operative stonemason lodge began with the building of Kilwinning Abbey in 1140. Kilwinning Lodge has long been considered the Mother Lodge of Scotland.

	In 2009, accomplished writer and historical researcher AJ Morton authored a thesis that provides new research into the Knights Templar and Knights Hospitaller and their connection to the medieval craft guild of masons at Kilwinning on the west coast of Scotland. This paper was well received among the academic community and was even brought to the attention of the Scottish parliament, yet very few people outside of Scotland know about it.

	In 2011 Morton wrote to me that he is quite sure that his thesis proved once and for all a historical connection between the original Templars and the modern Freemasons at Kilwinning. He goes on to explain that Kilwinning Lodge No. 0 is surrounded by former Templar properties. More recently, Morton wrote a book that details his research. It is titled The Templars of Medieval Scotland & the Catholic Origins of Scottish Freemasonry.


  
The Masonic Stone of 1606

  
	Nova Scotia certainly has one of the most Masonic histories of any country, state, or province in the world. The very earliest Masonic connection could be the Stone of 1606 that was found on Granville shore near Annapolis Royal in 1827.

	Annapolis Royal, originally called Port Royal, was the second permanent European settlement in all of North America, after Saint Augustine in Florida. Port Royal was established by French colonists under Pierre Dugua, Sieur de Mons in 1605.

	The size of the Stone of 1606 is not that different from the alleged 90-foot Stone, which is said to have been discovered deep in the Money Pit on Oak Island. The Stone of 1606 was described in 1829 as being about 2.5 feet (0.8 m) long and 2 feet (0.6 m) wide. According to a paper titled “The Masonic Stone of Port Royal, 1606” by former Masonic Grand Master of Nova Scotia Reginald V. Harris, we’re also told that “on the upper part are engraved the square and compasses of the Free Mason, and in the center, in large and deep Arabic figures the date 1606.”

	The man who discovered the stone, celebrated chemist and geologist Dr. Charles T. Jackson, also records that “it bore the Masonic emblems, square and compass.”

	The stone was originally given to Nova Scotian judge and Freemason Thomas Haliburton for safekeeping. In 1856 Haliburton gave the stone to his son Robert Grant Haliburton, and in 1868, it was loaned to  Sandford Fleming, the founder of the Royal Canadian Institute for Science in Toronto. It was put on display in the museum of the institute. In 1876 construction began on a new building to house the Royal Canadian Institute at the corner of Richmond Street and Berti Street in downtown Toronto. The address eventually became 58 Richmond Street East.

	As the construction was progressing, Dr. Charles Scadding gave instructions to the workers to build the Stone of 1606 into the wall of one of the principal rooms, with the inscription exposed. Unfortunately, one of the workers covered it with mortar and the location could not be rediscovered. Sandford Fleming was devastated and offered a $1,000 reward if the stone could be found. Mortar was uncovered in various locations, but with no success.

	Just two years later, the future Sir Sandford Fleming was in this building when he developed and outlined his proposal for standard time and time zones. When standard time was eventually adopted around the world as a universal system, a plaque was added to the corner of the building, marking the site as the birthplace of standard time.

	When the building was sold in 1905 to the Sons of England Benevolent Society, it was agreed that, if the stone should ever be found, they would contact the Royal Canadian Institute. In his 1950 paper, Reginald V. Harris states that this “priceless stone” should never have left Nova Scotia, and if the building should ever be taken down, the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia should see to it that the stone is returned to Nova Scotia.

	Sadly, the building was demolished during the late 1970s apparently without the knowledge of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, and a much more modern building is now in its place as a Toronto Paramedic Services station.



  
Was the World’s First Freemason Initiated in Nova Scotia?

  
William Alexander was an intellectual and poet from Menstrie, Scotland, who joined the court of King James VI in Edinburgh. Alexander became a favourite of the king and was asked to tutor his son Prince Henry. When James VI became the king of England and Scotland in 1603, he brought William Alexander with him to his new court in London. Alexander was knighted in 1609, and in 1621, he was granted the future colony of New Scotland, which included all the lands between New England and Newfoundland.

	As a way to encourage colonization of New Scotland, King James VI decided to bestow the dignity of baronet on any Scottish person who would pay a certain amount for settlers to set up residence in New Scotland for at least two years. The baronets of Nova Scotia would then become landowners. King James VI died in 1625, but the practice continued with the baronetcies under his son Charles I.

	Reginald V. Harris, in his Freemasonry in Canada before 1750, tells us that “associated with Sir William as ‘undertakers’ were Sir Alexander Strachan of Thorntoun, Sir Anthony Alexander, his son, and William, Earl Marshal.” We’re also told that “after exploratory expeditions and financial difficulties which threatened to frustrate the venture, Sir William sent out his son, also known as Sir William, with four vessels containing seventy-two settlers.”

	It wasn’t until the summer of 1629 that William Alexander Jr. arrived at Port Royal and set up the new colony of Charlesfort, named after King Charles I. William Jr. was the leader of the colony until the land came under French control in 1632.

	Harris also tells us that “in the minutes of the Lodge of Edinburgh is found the record, that on ‘the 3rd day off Joulay [July], 1634’ Lord Alexander, the younger, Sir Alexander Strachan of Thorntoun, and Sir Anthony Alexander, who was at the time ‘Master of the Work’ to Charles I, were ‘admitted fellows off the Craft.’” These three men are now widely known as the first three speculative Freemasons in the world. However, the degree of “Fellow of the Craft” or Fellowcraft is considered to be the second degree in both operative and very early speculative masonry. According to the Schaw Statutes of 1599, which presumably pertained to only operative masons at that time, an Entered Apprentice or E.A. should serve four years before being admitted as a Fellowcraft or F.C. As no other record of Lord Alexander’s Masonic career has been found, it has been suggested that he may have been initiated in his Nova Scotia colony. These same craftsmen later took a most active interest in the affairs of the Lodge of Edinburgh.



  
Early Freemasons in Nova Scotia

  
The first well-documented Freemason known to have settled in North America is a man by the name of John Skene. Skene is listed as a Mason of Lodge Aberdeen No. 1 in 1670. Lodge Aberdeen No. 1 is one of the four oldest Masonic lodges in Scotland. Skene emigrated to North America in 1682 and settled in New Jersey, where he became deputy governor.

	It’s interesting that Dr. William Skene was a founding member of the very first Masonic lodge in Canada at Annapolis Royal in Nova Scotia. Reginald V. Harris tells us that Dr. William Skene was a member of the same Aberdeen family as John Skene, prominent in the records of Lodge Aberdeen No. 1. Dr. William Skene was attached to the garrison at Annapolis Royal as a surgeon as early as 1715. He also became a member of the very first Nova Scotia governor council in 1720 under Governor Richard Philipps.

	Dr. William Skene was actually a member of five consecutive governor councils from 1720 to 1749, all of which were predominantly made up of Freemasons. From 1725 to 1739, Nova Scotia Lieutenant-Governor Lawrence Armstrong’s entire council was made up of Freemasons, including Erasmus James Philipps, the nephew of former Governor Richard Philipps and the first Masonic Grand Master of Nova Scotia.

	From 1739 to 1740, the Lieutenant-Governor was Alexander Cosby, and all six members of his governing council, Paul Mascarene, Erasmus James Philipps, John Adams, William Shirreff, William Skene, and Otho Hamilton, were members of the first lodge at Annapolis Royal. When Paul Mascarene became Lieutenant-Governor in 1740, all five of the men mentioned above remained on his governing council, and Mascarene even added a couple more Freemasons to it, including John Gorham and John Handfield.

	In 1749 the City of Halifax was founded by British military officer and Freemason Edward Cornwallis. Cornwallis also became Lieutenant-Governor of Nova Scotia that year and remained so until 1752. In 1750 when Saint Andrew’s Lodge No. 1 was formed, Cornwallis became its first lodge master. Cornwallis was briefly replaced by Governor Peregrine Hopson, before Freemason Charles Lawrence became Lieutenant-Governor. In 1752 Charles Lawrence became lodge master of Saint Andrew’s Lodge No. 1 and held that position for eight years.

	Royal Arch Freemasonry has existed in Nova Scotia since at least 1794, but the earliest Royal Arch Chapter known to exist in North America was in Jonathan Prescott’s hometown of Boston. It was called Saint Andrew’s Royal Arch Chapter and was established in 1769. This Royal Arch Chapter developed out of Saint Andrew’s Lodge, which had been warranted in 1756 through the Grand Lodge of Scotland. The first lodge master of Saint Andrew’s Lodge, from 1756 to 1760, was a man named Isaac DeCoster. DeCoster had almost certainly attained the Royal Arch degree, as this degree was then conferred on past lodge masters within the Antient system of Freemasonry. According to the book Exercises Commemorating the One Hundred Fiftieth Anniversary of the Organization of St. Andrews Royal Arch Chapter, Boston, Massachusetts, published in 1920, as of 1762 “a sufficient number of members have arrived to that sublime degree (of Royal Arch).” DeCoster is known to have become a Freemason at Annapolis Royal lodge around 1738. After 1760 DeCoster was also affiliated with a Masonic lodge in Halifax.



  
A New Jerusalem in Nova Scotia

  
Colonel Alexander McNutt was a British army officer, colonizer, and land agent. In the late 1750s, McNutt worked for Thomas Hancock, the uncle of US Founding Father John Hancock, and was the Boston agent of Nova Scotia Governor Charles Lawrence. In 1761 McNutt recruited about fifty families from New Hampshire to the area of Truro, Nova Scotia, where they received land grants. These families included my extended Archibald family, which included future Onslow Company treasure hunters Colonel Robert Archibald and his son David. Like McNutt, the Archibalds had originally come from Northern Ireland.

	In 1765, McNutt applied for 100,000 acres (404.7 km2) of land in Nova Scotia at a place called Port Roseway, between Barrington and Liverpool townships. This is about 150 kilometres from Oak Island by sea. This land grant application was made on behalf of several prominent men in Philadelphia, including Benjamin Franklin. Along with being a Freemason in Philadelphia, Franklin was also the master of a well-known Masonic lodge in Paris called Les Neuf Sœurs, or The Nine Sisters. The name is in reference to the nine muses in Greek mythology. Various sources also state that Franklin belonged to at least one Rosicrucian group.

	In the application, McNutt stated that this land would be the foundation for a new city or town named New Jerusalem.

	The idea of a New Jerusalem originally comes from the Bible and is mentioned in the Book of Revelations, which talks about the end times. It is written that the New Jerusalem will come down out of heaven from God and unite heaven and earth. Only the true believers and followers of Jesus will be allowed to enter it.

	Much within Masonic ritual involves the building of King Solomon’s Temple in the Old City of Jerusalem. One of the earliest known higher Masonic degrees to come out of France was called the Grand Council of the Illustrious & Most Valiant Princes of Jerusalem. It became the modern 16th degree of the Scottish Rite of Freemasonry and is still called Prince of Jerusalem. Within Masonry, the New Jerusalem is seen as the “celestial lodge above,” which is a Masonic term for heaven.

	Knowing that Benjamin Franklin was such a prominent Freemason, I wondered if he might have had anything to do with the proposed name of the new town. I found reference that the grant was awarded to Alexander McNutt and his Philadelphia group, and in 1775, there was a public auction of some of this land at the house of Mr. John Rider. John Rider was also a prominent Freemason in Nova Scotia. The same reference says that the land was granted to Alexander McNutt but was later the property of Benjamin Gerrish, another early Freemason in Nova Scotia.

	As it turns out, the American Revolution significantly interfered with the plans of the Philadelphia group, and the remaining Port Roseway land became the modern town of Shelburne. Outside of Halifax, Shelburne had one of the oldest Masonic lodges in Nova Scotia. It was founded the same year as Chester Lodge No. 9 near Oak Island. The Shelburne lodge was named Parr Lodge No. 3.

	An island in the bay leading to what would have been Port Roseway was named Roseneath Island in the late 1700s. With a name like that, one really has to wonder if something of Masonic or Rosicrucian significance may have been buried there. Roseneath is a short way of saying “neath the rose” or “beneath the rose” and comes from the Latin term sub rosa and denotes secrecy. It goes back to Greek and Roman mythology where roses became associated with secrecy because the god Eros gave a rose to the god Harpocrates (god of silence, secrets, and confidentiality) so that he would not reveal the indiscretions of the goddess Aphrodite. Later, dining rooms had roses carved in the ceiling reportedly to remind guests that what was said at the table should be kept confidential. Roses were also said to have been carved over church confessionals.

	Roseneath Island is now called McNutts Island. The oldest and only year-round residence on the island is called the New Jerusalem Farm.

	Apparently, Benjamin Franklin was not content with the land shares he received at Port Roseway. According to the US National Archives’s Founders Online website, Franklin also petitioned the Privy Council in 1766 for a grant of 20,000 acres (80.9 km2) in Nova Scotia in his own name.

	Anthony Wayne was a US army general and a surveyor. He was sent to Nova Scotia by Benjamin Franklin to survey the land that Franklin owned. The Historical Society of Pennsylvania has in its collection the papers of a man named John Hughes. Within these papers is correspondence between Hughes and Anthony Wayne regarding Franklin’s land project. The letters range from 1763 to 1769. Could these letters reveal the location of the acreage Franklin owned?

	Historian F. F. Tupper states, in his publication Historic Liverpool, that Benjamin Franklin’s agent, Anthony Wayne, had a connection with the Liverpool Masonic lodge. According to John G. Leefe’s research paper titled “Freemasonry in early Liverpool Township 1760–1807,” there were several Freemasons in Liverpool from the beginning of the settlement in 1759, and Simeon Perkins (who was a Mason for over seventy years) describes in his diary the beginning of a Masonic lodge in Liverpool in 1766. This would fit perfectly with when Anthony Wayne was in Nova Scotia. One of the interesting things about the lodges in Liverpool is that most of their members were privateers or legalized pirates.

	The first lodge warranted by the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia in Liverpool was Hibernia Lodge No. 27 in 1798. The second lodge in Liverpool was Zetland Lodge, which I talked about with regard to the walking stick.



  
Oak Island Briefly Named After a Freemason

  
Oak Island was even briefly named for a Freemason on at least one map in 1778. Joseph Frederick Wallet DesBarres was a Swiss-born map-maker who went on to become Lieutenant-Governor of Cape Breton Island in 1784. In his younger years, he attended the Royal Military Academy at Woolwich in England—the same academy that Adam Fife, a man with a very interesting connection to Oak Island, had attended.

	In 1778 DesBarres had published his Atlantic Neptune, which was a series of maps and sea charts for use by the Royal Navy of Great Britain. On the map showing Mahone Bay, DesBarres named Oak Island “Gloucester Island.” This is the only known map to have referred to Oak Island as Gloucester Island. Earlier it had been known as Island 28 or Smith’s Island.

	In 1778, “Gloucester” would have to be in reference to Prince William Henry, Duke of Gloucester and Edinburgh. He was the grandson of King George II and a younger brother of King George III. Prince William Henry had become a Freemason in February 1766.

	Freemasonry may have taken root in old Scotland, but it certainly flourished in New Scotland or Nova Scotia. As we’ve seen, Freemasons have played a prominent role in Nova Scotia’s early history, with a majority of its political leaders also being Masonic Masters and Grand Masters. One might think that belonging to a secretive group such as the Masons and holding such powerful positions within the government might give these men the means to carry out a possible secret agenda.

	Over a century later, in the 1860s, when newspapers began reporting the discovery of a mysterious deep pit on a particular island in Nova Scotia, it happened to attract an inordinately high number of Freemasons. As we’ll see over the coming pages, there was good reason for this attraction.
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  Chapter 7 Pre-1795 Freemasons on Oak Island



	At least one-third of the lots on Oak Island were owned by Freemasons prior to the discovery of the Money Pit in 1795, and as we’ll see, two of the very earliest lot owners had direct connections with the Belcher family. As I showed in chapter 4, they were not only among the leaders of Freemasonry in both New England and Nova Scotia, but also very likely involved in depositing treasure on Oak Island.

	Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence was the master of Saint Andrew’s Lodge No. 1 in Halifax beginning in 1753. On December 27, 1753, Lawrence officially granted Island 28 (later called Oak Island) to the New York fishing agents John Gifford and Richard Smith. They arrived in Mahone Bay in May 1754.

	This was the very first grant involving Oak Island that we know of, and it was granted by a Freemason on one of the two most important Masonic days of the year. December 27 is the feast day of Saint John the Evangelist. The other most important day is June 24 or the feast day of Saint John the Baptist.

	December 27 has historically been the day when Freemasons begin auspicious undertakings. It is the time of year when the winter solstice has just passed, and we start to see more and more light each day until the summer solstice, which is important to Freemasons as it symbolizes the journey from the darkness of ignorance toward the light of knowledge and wisdom. This journey is both intellectual and spiritual. During the eighteenth century, the Grand Lodge of Scotland and the Antient Grand Lodge of England routinely installed their Grand Masters and granted new lodges their warrants on December 27.

	The United Grand Lodge of England was formed on December 27, 1813, and Chester Lodge No. 9 near Oak Island was granted its warrant on December 27, 1784.

	On that very same day of December 27, 1753, when Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence granted Island 28 (Oak Island) to Gifford and Smith from New York, a man named George Harrison was being installed as the Masonic Provincial Grand Master of New York at Trinity Church.

	Jonathan Belcher Jr. also became a member of Saint Andrew’s Lodge in Halifax, after moving to Nova Scotia from Ireland. He was on Lawrence’s council in 1759 when Lawrence issued the Shoreham Grant that offered free land grants to colonists from New England in the area that became Chester, Nova Scotia, including Oak Island.

	In 1760, Jonathan Belcher Jr. replaced Lawrence as the Lieutenant-Governor of Nova Scotia, and also became the most powerful Freemason in Nova Scotia as the Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia.

	It’s also quite remarkable to look at Jonathan Belcher Jr.’s graduating class at Harvard in 1728. Not only did Jonathan Jr. (Captain Andrew Belcher’s grandson) graduate with Sir William Phips’s own grandson (also named William), but also with his good friend Jonathan Seccombe, who later became the very first known lot owner on Oak Island.

	According to Seccombe’s diary, he drew lot 7 on Oak Island on June 17, 1765. Belcher and Seccombe stayed exceptionally good friends for the rest of their lives. Not long after Jonathan Seccombe arrived in Chester, he noted in his diary that he dined with a lodge of Freemasons. He often wrote that he visited his good friend, governor and Masonic Grand Master Jonathan Belcher Jr. Jonathan Seccombe’s diary can be found in the Nova Scotia Archives (MG1 Vol. 797C; microfilms 10,995 and 10,996).

	The very first Masonic lodge meeting near Oak Island occurred on December 8, 1784, and was led by a man named Adam Fife. Fife was from Scotland and was a member of the Royal Regiment of Artillery.

	I discovered records stating that, in 1781, Adam Fife was asked to attend a meeting of the Antient Grand Lodge of England in New York. This is apparently the only recorded meeting outside of England in the history of the Antient Grand Lodge of England.

	In July 1781, Lodge No. 213 of the Antient Grand Lodge of England was created within the 4th Battalion of the Royal Regiment of Artillery, and Adam Fife was chosen as the lodge’s first master. The warrant for this lodge was issued by the Grand Master of the Antient Grand Lodge of England, John Murray, 4th Duke of Atholl. Interestingly, during the previous three years, John Murray had also been the Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of Scotland.

	While in New York in 1781, Adam Fife became a founding member of the Grand Lodge of New York, and according to a July 1783 letter preserved by the Grand Lodge of New York Committee on Antiquities, he was also a senior member of the first Grand Chapter of the Royal Arch Masons in New York.

	The letter mentioned above, which came from three representatives of the Grand Chapter of Royal Arch Masons, including Adam Fife, and was sent to the first Grand Master of the Provincial Grand Lodge of New York, is shown as item No. 4 in the Grand Lodge’s collection of original autographed letters. The letter shown right before it as item No. 3 is a signed letter written by the future first US president, George Washington, from his “Head Quarters at Morris Town” to Colonel Green on Rhode Island in February 1780.

	Another interesting thing about this collection of documents at the Grand Lodge of New York is that, out of the hundreds of documents in their possession, there is only one in relation to all of Nova Scotia. That document just happens to be a Master Mason’s certificate issued in February 1787 by Chester Lodge No. 9. It is signed by three men, of which two were Oak Island lot owners in 1787, including the master of the lodge at that time, Alexander Pattillo. Pattillo’s original 235-plus-year-old Masonic apron is currently displayed on a wall in Clarke Lodge No. 61 in Chester, Nova Scotia.

	Adam Fife was likely, for a time, under the command of General William Phillips in the Royal Artillery, and they were definitely together in New York in 1781. Years earlier, in 1756, Phillips was asked to raise a company of miners, whom he obtained from Cornwall and Newcastle upon Tyne in England, for the defence of Fort St. Phillip at the port of Mahón in Minorca against the French. In total, there were 229 miners under his command. However, before they could reach the island, the French capitulated. The miners were no longer needed, but instead of disbanding them, Phillips kept many in the 4th Battalion of the Royal Artillery, while sending others to other artillery units. So, we know that Adam Fife’s battalion included many experienced miners who specialized in working near the water.

	After Adam Fife held the lodge meeting in Chester, a report was sent to the provincial Grand Lodge who issued a warrant on December 27, 1784, for the formation of Chester Lodge No. 9.

	The petition to form this lodge was made by eight existing Master Masons: William Kennedy, Thomas Thomson, Anthony Thickpenny, Franklin G. Etter, James Sharp, Alexander Pattillo, James Anderson, and Roger English. Soon after joining the Chester lodge, both Alexander Pattillo and James Sharp would purchase lots on Oak Island. Pattillo purchased lots 1 and 27, and Sharp purchased lot 28.

	It’s not recorded when William Kennedy became a Master Mason, but according to the Chester Lodge No. 9 records, Thomas Thomson became a Master Mason in Scotland, and Anthony Thickpenny became a Master Mason in England. Franklin G. Etter, who had been named after Benjamin Franklin, became a Master Mason in New York in 1777. James Sharp became a Master Mason in Scotland in 1777, and Alexander Pattillo also became a Master Mason in Scotland on an unrecorded date.

	Like Adam Fife, Thomas Thomson was a member of the Royal Regiment of Artillery, where he was a sergeant. Thomson, who was a Freemason in Scotland, was voted in as the first master of Chester Lodge No. 9 in December 1784. He would go on to serve as an officer in the Chester lodge for twenty-two years, including eleven years as master of the lodge.

	There were actually two James Andersons who joined Chester Lodge No. 9 on the same night. The man whose name is recorded in the lodge records as James Anderson Jr. was one of the eight founding members. He became a Master Mason in Scotland. The more well-known Captain James Anderson Sr., whose sea-chest was shown on The Curse of Oak Island, was an Entered Apprentice Mason in Maryland and became a Fellowcraft Mason in the Chester lodge during the first meeting.

	The last member of the original eight founders of the lodge was a man named Roger English. He became a Master Mason in Cape Breton in 1762. Roger English was a sergeant major in the 45th Regiment of Foot and served at the second siege of Louisbourg in 1758. There were Masonic lodges known to be at Louisbourg, and this is almost certainly where English became a Mason. It’s interesting to note that Erasmus James Philipps, the very first Grand Master of the Provincial Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, also served in the 45th Regiment.

	During that first meeting, three men were raised from Fellowcraft Masons to Master Masons. One of these men was Dr. Jonathan Prescott, the former lodge brother of Jonathan Belcher Sr., who had been initiated and passed at Saint John’s Lodge in Boston. Prescott received the first and second degrees at Saint John’s Lodge. He was just not yet a Master Mason.

	Dr. Jonathan Prescott was not only a surgeon, but also the captain of the engineers in the first siege of Louisbourg in 1745. Prescott’s uncle Peter Prescott, who also was a Freemason at Saint John’s Lodge, served as a captain in the first siege of Louisbourg but lost his life during that conflict.

	It’s interesting to note that Dr. Jonathan Prescott’s grandfather, Major Jonathan Prescott (1677–1729), was a long-time member of the Massachusetts government during the same time as Captain Andrew Belcher. Belcher was a representative of Boston, and Prescott was the representative of Concord.

	Jonathan Prescott became one of the very first lot owners on Oak Island in 1765. He owned two lots on Oak Island: 8 and 22.

	The other two men who were raised from Fellowcraft Masons to Master Masons during that first Chester lodge meeting were John Hutton and Phillip De Beast. Hutton is recorded as having become a Fellowcraft Mason in Scotland. De Beast’s previous Masonic history is unknown.

	In addition, three men were passed from Entered Apprentices to Fellowcraft Masons during this December 8, 1784, meeting. They were James Green, James Anderson Sr. (whose sea-chest I mentioned before), and James Brichan. James Green is recorded as having received his Entered Apprentice degree in New York. Captain James Anderson Sr. is recorded as having received his Entered Apprentice degree in Maryland, and James Brichan received his Entered Apprentice degree in Scotland. Captain James Anderson Sr. became an Oak Island lot owner very soon after joining Chester Lodge No. 9. He owned lot 26.



  [image: A diagram of Oak Island showing the lot divisions, numbered from one to thirty-two. Lot one is in the far north-west of the island and lot twenty is at the far east end of the island. Lots  twenty-one to thirty-two run along the south side. Here, the map is rotated to better fit the page. The shaded lots were owned by pre-1795 Freemasons. (Of note, lot 22 should also be shaded).]
  The shaded lots shown here were owned by pre-1795 Freemasons.


	Finally, there were two men who petitioned and were initiated as Entered Apprentices to the lodge during this first meeting. These were Captain James Kinghorn and William Miller. Captain Kinghorn already owned lot 4 on Oak Island when he joined Chester Lodge No. 9.

	Two years later, in 1786, Alexander McNeil also joined the Chester lodge. McNeil had already owned lot 20 on Oak Island since 1784, and in 1786, he purchased lot 4 from his very-soon-to-be lodge brother Captain James Kinghorn. McNeil also purchased lot 21 in 1790.

	So, six Freemasons from the Chester lodge owned at least nine of the thirty-two lots on Oak Island prior to the 1795 discovery of the Money Pit. That’s close to 30 percent of the island. Also, like Adam Fife, at least six of the original sixteen members of the lodge (including three of the Oak Island lot owners) were from Scotland.

	I even found evidence that Jonathan Belcher Jr., Dr. Jonathan Prescott, and Adam Fife attended the same church (St. Matthew’s) in Halifax, where Belcher’s good friend Reverend Jonathan Seccombe sometimes preached. This church is only a short walk from the Grand Masonic lodge building in Halifax.

	I’ve also uncovered some intriguing clues to indicate that the percentage of Freemasons on Oak Island may have been significantly higher.

	Those familiar with the Oak Island mystery will know that Casper Wollenhaupt is a key person of interest. He was the man who owned lot 18 on Oak Island at the time the Money Pit was discovered. We know that John Smith, one of the three discoverers, purchased lot 18 from Wollenhaupt on June 6, 1795.

	In reading Reginald V. Harris’s book History of St. Andrew’s Lodge, I discovered that Wollenhaupt’s son Henry joined this lodge in 1821. Henry was born in about 1788, so he would have been about thirty-three when he joined the lodge. Henry’s daughter Mary Gertrude Wollenhaupt was born the following year in 1822.

	Traditionally, one of the foremost reasons for a man to become a Freemason is to follow in his father’s footsteps. This of course makes me wonder if Casper Wollenhaupt was a Freemason himself. He certainly wasn’t a member of Chester Lodge No. 9 or St. Andrew’s Lodge in Halifax, but he could have been a member of another Nova Scotian lodge.

	The Chester lodge records also show that John Lynch became a member in 1798. Daniel Lynch also joined Chester Lodge No. 9 a year after his brother in 1799. John and Daniel were sons of Timothy Lynch, who owned lot 19, next to the Money Pit lot, from 1768 to 1783. The two brothers joined the Chester lodge after the discovery of the Money Pit, but at that point, it was still just a 30-foot (9.1 m) hole. The Onslow Company did not get involved until 1803. This adds two more potential Freemasons, now owning eleven of the thirty-two lots, including the site of the subterranean vault.

	There’s another intriguing mystery within the greater mystery that I discovered, and this involves the existence of a letter that is said to be in the possession of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia.

	Back in 2007, I had been doing one of my eBay searches and came across what was titled Catalogue of Ancient Masonic Documents in Possession of the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia, published in 1890. I, of course, quickly purchased this catalogue and scanned through all the listed documents.

	One document, simply titled “Letter from Eliza Melvin, Chester … 5th September 1797,” quickly caught my attention. I had done extensive genealogical research into the Melvin family and knew that Eliza was short for Elizabeth Melvin and that she had married Nathaniel Melvin in 1795. Nathaniel Melvin owned lots 13, 14, and 17 on Oak Island as of October 1790. Lot 17 is, of course, next to lot 18 where the Money Pit is located. This family in Chester had eventually purchased many of the lots on Oak Island.

	Like Casper Wollenhaupt, Nathaniel Melvin’s father, Robert Melvin, has long been a person of significant interest to me in regard to the Oak Island mystery. Robert Melvin was originally from Concord, Massachusetts, and was a lieutenant in the 4th Massachusetts Militia Regiment. He came to Chester, Nova Scotia, with Dr. Jonathan Prescott, Reverend John Seccombe, and their families. As stated previously, Seccombe drew the very first lot on Oak Island in 1765. The very first sale of a lot on Oak Island was this same lot 7, which Seccombe sold to Robert Melvin in November 1767.

	Robert Melvin would go on to own ten lots on Oak Island, including lot 19, next to the lot with the Money Pit, which he purchased from Timothy Lynch in 1784. Between Robert and his son Nathaniel, the Melvin family owned thirteen lots, or 40 percent of the island prior to the discovery of the Money Pit. That’s why I was interested in this mysterious letter from Nathaniel Melvin’s wife Eliza to the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia in 1797.

	Eliza Melvin’s maiden name was Marvin, and two of her brothers joined Chester Lodge No. 9 around the same time as the Lynch brothers: Josiah Marvin in 1798 and William Marvin in 1800. Melvin, however, wrote the letter to the Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia ten months before her brother Josiah joined the Chester lodge. If the missing letter does show that Eliza’s husband Nathaniel Melvin was a Mason, this could indicate that fourteen of the thirty-two lots on Oak Island, or about 44 percent of the island, were owned by pre-1795 Freemasons.

	As a sidenote, in November 1797, Josiah Marvin married Mary Brimmer Anderson, the widow of the Chester lodge Freemason, Oak Island lot owner, and known pirate Captain James Anderson. According to Anderson’s Masonic document, which I examined at his great-great-great-grandson’s home in Wolfville, Nova Scotia, in 2009, Captain Anderson died in the West Indies in 1796.

	It’s unknown where Captain Anderson was born, but he was living in the area of Fell’s Point in Baltimore, Maryland, in the later 1770s during the American Revolution. He is known to have taken the patriot’s oath and was given command of a ship called the Baltimore. Not long after, he changed sides and was given command of a Loyalist (British) ship.

	In late 1779, Captain Anderson was captured and imprisoned in Virginia. In early 1780, the Virginia governor’s council wrote to Governor (and future US president) Thomas Jefferson about Anderson and charged him with high treason. At the time, the punishment would have been a very grisly execution, but instead Captain Anderson was given a pass.

	With so many Freemasons on both sides of the American Revolution, I would think that Captain Anderson’s Masonic membership may have saved his life. In an article appearing in the Journal and Correspondence of the Council of Maryland in 1781, it states that Anderson was described through a witness deposition as having worn a “handsome Bristol Stone Freemason broach on the breast of his shirt.”

	Captain Anderson made his way to New York later in 1781, and eventually to Halifax by 1783. He was later in the Chester area of Nova Scotia and joined Chester Lodge No. 9 in December 1784. Shortly after, in 1785, he received lot 26 on Oak Island.

	The exploits of Captain James Anderson were detailed in season 5, episode 2 of The Curse of Oak Island, titled “Dead Man’s Chest.” Members of the Fellowship of the Dig travelled to investigate Captain Anderson’s old sea-chest that I had examined nine years previous. The only real item of interest in the chest was a Masonic document from Chester Lodge No. 9 dated June 24, 1791, stating “To all whom it may concern, we do hereby certify that Brother James Anderson is a Regular Registered Master Mason in the Lodge No. 9 on the Registry of Nova Scotia and has during his stay amongst us behaved himself as became an honest Brother. And as such we recommend him to all worthy Brethren whersoever providence may order his lott.” It was signed by the lodge secretary Thomas Thomson and lodge master Roger English.

	Further on lot ownership, just weeks before I made my presentations on the island in the fall of 2021, Doug Crowell asked me if I knew anything about a man named Benjamin Bridge. I knew that Bridge originally came to Nova Scotia from Massachusetts and that he was a Freemason.

	Crowell told me that he found a historical deed registry document showing that Benjamin Bridge had owned half of Oak Island (then called Island 28) in 1762. I was able to locate an old newspaper clipping that verified this claim. Of course, this news was very exciting to me, as it showed that a Freemason had owned half of Oak Island after Gifford and Smith but before Seccombe and Prescott, and well before the discovery of the Money Pit.



  [image: A partial family tree highlighting the close family relationship between the first Masonic Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New York (Rev. Dr. William Walter) to the family of Oak Island treasure hunter Simeon Lynds, as well as Rev. Walter’s relationship to Dr. Jonathan Prescott, an early Freemason and Oak Island lot owner.]
  Relationship between 1st Masonic Grand Master of New York to Jonathan Prescott and Simeon Lynds.


	As I started doing some research into Benjamin Bridge, I quickly discovered that he was a cousin of Jonathan Belcher Jr. Actually, Bridge’s grandfather and Captain Andrew Belcher were first cousins. Even more incredibly, I discovered that Benjamin Bridge was an assistant surveyor to Charles Morris when Morris first surveyed Mahone Bay in 1762, under the orders of Jonathan Belcher Jr.

	Unfortunately, about five months later, I received a note from Doug Crowell, saying that upon further research into the later deed records, the 1762 deed record that shows that Benjamin Bridge owned half of Island 28 (Oak Island) almost certainly had Island 28 written in error.

	If Bridge had owned half of Oak Island in 1762, it would have fit perfectly with my overall research, especially since Bridge was a known Freemason from Massachusetts and was directly related to the Belcher family. However, if it isn’t true, as Crowell now states, it doesn’t take away from any of the previous Masonic connections I’ve discovered.

	I also still consider Benjamin Bridge to be a person of interest as he arrived in Chester with Robert Melvin  and a fellow Freemason, Jonathan Prescott. In 1764 Thomas Thomson, the eventual first master of Chester Lodge No. 9, made a copy of the Chester lot owners by name and lot number. Benjamin Bridge was the next-door neighbour of Dr. Jonathan Prescott, who also owned two lots on Oak Island.

	Dr. Jonathan Prescott had yet another very interesting family connection to both Oak Island and high-level Freemasonry. The first Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New York in 1781 was a man named Reverend Dr. William Walter. In 1766, Rev. Dr. Walter married Lydia Lynde in Massachusetts. Lydia Lynde was not only a cousin of my sixth great-grandmother Lydia Lynds, but also fairly closely related to Dr. Jonathan Prescott. She was also a close cousin of Thomas Lynds, the father of Onslow Company founder and Oak Island treasure hunter Simeon Lynds.

	All of this information was revealed to me from the early Oak Island lot ownership documents and copies of the original Chester Lodge No. 9 records.
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  Chapter 8 Oak Island Artifacts and Masonic Symbolism



	It isn’t, however, just the lot ownership that ties Oak Island to Freemasons. Let’s take a look at some of the artifacts and features on Oak Island that appear to be Masonic.


  
The Chief Symbol in Freemasonry

  
	There is likely no symbol more important or more widely used within Freemasonry than the triangle. In fact, Albert Pike, in his book Morals and Dogma of the Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite of Freemasonry, states that the triangle is the chief symbol in Masonry (1871, 826). Examples of triangles are not only found within various Masonic degree rituals, but also within the positioning of certain officers and furniture within the lodge room.

	In addition to the triangular plate of gold with the name of God inscribed on it that we will discuss later with regard to the vault of nine arches, there are also the obvious triangles created by the compass and square logo of Freemasonry. These interlocking triangles, one pointing up and the other pointing down, create a hexagon shape known as the Seal of Solomon or the Jewish Star of David.

	Within certain areas of Freemasonry, the triangle represents deity. Before a man can be initiated into Freemasonry, he must profess a belief in God or a higher power. As the majority of Masons in North America are Christians, they see the equilateral triangle representing the Trinity or Godhead of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit. The triangle can also refer to the ancient Egyptian gods Osiris, Isis, and their son Horus.

	The overlapping compass and square usually have the letter G in the middle. We’re told that the G is meant to represent both God and Geometry, as Freemasons sometimes refer to God as the “Great Geometrician of the Universe.”

	On Oak Island, there are quite a few examples of triangles. The one seen most often by viewers of The Curse of Oak Island is of course the triangular swamp, which does appear to have been shaped by people. When I first saw an aerial photo of the swamp around 2006, it immediately struck me how similar the shape was to a Masonic compass. Due to the curvature of the road and discolouration of the trees in areas on both sides of the swamp, I could easily envision a Masonic square creating a huge Masonic logo in the middle of the island. The vegetation in the centre of the swamp even seemed to be forming a letter G.

	The latter two shapes may be wishful thinking, but the shape of the swamp definitely resembles the upper compass portion of the Masonic logo. I, then, wanted to know what the standard angle was in the Masonic compass-and-square logo. The square is always ninety degrees, but I was a little disheartened to find that the compass is open to various degrees (usually within the sixty-to-eighty-degree range) in different logos. I then used the photo I had to measure the angle of the swamp, and it appears to be about seventy degrees, so it certainly fits within the traditional Masonic compass angles.

	Another triangle on Oak Island is the so-called Stone Triangle that was first discovered on the south shore by Captain John Welling, William Chappell, and Fred Blair in 1897. According to author D’Arcy O’Connor in Secret Treasure of Oak Island, Welling and company interviewed earlier searchers and none of them knew of the triangle’s existence (2018, 185). The triangle was 10 feet (3 m) on all three sides. Unfortunately, the original Stone Triangle disappeared long ago. The one in place currently is a reconstruction.

	A new sign on the island marks the original location of the Stone Triangle and shows a visual of a rounded edge below the flat bottom of the triangle that makes it appear more like a sextant. There is also a median line of stones within the triangle which points exactly to true north. The apex of the triangle, however, points to the immediate area of the Money Pit.

	Some have suggested that the triangle may have been created by one of the early search groups as a guide to locating the Money Pit after they left the island. This makes sense, but why would they go to the trouble of indicating true north? Most people working on the island in the past believed it to have been created by the original depositors. Another possibility is that it could have been put there by Freemason and surveyor Charles Morris in 1762, when he first surveyed Mahone Bay.

	The so-called Mallon Triangle is much less known. It was first discovered in 1972 by a man named P. J. Mallon from Northern Ireland. It is three medium-sized stones arranged in a triangular formation with the sides being 10 feet (3 m) by 10 feet (3 m) by 9.5 feet (2.9 m). From what I was told, the formation no longer exists, but it was originally on the south shore about 480 feet (146.3 m) southeast of the Money Pit.



  [image: A close-up of a small, cleared area showing five medium sized fairly flat stones with three forming a triangle, each ten feet apart. The other two medium sized stones are near the bottom middle of the triangle. Seven additional smaller stones run from the top of the triangle to the bottom middle, and another four smaller stones are positioned across the bottom of the triangle. There are a number of broken branches or twigs strewn across the ground.]
  A rare photograph of the Mallon Triangle of stones on Oak Island c. 1974. (Danny Hennigar)


	According to an account in Rupert Furneaux’s book The Money Pit Mystery: The Costliest Treasure Hunt Ever (1972), the stones were difficult to see and covered in moss, but Mallon was specifically looking for a triangular formation in the area of the shoreline. Mr. Mallon told Furneaux that ancient Irish land drainage systems and gates in the drains were marked by either stone triangles or stone arrows. Mallon’s theory is not Masonic in any way, but simply states the triangles acted as pointers.

	There are also numerous triangles that are believed to have been carved on the so-called 90-foot Stone, said to have been found deep in the Money Pit in 1804 by the Onslow Company. The stone is believed to have shown two downward-pointing triangles, one downward-pointing triangle that has two lines through it, as if the creator crossed it out, two upward-pointing triangles, and three instances of three dots arranged to form upward-pointing triangles.

	According to the book Restoring the Temple of Vision: Cabalistic Freemasonry and Stuart Culture by Marsha Keith Schuchard, “Later Jacobite Masons utilized the emblem of three dots forming a triangle (⸫) as a sign of their membership in the fraternity” (2002, 741).

	The same three dots in the shape of a triangle were discovered on the so-called Malkuth (Kingdom) Stone that was dug up on Oak Island in the specific area predicted by researcher Petter Amundsen. Utilizing the Nolan’s Cross formation of five large boulders as half of a Tree of Life symbol, Amundsen determined where the other five boulders should be in relation to the known boulders. He and the team unearthed a small boulder in the exact area that he had predicted. Strangely, one side of this small boulder was perfectly flat, and on this flat side, Amundsen noticed three likely carved dots in the shape of a triangle. This triangle of dots also plays a part in my theory as explained in the next chapter.



  
Nolan’s Cross

  
Nolan’s Cross is a series of five very large boulders discovered by surveyor Fred Nolan on Oak Island in 1981. They form a large symmetrical Latin cross. Each boulder is about 9 feet (2.7 m) high and 8 feet (2.4 m) wide with a pointed top. The cross was measured by Nolan to be 720 feet (219.5 m) wide and 867 feet (264.3 m) long. At the intersection of the lines of the cross, Nolan also discovered a large flat stone that resembled a human head, which became known as the Headstone.



  
The G Stone

  
The G Stone often comes to people’s minds first, as it has been mentioned on the TV show more than once. This large granite stone with the letter G carved into it was discovered by accident in 1967 when workers were backfilling the Cave-in Pit between Smiths Cove and the Money Pit area with machinery. Dan Blankenship, who was keeping a close eye on things, noticed the stone with the carving and moved quickly to retrieve it. Blankenship was sure it wasn’t a hoax or a carving by a previous searcher as the side with the letter G had been embedded in the ground and a layer of lichen had grown around the rock where it had been jutting up from the ground (Finnan. Oak Island Secrets. 2002, 87–88).



  [image: A partial photo of the G Stone, showing the letter G surrounded by a dry putty-like material in a rectangular shape. The stone is surrounded by tall grass and just beyond the grass is Smith’s Cove, showing a sparce grouping of pine trees at the point. A small island can also be seen in the distance.]
  The G Stone with Smiths Cove in the background. Many people think this is a Masonic symbol, but this author disagrees. (scott clarke)


	The letter G is a part of the primary symbol of Freemasonry, along with the overlapping compass and square. But I personally don’t think the G Stone is Masonic in nature, mainly because the G is located way up in the top lefthand corner of the stone as if it was meant to be the start of a word. The first word or name that would seem fitting to me is the surname Gifford. John Gifford and Richard Smith were the very first recorded owners of Oak Island in 1753.

	As I mentioned previously, Gifford and Smith were granted Oak Island (then called Island 28) on December 27, 1753, by Nova Scotia Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence. At that time, Charles Lawrence was the master of Saint Andrew’s Lodge in Halifax. Not only does it seem strange to be conducting such business between Christmas and New Year’s, but December 27 is one of the two most important dates to all Freemasons.

	I’ve done some preliminary investigations into whether John Gifford and Richard Smith were Freemasons in New York. Thus far I’ve not been successful, as this information can only be verified through archived lodge records in New York. Unfortunately, pre-1782 lodge records in New York are very scarce.



  
The 90-foot Stone

  
	The so-called 90-foot Stone is perhaps the most famous of all the potentially Masonic artifacts that have been discovered on Oak Island. It was also one of the earliest items said to have been discovered by the Onslow Company in 1803 or 1804. As I stated earlier, the earliest detailed newspaper account by J. B. McCully in the Halifax Sun and Advisor to mention this stone actually said it was found at the 80-foot (24.4 m) depth in the Money Pit. Later accounts changed this to 90 feet (27.4 m). The stone was about 36 inches (91.4 cm) by 24 inches (61 cm) and inscribed with strange characters.

	There are at least two somewhat Masonic theories involving this 90-foot Stone. One is a theory that I came up with years ago based on information that I had discovered, and the other is a fascinating but little-known theory put forth by a professional codebreaker from Bletchley Park in England back in 2004. Bletchley Park was the centre where Alan Turing and his team cracked the Nazi Enigma code during the Second World War, and is now a museum.

	A competition was held to try and solve another centuries-old mystery, that of the enigmatic Shepherd’s Monument at Shugborough Hall in Staffordshire, England, and its very cryptic inscription.

	Shepherd’s Monument is one of many monuments on the grounds of Shugborough Hall. It was commissioned by Thomas Anson sometime between 1748 and 1756. The image on the monument is a mirror image of Nicolas Poussin’s 1637 painting Et in Arcadia Ego or The Arcadian Shepherds. In addition to the image, there is a series of letters beginning with a D. that appears lower than the other letters O.U.O.S.V.A.V.V, and ending in the letter M., also lower than the others.

	Thomas Anson was the younger brother of Admiral George Anson, who, beginning in 1740, spent four years sailing around the world. In 1743 he captured a Spanish Manila galleon near the Philippines, and later sold the ship and its vast treasure of silver to the Dutch for £400,000 or over C$55 million in today’s value.

	There are quite a few websites that state that Thomas and George Anson were either Freemasons or had significant Masonic connections. I’ve found no evidence that either of them was, in fact, a Freemason, but they definitely had a lot of acquaintances who were.

	The theory put forth by the unnamed codebreaker from Bletchley Park includes both mathematical and historical analysis and covers twenty pages (Fielding 2004). They argue that Admiral Anson had been associated with Freemasonry and had been a member of the Priory of Sion, along with the painter Nicolas Poussin. The Priory of Sion claimed links to the Knights Templar, and members are said to have believed that Jesus was not a divine figure.

	As it turns out, the Priory of Sion was a fraudulent creation of a man named Pierre Plantard in the 1950s. In Le Point in 1993, Plantard admitted under oath that he had fabricated the story in French court (11). However, there are still many people who believe that a secretive historical fraternity, connected to but separate from Freemasonry, exists.

	According to the Times Online article, the Bletchley Park codebreaker used simple substitution of one letter for another (the article doesn’t provide the key to the cypher) to translate the Shugborough inscription as “Jesus H defy.” We’re also told that the H has a similar sound to the Greek letter chi (Χ), which is the first letter of the word Christ (Χριστός). In other words, the message says to deny Jesus’s divine nature (Fielding 2004).

	The Times Online article also shows that the Latin message of Et in Arcadia Ego on the monument appears to mean “In Acadia go.” Acadia is the original French name of the region of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick. It’s not mentioned in the article, but on the actual Shepherd’s Monument, one of the shepherds has his thumb over part of the R in arcadia, as if to suggest a change from the original location of Arcadia in ancient Greece to the Acadia region in Canada.

	Where things get more interesting in the article is when we learn that, allegedly, one of the ships captured by Admiral Anson during his four-year excursion was a French ship that had been carrying a stone tablet covered in ancient writing.

	The theory elaborates that the stone in question was “handed down from the lost tribe of Benjamin in Israel and…a treasured item of the Templars and, subsequently, for the Priory of Sion and followers of the Jacobite cause” (Fielding 2004). The theory claims that this stone was brought by Admiral Anson to Oak Island and buried deep in the Money Pit to “hide it from enemies of his various causes” (Fielding 2004).

	To clarify, the Bletchley codebreaker believes the 90-foot Stone to be Jacob’s Pillow (Stone of Jacob), the stone on which the profit Jacob rests his head while sleeping, described in the book of Genesis. While asleep, Jacob has a vivid dream or vision of a ladder that goes from the earth up to the heavens near him, and that there are angels ascending and descending this ladder.

	The Bible says that Jacob saw God at the top of the ladder, and that God said he was giving Jacob and his descendants the land on which he lay. Jacob awoke in awe, believing the place where he lay was the house of God and the gate of heaven. He took the stone that he had used as a pillow and turned it on its side, like a pillar, and he consecrated it with oil. He named the place Bethel, meaning House of God, and the stone became alternatively known as the Bethel Stone.

	The image of Jacob’s Ladder is an important symbol in Freemasonry.

	The most persistent legend involving the Bethel Stone, or Jacob’s Pillow Stone, tells that it was taken to Ireland by Jeremiah around 583 bce and then brought to Scotland by Fergus, first King of the Scots, around 500 ce. It was then said to have been brought to Scone Abbey near Perth, Scotland, by King Kenneth MacAlpin in 841 ce. There it became known as the Stone of Scone and was encased in the seat of the royal coronation chair. All Scottish kings were coronated with this stone, and at some point, it also became known as the Stone of Destiny.

	In 1296 King Edward I of England invaded Scotland and took the Stone of Scone to London. It ended up in Westminster Abbey, where another coronation chair was built so that the stone could be fitted into it for the coronation of future kings and queens of England.

	This stone is said to have remained in Westminster Abbey for over 640 years until 1950, when it was secretly removed by Scottish nationalists who took it back to Scotland. Four months later, however, it was sent back to Westminster Abbey, where it remained until 1996, when the British government returned it to Scotland.

	The Stone of Scone has been kept on display in Edinburgh Castle. It was recently announced that it will soon be moved back to its old home near Scone, to the new state-of-the-art city hall in Perth. This new building is expected to open to the public in 2024.

	There is no way to prove that the Biblical Jacob’s Pillow Stone is the same stone now called the Stone of Scone, or Stone of Destiny, which is in Scotland. There have also been tales going back centuries that say the real Stone of Scone was hidden while a replica was put in its place on display. Either way, it does seem possible that Admiral Anson could have discovered a stone on a captured French ship, fitting the description of the Jacob’s Pillar Stone or Stone of Destiny, and brought it to New Scotland where it was buried deep in the Money Pit to keep it hidden.

	What if the 90-foot Stone was the treasure of Oak Island? What if the Money Pit, with its alleged elaborate flood tunnels, was designed just to hide and protect that single rectangular stone?

	My Masonic theory involving the 90-foot Stone is that the characters allegedly carved on the 90-foot Stone, as well as those carved on the alleged layer of smooth beach stones from the Money Pit, could have all been related to Masons’ Marks—either operative Masons’ Marks or other trademarks, or speculative Masons’ Marks.

	Operative stonemasons are known for carving their signature marks into sections of buildings that they had worked on. If the Money Pit, flood tunnels, and the vault were all created by hand, then the project would likely have involved various experienced tradespeople. The 90-foot Stone could have been a way for them to sign off on their work without anyone outside the trades knowing who they were.

	What I do know for sure is that the man who conducted the very first meeting of Chester Lodge No. 9 in December 1784, was also the very first man recorded to have conducted a Mark Master Mason degree ritual in all of North America just a month earlier. Not only that, but the Mason Mark that this man chose is also one of the symbols commonly believed to have been carved into the 90-foot Stone.

	The very earliest description of the 90-foot Stone comes from the Liverpool Transcript newspaper on June 2, 1862. The description simply states that the stone had “several characters on it.” Due to the many Masonic connections I discovered in relation to Oak Island, I’ve long suspected that these so-called characters on the 90-foot Stone were quite possibly Masons’ Marks.

	Worshipful Brother Adam Fife became a Royal Arch Mason while in New York between 1781 and 1783. In 1784, in Halifax, he became the master of Virgin Lodge No. 3, also known as Artillery Lodge.

	According to Lee C. Hascall’s book History of the Ancient and Honorable Fraternity of Free and Accepted Masons, and Concordant Orders. Volume 2 (1890), an application was made to Worshipful Brother Fife to open a Mark Master Mason lodge. This meeting was held on November 16, 1784, just three weeks before Adam Fife was in Chester, Nova Scotia.

	It appears that four members of Lodge No. 155 (which later became Saint Andrew’s Lodge No. 1) received the Mark Master Mason degree and chose their individual marks. We’re told that Adam Fife’s mark was a square. William Hogg’s mark was a triangle, William Matthew’s mark was a Bible, Robert Geddes mark was a urica, which, I’m fairly certain, refers to eureka or the exclamation point, and Robert Bucan’s mark was an oblong square. There is no mention of whether the orientation of the oblong square was vertical or horizontal.

	So within the first known Masons’ Marks in all of Nova Scotia, three just happen to be symbols that are believed to have been on the 90-foot Stone. And those three symbols of the square, the triangle, and the oblong square make up seven of the forty total characters on the 90-foot Stone.

	The triangle symbol, which William Hogg chose as his Masons’ Mark, is also the most prominent symbol on the 90-foot Stone. As mentioned before, there were three upward-pointing triangles, two downward-pointing triangles, one downward-pointing triangle with lines through it (giving the appearance that it was crossed out) and three triangles made of dots.

	The 90-foot Stone is also believed to have had two square symbols and two oblong square symbols, carved vertically. And those are just the first group of Masons’ Marks that we know of in Nova Scotia. I would not be at all surprised to find additional character matches to other early Nova Scotian Masons’ Marks on the 90-foot Stone.

	William Matthews was the Worshipful Master of Lodge No. 155 (later Saint Andrew’s No. 1) in 1783, William Hogg was the master in 1784, and Robert Geddes was the master in 1785. Again, this is the same lodge that Charles Lawrence was the master of from 1753 to 1760, Jonathan Belcher Jr. was a member of while he was Grand Master of Nova Scotia, and eventually, Henry Wollenhaupt, the son of the man who owned the Money Pit lot in 1795, would become a member of in 1821. My own great-great-great-grandfather Stephen F. Huestis joined this lodge in 1855. Stephen F. Huestis, a close cousin of Simeon Lynds, published one of the first books on the Oak Island mystery in 1895. This was the most detailed account published at the time.

	William Hogg, Adam Fife, and Oak Island lot owner Alexander Pattillo were also all members of the North British Society in Nova Scotia. This society, also known as The Scots, was founded in Halifax in 1768 and is in existence to this day. It’s the oldest Scottish heritage society outside of Great Britain.

	I also discovered another very interesting connection between Adam Fife, William Hogg, and Robert Geddes. According to an entry in the Nova Scotia Commissioner of Crown Lands report from 1786 in the Nova Scotia Archives, Adam Fife, William Hogg, Robert Geddes, and a man named William Cator were all former artificers in the Engineers Department in Halifax. An artificer is a skilled mechanic or craftsperson. The four men had requested land grants together in the Musquodoboit Harbour area just east of Halifax. It turns out that William Cator was also a member of Lodge No. 155 as of 1781.

	The Engineers Department in Halifax was more formally known as the Royal Engineers Department, and the Royal Engineers had, at one time, been called the “Royal Sappers and Miners.” A sapper is a military combatant who is also skilled in a variety of engineering duties, such as bridge-building and road construction, but they are mostly known for digging tunnels, trenches, and other underground cavities. Keep in mind that long-time Oak Island lot owner Jonathan Prescott was also an experienced captain of engineers from his time at Louisbourg.

	As I’ve mentioned previously, the 1863 account of the Oak Island discovery, as researched and written by James McNutt after interviewing earlier searchers, stated that, at the 50-foot (15.2 m) depth of the Money Pit, the Onslow Company encountered “a tier of smooth stones from the beach with figures and letters cut on them,” as they were digging down. Upon first reading this description, I immediately thought of Masons’ Marks once again.

	We know that early lot owners on Oak Island were Freemasons in a lodge that was warranted by the Antient Grand Lodge of England, and this lodge considered the Royal Arch the fourth degree within their Craft. We also know that this lodge had a significant connection to the man known to have conducted the very first Mark Master Mason degree rituals in Nova Scotia. Could the beach stones have been used as practice stones for Mark Masons on the island? Or might they have been a way for the Royal Arch Mark Masons to sign their names, so to speak, on the Royal Arch-inspired project they had created?

	To give a little more credence to this idea, I discovered a couple of rather interesting statements in an 1869 publication titled Returns of Constituent Chapters Working Under the Jurisdiction of the Grand Royal Arch Chapter of the District of Columbia. In this publication, there is a section regarding news from the Grand Chapter of Nova Scotia. Along with mentioning Adam Fife a few times, it also states that, in the Grand Chapter of Nova Scotia, “we have Mark stones evidently very old.” Furthermore, it states that they “have also a curiously wrought stone, which evidently belonged to the crown of a dome; on it is a mark as above (a rudimentary Bible carving) and the figures, nearly effaced by time.” Aside from the carving of a Bible symbol, this description sounds very much like it could have been describing the 90-foot Stone from Oak Island.

	This information involving ex-military Mark Master Masons with engineering and, likely, tunnelling experience being connected to Oak Island is highly intriguing. For these men to have carved their marks on the eventual 90-foot Stone would mean that the Money Pit would have still been partly open to the bottom for Masonic ritual use as late as 1785. There’s also a possibility that these Freemasons learned about the marks or symbols that the original depositors had inscribed and, perhaps, copied them in honour of their predecessors.



  
Heart-shaped Stone

  
	This stone was found under the beach at Smiths Cove in 1967. I held this stone in my hands when I first attended the Explore Oak Island Days event in 2005. It’s very similar to a Valentine’s Day heart in shape, and the fact that the rock is a reddish-orange colour makes it even more heart-like. It’s difficult to know if it was shaped by a person at one time, as it feels exceptionally smooth, presumably from many years of weathering.

	A remarkably similar-looking heart shape can be found on many old Masonic tombstones, including the one that I found within the Old Burying Ground in Halifax that was two hundred years old as of 2021. When in conjunction with a sword, it refers to an aspect of the Masonic first-degree, or Entered Apprentice, initiation ritual. Interestingly a number of seventeenth- to eighteenth-century pirates utilized a bleeding-heart symbol on their flags. Author D’Arcy O’Connor once stated on the old Oak Island Treasure forum that the heart symbol was once also used by several pirates to signify the location of the treasure.



  
H+O stone


	According to researcher and author Steven L. Harrison, this stone was discovered in 1936 with several other stones on the north side of the island, near Sheerdam (Joudrey’s) Cove. It’s not clear if the stones were buried or if there were other stones that had similar characters inscribed on them. Harrison says Gilbert Hedden, a Freemason who oversaw the work, reported that the stones bore Masonic markings (2015).

	There are three obvious symbols showing on the stone, and at least one of these is potentially Masonic—a circle with a dot at the centre. It’s specifically mentioned within Masonic rituals more than once. Masons are told that it represents “the centre,” from where every part of the circumference is equidistant, and a place from which a Mason cannot err. The point represents the individual Mason, and the circle represents the boundary-line of his duty. It is also one of the symbols found on the 90-foot Stone from the Money Pit.

	The point within the circle is also an ancient symbol with many meanings. The two most common outside of Freemasonry are the sun and gold. I’m sure the Fellowship of the Dig would love for it to mean gold.



  
T-square

  
	This artifact was discovered during season 9 of The Curse of Oak Island TV show. Craig Tester had the T-square carbon dated, and it came back as being from the early 1620s. It’s almost a certainty that this T-square was an operative tool used by a worker, and judging by the date, it would very likely have had to belong to someone responsible for the original workings on the island.








	[image: ]

	Chapter 9 Masonic Ciphers on the Earliest Known Map of Mahone Bay



	I have discovered what I believe to be multiple ciphers on a centuries-old map, created by a known Freemason, that not only point directly to Oak Island thirty-three years before the discovery of the Money Pit, but even specifically tell “the initiated” that a sacred treasure is concealed there. Using the boulders of Nolan’s Cross, this map indicates exactly where on the island to enter below.

	The map that I’m referring to is a rare copy of the 1762 Charles Morris’s map of Mahone Bay, in which Oak Island is named Smith’s Island, titled “A Draught of Mahone Bay on the Sea Coast of Nova Scotia with All the Islands, Shoals, Ledges of Rocks and Soundings Done by Charles Morris Chief Surveyor.” As of early 2022, you won’t find a picture of this map anywhere online. I tracked down and purchased a copy from the Library and Archives Canada in Ottawa about five years ago. The original map is held at the Ministry of Defense of the United Kingdom, and they’ve given me copyright clearance to present the map.



	[image: A map showing only Mahone Bay and its islands. The compass rose, with radiating directional lines is located in the bay in the lower, mid-left of the map. Oak Island is labelled as Smith’s Island and is located near the top mid-left of the map.]
	“A Draught of Mahone Bay on the Sea Coast of Nova Scotia with all the Islands, Shoals, Ledges of Rocks and Soundings Done by Charles Morris, Chief Surveyor.” (1762) (UK hydrographic office)


	Charles Morris Sr. was Nova Scotia’s chief surveyor during the mid- to late-1700s. According to Reginald V. Harris, Morris became a Freemason in Annapolis Royal, Nova Scotia, prior to 1755, and was a close associate of Jonathan Belcher Jr., the Grand Master of the Provincial Grand Lodge of Nova Scotia at that time. They were on Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence’s council together, and Morris eventually became one of Belcher Jr.’s main assistants when Belcher became the Lieutenant-Governor himself.

	As Lieutenant-Governor, Jonathan Belcher Jr. asked Charles Morris to survey Mahone Bay. Morris was the first man to do so, and he surveyed all around Oak Island and the surrounding islands in Mahone Bay a full thirty-three years before the 1795 “discovery” of the Money Pit.


  
Triple Tau

  
	As I was casually studying this map and looking at the name “st. margarets bay,” I was immediately drawn to the stylized shape of the T in “st.,” which put me, as a long-time Freemason (and knowing that a Freemason had created the map), in mind of a tau cross, or Saint Anthony’s Cross. This is an ancient symbol that is used in Freemasonry. In fact, the Triple Tau is the most important symbol in Royal Arch Freemasonry, and Oak Island has some very strong connections to early Royal Arch Masonry.

	What also struck me as odd was that the short form of Saint has two periods (dots) below the T, rather than the usual single period beside or below it. Normally, when something ends in two or three periods, it means et cetera, which is used to indicate further similar things. I wondered then if the two periods could be indicating “Tau, et cetera” or “Tau and Tau and Tau.” This could be a way to encode or indicate the Masonic Triple Tau.

	In order to validate my Triple Tau cipher theory, I looked at hundreds of maps and old logos from the 1600s to the 1800s. I would say that over 90 percent of these always showed the abbreviation of Saint as capital S and small t, with a single period either under or beside the t. The remainder showed either just a capital S for Saint or a capital S and capital T, but always with a single period below or beside the T.

	In fact, the only other example of the use of capital S and T and two periods for the abbreviation of the word Saint that I’ve been able to find is from the original seal of Saint Andrew’s Royal Arch Chapter in Boston (where Charles Morris was from).



	[image: A close-up of the capital letter S, in large font, with a capital T next to it near the top of the S, but only about one third the size of the S. Under the T are 2 dots or periods, similar to a colon symbol.]
	“ST:” in Charles Morris’s map of Mahone Bay, 1762. (UK Hydrographic Office)


	The fact that the capital T (Tau) and two periods are featured together on the ancient seal of the one group whose most important symbol is the Triple Tau makes it very likely that this is, in fact, a Masonic cipher, known then only to a select group of early Royal Arch Masons.

	Saint Andrew’s Royal Arch Chapter received its charter in 1769, but it was born out of the Lodge of Saint Andrew, which was warranted in 1756 by the Antient Grand Lodge of Scotland. It’s important to know that the Royal Arch degree was only bestowed upon past masters of the lodge at the time.

	As mentioned previously, the very first master of the Lodge of Saint Andrew was a man named Isaac DeCoster. He became the master of this lodge in 1756 and almost certainly received the Royal Arch degree not long after his first year as master. According to Masonic historians, DeCoster first became a Freemason in 1738 when he was stationed at Annapolis Royal—at the same lodge as Charles Morris. DeCoster fought in the second siege of Louisbourg in 1758 and then stayed in Halifax for a few years. There would have been many opportunities for DeCoster and his lodge brother Charles Morris to meet, discuss Royal Arch Masonry, and establish this secret Triple Tau symbol, prior to Morris’s creating the Mahone Bay map in 1762.

	As an interesting side note, Isaac DeCoster was a key person in establishing the Scottish Rite of Freemasonry, as well as the Supreme Council of the Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite. In 1781 DeCoster was made a deputy inspector general, and in 1783, he established the Sublime Grand Lodge of Perfection in Charleston, South Carolina. In 1801, this body is considered to have become the Supreme Council (33rd degree), from which all officially sanctioned Scottish Rite bodies derive their heritage.

	But it wasn’t just the likely Triple Tau meaning of the Tau and two periods that caught my interest. The two periods and the vertical line of the T on the Morris map are also all in alignment. Because of this alignment, I wondered what would happen if I drew a straight line through the two periods and along the vertical stem of the T and then extended this line through the rest of the map.



	[image: A circular seal with an image of the Ark of the Covenant at the center. There are two carrying poles on either side of the Ark and two Cherubim are standing on either end of the Ark with through wings stretched out in front of them, covering the Ark. Around the perimeter of the seal in all capital letters are the words “ST.. ANDREWS ROYAL ARCH CHAPTER  and BOSTON, MASS.” In the abbreviation for Saint, the T is half the size of the S and under the T are 2 dots or periods, like a sideways colon symbol.  Next to the image of the seal is another small image showing a more close-up view of the letters S and T and the 2 periods below the T.]
	Seal of St. Andrew’s Royal Arch Chapter (Boston), c. 1920.


	I could see right away that this line would go somewhat in the direction of Oak Island, but when I extended the line all the way, I was astounded. It landed directly on Oak Island (aka Smith’s Island). Remember, this map was created thirty-three years before anyone, aside from the depositors, knew that Oak Island might be special.

	What’s also quite interesting is that this same vertical configuration of two dots, similar to a colon symbol, actually appears on the 90-foot Stone five times. It’s the second most common symbol on the stone, after the triangles.



	[image: A partial view of the Mahone Bay map showing a perfectly straight white line going through the Letter T and 2 vertical periods, from the name ST. MARGARET’S BAY with the line extending over a partial land mass, into Mahone Bay, over parts of three other islands and directly onto Smith’s Island (or Oak Island).]
	A line through the T and two dots in “st. margarets,” when extended, goes directly to Oak Island. (UK Hydrographic Office)


	The direct connection of the Triple Tau cipher to Oak Island becomes even more fascinating when we look at the meaning of the Triple Tau symbol within Royal Arch Masonry. According to numerous Masonic sources, including the 1855 book Manual of Freemasonry by Richard Carlile (2010), the Triple Tau symbol, which resembles a letter T over an H, represents Templum Hierosolyma, or the Temple of Jerusalem, from which the Knights Templar took their name.

	The book goes on to say that the Triple Tau symbol also signifies Clavis Ad Thesaurum, “a key to the treasure,” and also Theca ubi res pretiosa deponitur, “a place where a precious (or sacred) thing is concealed”.

	“Pirates often incorporated astrological, zodiac, Masonry, and even witchcraft symbols into their treasure maps,” says Charles Garrett, the father of metal detecting and one of the most famous authors on treasure hunting in the world, in his book Understanding Treasure Signs and Symbols (2009).



	[image: The old Triple Tau symbol is essentially a letter T standing on crossbar of a unusually wide letter H. Both letters have serifs or small line strokes at the end of each longer line. The more modern version resembles three T shapes with no serifs. Two of the Ts are lying horizontally end to end and the third T is standing on top of them vertically. This symbol is within a triangle shape and the triangle is within a circle with the 3 points of the triangle touching the insides of the circle.]
	From left: An example of the old Triple Tau symbol, resembling a T over an H, and a more modern Royal Arch symbol. (PeRshGo, CC BY-SA 3.0, via Wikimedia Commons)


	One of the symbols that Garrett shows in his book looks very much like a Triple Tau—three Ts around a small circle. Much like the Triple Tau of Royal Arch Freemasonry, this symbol means “treasure below,” Garrett states. One has to wonder if this symbol evolved from the Masonic Triple Tau.

	I also discovered a second oddity on the map that may or may not be a Masonic cipher. Either way, it’s unusual, and incredibly, also points directly to Oak Island.

	I’m referring to the name “Mahone bay” in the centre of the map. As I was looking at it, I realized that the A in “mahone” had a somewhat v-shaped crossbar, similar in style to the Masonic square and compass logo. Then I noticed that the A in “bay” was not in this Mason-style script. The implication, it would seem, is that the A in “mahone” was meant to be special.

	As I continued to look at the map, I realized that the Mason-script A was directly below Oak Island (Smith’s Island) and that its pointed shape was acting as a Masonic arrow. In fact, when I drew a line from the tip of the Mason-script A straight up and parallel to the compass rose line just left of the A, it took me directly to the east end of Oak Island!



	[image: A small circle with three long-stemmed letter Ts attached to the circle at the twelve o’clock, four o’clock and 8 o’clock positions around the circle. The Ts plain with no serifs.]
	The windlass symbol, incorporating three Ts (like a Triple Tau), like the one featured in Understanding Treasure Signs & Symbols by Charles Garrett.


	At first, I thought the Mason-script A in “mahone” was the only Mason-script letter on the map, as there are also seven regular capital As on the map. However, as I continued to search, I found three more smaller-sized Mason-script As at the far right of the map in the name “st. margarets bay.” This discouraged me a little to know that perhaps the first Mason-script A wasn’t as special as I originally thought, but as I drew lines out from each of the Mason-script As in “st. margarets bay” in the directions they each were pointing, I found that each line led directly to the name “mahone bay.” It’s as if those three smaller Mason-script As are supposed to draw our attention to the large Mason-script A in “mahone.”

	After completing my initial inspection, I sent a copy of it to my brother Mason and fellow Oak Island researcher Christopher Morford. Morford has appeared on The Curse of Oak Island a couple of times with his own theory.

	Not only did Morford tell me that he believed my Masonic cipher theory has significant validity, but he discovered a third pointer within the map by utilizing the arc created by the three Mason-script As in “st. margarets bay.”

	Incredibly, when I created a circle on the map using the exact arc created by the three Mason-script As, it not only passed directly through the compass rose at the centre of the map, but also directly over the eastern end of Oak Island.



	[image: A small section of the map showing only the words MAHONE BAY. The letter A in Mahone and the letter A in Bay are both circled. The A in Mahone has a V-shaped crossbar which the author refers to as Masonic Script, and the A in Bay has a regular straight crossbar.]
	Two different A’s present in Charles Morris’s map of Mahone Bay. (UK Hydrographic office)



	[image: A larger section of the map showing the name MAHONE BAY near the bottom and part of mainland Nova Scotia and various islands above. The letter A in MAHONE is circled and an arrow leading from the circle goes straight up and stops on the east end of Oak Island.]
	Masonic script A pointing directly to the east end of Oak Island (Smith’s Island). (UK Hydrographic office)


	What are the chances of all three of these ciphers pointing directly to the exact same place (the eastern end of Oak Island) simply being a coincidence?

	I also find it ingenious that the three ciphers (like the three degrees of Craft Freemasonry) utilize the compass and square, the two operative tools that make up the main symbol of speculative Masonry that was in existence as early as the 1740s. The Mason-script As act as compasses, pointing in a specific direction. A compass must also be used to determine the radius of the circle, utilizing the arc created by the Mason-script As in “st. margarets bay.” And the stem of the tau cross, which resembles a T-square, and two periods also act as a pointer.



	[image: The entire Mahone Bay map showing three different possible ciphers that all point to the east end of Oak Island. Along with the Masonic Script A in the name MAHONE BAY there are also three additional Masonic Script “A”s in the name ST. MARGARET’S BAY. These are all circled in black. There are also six regular script As on the map and these are circled in white. A large black circle is created by using the arc formed by the three Masonic script “A”s and this circle extends inwards to pass through the compass rose and goes directly over the east end of Oak Island. There is also a black line going through the letter T and two periods in the name “ST. MARGARETS” to Oak Island and a black line going from the Masonic script A in MAHONE to Oak Island.]
	The entire 1762 map, with four Masonic script A’s circled with thick borders and seven regular A’s circled with thin borders. The Masonic A’s in “St. Margarets Bay” create a circle that passes directly over Oak Island. (UK Hydrographic Office)


	The fact that the three additional Mason-script As are only in the name “st. margarets bay” may also very possibly mean that Charles Morris is indicating a connection between the name Saint Margaret and Oak Island.

	I mentioned previously that the Triple Tau is the most important symbol in the Royal Arch Masonry. Before Saint Margaret was canonized as a saint, she was the Queen of Scotland. So, by utilizing her name to create an arc, we could say that it is a “royal arc” that leads through the compass rose (Masonic and Rosicrucian symbols) directly to Oak Island.

	Within the Royal Arch degree of Freemasonry, there are two sacred treasures that are described in the rituals as being buried underground in a deep vault. One is a plate of gold (usually triangular) that has the true mystical name of God and the Master Mason’s Lost Word inscribed on it. The second is the Biblical Ark of the Covenant. After the Triple Tau symbol, the Ark of the Covenant is the second most prominent symbol of Royal Arch Masonry. Of course, these two symbols are related, as the Triple Tau is said to symbolize the Temple of Jerusalem, or Temple of Solomon, which was built primarily to house the Ark of the Covenant.

	A name that has come up quite often in my research is Sir Francis Bacon. Bacon also has a connection to the Triple Tau symbol. This connection was made known in the year 1679, fifty-three years after Bacon’s death in 1626, when a collection of his unpublished writings was published by Thomas Tenison, a Freemason and the future Archbishop of Canterbury.

	The manuscript is called Abecedarium Novum Naturae, and it is thought to be part of a larger work. The manuscript is a catalogued series of research projects, coded by numbers and letters of the Greek alphabet. It is meant to be an alphabet of nature, as Bacon talked about science as learning to read the book of nature. The term Triple Tau is written in a prominent manner near the beginning of the manuscript. The first item in Abecedarium Novum Naturae is the 67th “Inquisition,” or project, and is designated as “Triple Tau” or “Terra” (earth).

	It’s known that Tenison received the manuscript in a chain of transmission going back directly to Francis Bacon himself. What’s not specifically known is whether Bacon had meant for the manuscript to start at the 67th Inquisition or not. Clearly whoever arranged it this way was trying to draw attention to this important Masonic symbol. Researchers suggest it proves that Royal Arch Freemasonry existed as early as 1679, when the manuscript was published, and quite likely well before this date. This is possible but remains to be proven.

	Either way, it is widely known that Bacon was the most “Masonic” philosopher of his time, as many of his works contain Masonic language. For example, he said the aim of science was to “rebuild the temple of wisdom.” He also wrote about rebuilding Solomon’s House (or Temple) in New Atlantis (1626), much like modern-day Freemasons do in their works. Some researchers believe that he continued John Dee’s work in founding the Rosicrucian order.



  
Saint Margaret of Scotland and the Holy Rood

	
	By specifically utilizing the name “st. margarets bay” with its multiple pointers to Oak Island (including the tau cross and two periods angled precisely toward Oak Island), it seems quite likely that Charles Morris is indicating a connection between Saint Margaret and Oak Island. The two most common saints named Margaret are Saint Margaret of Scotland and Saint Margaret of Antioch. Historians say the tau cross was the earliest form of the Christian cross that later developed into the modern Latin Cross. Only one Saint Margaret is famous for her association with the cross, and that is Saint Margaret of Scotland. Of course, Nova Scotia is New Scotland in Latin, and Saint Margaret is the patron saint of Scotland.

	We also know that within Royal Arch Freemasonry, one of the meanings of the Triple Tau is “a place where a precious (or sacred) thing is concealed.” For something to be considered “sacred,” it needs to be connected with God, holy, worthy of spiritual respect or devotion, and inspiring awe or reverence among believers.

	There is at least one sacred object intimately related to Saint Margaret of Scotland that has been lost to history and may very well have been brought to Oak Island—a piece of the True Cross of Jesus, specifically called the Holy Rood in Scotland. It was one of the country’s most important artifacts.



	[image: Saint Margaret is seated, wearing a long robe and a crown on her head. She is holding open a large book, presumably a Bible. She has a serene expression on her face and is looking forward and slightly to the right, into the chapel where the window is placed.]
	Saint Margaret of Scotland depicted in stained glass at St. Margaret’s Chapel, Edinburgh. (Kjetil Bjørnsrud, New york, CC BY-SA 3.0, via Wikimedia Commons)


	Margaret, Saxon Princess of England, was born in Hungary (where her father was in exile) in 1045. Following the Norman conquest of England in 1066, she fled to Scotland, where she married Malcolm III Canmore, King of Scotland. Three of her sons became kings of Scotland, her daughter Matilda married King Henry I of England, and her daughter Mary married Eustace III, Count of Boulogne.

	When Queen Margaret of Scotland died in 1093 (soon after her husband King Malcolm III), they were buried in Dunfermline Abbey in Fife, Scotland. Queen Margaret was canonized in 1250 and became Saint Margaret.

	Eustace III and his brothers Godfrey de Bouillon and Baldwin of Boulogne were key leaders of the First Crusade from 1096 to 1099 and were instrumental in the capture of Jerusalem. Without them, Jerusalem would have continued under Islamic rule, and the Knights Templar would never have existed.

	Eustace III’s brother Godfrey was elected as the first ruler of the new Christian Kingdom of Jerusalem in 1099, but he died the following year. Baldwin then became the king of Jerusalem. Prior to Baldwin’s death in April 1118, he had named Eustace III as his successor to the throne of Jerusalem, but also said that if Eustace III did not come to Jerusalem, then the throne should go to Baldwin II, their cousin. Eustace III apparently took too long in accepting, and the throne was given to Baldwin II.

	According to historical records, Eustace III founded a Cluniac abbey in his hometown of Boulogne in France, and he was a patron of the Knights Templar and Knights Hospitaller. In 1119, a new brotherhood of knights, established by Hugh of Payns and Godfrey de Saint-Omer to protect pilgrims to the Holy Land, arrived in Jerusalem. King Baldwin II temporarily lodged the knights in the royal palace on the Temple Mount, and soon after they became known as the Knights Templar.

	The history of the Holy Rood (or Black Rood of Scotland) is quite fascinating. The Holy Rood is a royal reliquary allegedly containing a small piece of the True Cross, on which Jesus Christ was crucified. There are differing stories as to its origin, but most sources, including the Catholic Encyclopedia, state that Queen Margaret brought one of the crosses from Waltham Abbey in Essex, England, to Scotland.

	The captivating discovery story of the Waltham Holy Crosses is told in a twelfth-century manuscript, now found at the British Museum.

	In the year 1030, there was a blacksmith in the town of Montacute (also called Leodgaresburh) in Somerset, England, who was also the custodian of the local church. It’s said that he had a good reputation but was a very poor man. The manuscript tells us that “it was to this man, so pure in heart, before God, that Jesus the Gentle, the lover of purity, revealed a secret treasure, long hidden from the eyes of man.”

	As the story goes, on a certain night, a vision in which a majestic figure of great beauty, encircled by a halo of bright light, appeared before the blacksmith and gave him a message to go to the village church priest in the morning and call together all the parishioners. “After admonishing them, to prayer, fasting, and confession, the Priest was to lead them to the top of the [local] hill, and there dig the ground at a spot which would be pointed out to them; until they should find a cross, the sign of our Lord’s Passion.”

	Upon waking, the blacksmith was comforted by the apparition he had seen, but believing it to be a fantastic dream, he didn’t act on it. Then the “Heavenly Visitant appeared to him again” but was unhappy that the blacksmith had not acted and was more forceful, using somewhat threatening wording, telling him to go to the local priest with the information. This time upon waking, the blacksmith was quite concerned and told his wife about the experience. However, his wife told him not to pay any heed to such a dream.

	The third time, when the “same Form appeared to him again,” it seized him by the arm, “gripping with such force as to make the nails penetrate the flesh,” and demanded that he obey the instructions. This time, the blacksmith did not hesitate; he ran trembling in fear to the local priest, telling him the story and showing him the still-bleeding marks on his arm. The priest immediately believed him and started recruiting the local villagers to help in the digging. 

	The manuscript states that “forty cubits space [about 60 square feet or 5.6 m2] is soon cleared [on the top of the hill] by willing hands, when a stone of immense size impeded further progress. The rubble is quickly removed from about it. A yawning fissure [deep cleft] is discerned in the midst and lo!—suddenly there appears in their wondering gaze the priceless image of the crucified Savior, carved in black flint. So exquisitely is it wrought, so perfect in all its alignment, that it might be deemed to have emanated from the hands of the Highest Artificer Himself. Under the right arm of the larger lay another smaller crucifix.”

	It’s very interesting how similar this twelfth-century account is to a certain Masonic ritual and even to the Money Pit discovery. A large stone (like a flagstone) is discovered and under it is a deep fissure or cleft in the earth (perhaps akin to a narrow pit or vault). However, the description in the manuscript seems to indicate that the crosses appeared almost magically.

	In later versions of this story, most of the details are the same, but it’s said that the Devil is the one who appears to the blacksmith in the three visions. It is likely because, over time, the Devil became associated with buried treasure, but usually to guard it, and not reveal it.

	Word of the discovery spread quickly, and a man named Tofig (also called Tovi) heard about it. He was the standard-bearer of King Cnut (Canute) of England and Denmark and owned a large estate at Montacute. He had been away, but he quickly went to Montacute to see the miraculous discoveries. After a time, he decided to take the precious items to one of the large abbeys in England, and his men carefully loaded the crosses onto a cart to be pulled by oxen and cows. However, when Tofig gave the command to leave, the oxen and cows refused to budge. Eventually, Tofig thought of his small hunting lodge in Waltham, Essex, and of building a new church there to house the crosses. According to the manuscript, as soon as he said the word Waltham out loud, the oxen and cows began to move with the cart. It was even said that the cart appeared to be pushing the animals, rather than them pulling it. The wagon was said to have “moved of its own accord” for much of the 150-mile (241.4 km) journey.

	Tofig, who was wealthy, adorned the cross with jewellery, gold, and silver, but it’s said that, when an attempt was made to attach the metal to it by means of a nail, blood gushed forth. Deeply moved by this miracle, Tofig devoted himself to the service of the cross. The cross was also said to have “effected many miraculous cures.”

	There were two crosses found together. One was said to be “life-sized,” and the other was found “under the arm” of the larger cross, so likely only inches in height. It’s not entirely clear if the life-sized cross was made of black stone, like flint, or if only the figure of Jesus on the cross was. The smaller cross (also black in colour) was made of wood. It is most likely that Queen Margaret would have obtained the smaller cross that she took to Scotland, but it could also have been a piece of the larger cross put into a reliquary.



	[image: A partial view from the top of St. Michael’s Hill, showing the 18th century folly tower to the left. The cylindrical shaped tower is about 15 meters (49 feet) in height and was built on the site of the former castle. The view is obscured by bushes and a larger tree at the far right.]
	The tower on St. Michael’s Hill where the Holy Rood crosses were found. (Jim Champion, The tower on St Michael’s Hill, Montacute)


	The hill inside of which the crosses were discovered at Montacute became known as St. Michael’s Hill. It is located just 17 miles (27.4 km) from Glastonbury Abbey and Glastonbury Tor, with its famous St. Michael’s Tower. Glastonbury, and its surrounding area, is strongly linked to the legends of King Arthur, but it has also had a long association with Joseph of Arimathea, the man who took Jesus’s body down from the cross and put it into his own family tomb prior to the resurrection. According to the Bible, Joseph was a secret disciple of Jesus and may have been his great-uncle.

	Since the second century CE, many legendary details accumulated around the figure of Joseph of Arimathea. Some are very likely true, and others are probably fanciful embellishments. Most of the legends say that Joseph was a tin or metal merchant and that he visited Cornwall in Britain (famous for its tin mines) to purchase tin, as well as nearby Somerset for copper and lead. Legends and folk songs from both places also say that the young Jesus accompanied Joseph to Britain on at least one occasion.

	Perhaps the earliest documented mention of Joseph of Arimathea being in Britain comes from the Archbishop of Mayence prior to his death in 856 ce.

	The old church at Glastonbury dates as early as 685 CE, although it had long been claimed that it was founded by Joseph of Arimathea in the first century. Over the years, the abbey grew. In the year 1184, a great fire destroyed some of the buildings on the site and significant renovations occurred. Not long after, in 1189, Glastonbury officials announced the discovery of King Arthur and Queen Guinevere’s tomb in the cemetery on the abbey grounds. About 16 feet (4.9 m) down, the workers discovered a massive hollowed oak trunk containing two skeletons. Above it, under the covering stone, was a lead cross with the Latin inscription: “Here lies interred the famous King Arthur on the Isle of Avalon.”

	Not long after this, in the year 1200, the French poet Robert de Boron added to the Arthurian legends when he wrote Joseph d’Arimathie, which discusses the origin of the Holy Grail. In a later work, known as the Prophecy of Melkin, Melkin (or Melchinus, a Celtic bard in the time before Merlin) gives an account that mentions the tomb of Joseph of Arimathea at Glastonbury. A number of legends of Joseph of Arimathea in Britain state that he was buried with the Holy Grail, the cup used by Jesus at the last supper, in which Joseph is said to have collected drops of Jesus’s blood while Jesus was on the cross. The legends state that Joseph brought the cup with him to Britain.

	Reverend William Good was a Jesuit priest, born in Glastonbury in 1527 ce. He once stated that “the monks never knew for certain the place of the Saint’s [Joseph of Arimathea’s] burial or pointed it out. They said the body was hidden most carefully, either at Glastonbury or on a hill near Montacute.”

	At least one researcher believes that the life-sized black cross (with a smaller black cross underneath) discovered at the top of St. Michael’s Hill in 1030 was actually a grave marker for Joseph of Arimathea. His remains, as well as the Holy Grail itself, would have been buried farther below the crosses. There’s even a chance that the residents of the area discovered human remains and knew who it was, but quickly covered them back up. There was an event that occurred in 1068 that lends some validity to this claim.

	Not long after the discovery of the crosses in 1030, a small chapel was built on the hill, likely to commemorate the crosses. But in 1068, two years after William the Conqueror invaded Britain, his half-brother Robert, Count of Mortain, built a wooden castle on the hill, around the small chapel. Soon after, there was such a strong local uprising against him and his men that King William I had to send a large portion of his southern forces to stop it. The bodies of many of the locals are buried in a mass grave in the fields below the hill.

	So, what was it that compelled hundreds of local people from around Montacute to fight to the death? Was it just the loss of their chapel? The crosses themselves had already been gone for almost forty years. Did the locals know that something even more sacred was still buried inside the hill? Something they were willing to protect with their lives?

	In the year 1128, Queen Margaret’s son, King David I, founded Holyrood Abbey in Edinburgh to house the Holy Rood. This was the same year he first welcomed members of the Knights Templar to Scotland. King David I was so impressed with the Templars that he made them “guardians of his morals by day and by night” (Schuchard 2002). King David I gave the Templars land at Balantrodoch, Scotland, for their headquarters.



	[image: The square stone St. Michael’s Tower fills the photo. A young man is sitting at the right base of the tower playing guitar while two others are talking a short distance away. The tower is the remnant of a 14th century St. Michael’s church and sits at the peak of Glastonbury Tor.]
	The enigmatic St. Michael’s Tower on Glastonbury Tor. (Rodw, CC BY-SA 3.0, via Wikimedia Commons)


	Even the specific location of Holyrood Abbey has a miraculous cross connection. Legend says that, in 1127, while King David I was hunting in the forests east of Edinburgh during the Feast of the Cross, he was thrown from his horse after it had been startled by a stag. The legend says that the king was saved from being gored by the charging stag when his horse was startled, either by the miraculous appearance of a holy cross descending from the skies or by sunlight reflected from a crucifix that suddenly appeared between the stag’s antlers, while the king attempted to grab them in self-defence. In light of this perceived miracle (again involving a cross), King David I founded Holyrood Abbey on the exact site.

	The Holy Rood was removed from Scotland by King Edward I of England in 1296, along with the Stone of Scone and other treasures, but it was returned in 1328. It was taken again by the English following the Battle of Neville’s Cross in 1346. It was then held in Durham Cathedral in England until the English Reformation in 1540, when the larger monasteries were being dissolved after King Henry VIII and his Church of England had broken from Roman Catholicism. Around the year 1540, the Holy Rood simply disappeared from history.

	To recap, Charles Morris uses the tau cross cipher within the name “st. margaret” to point directly to Oak Island on his map. Saint Margaret of Scotland was famous for bringing the Holy Rood (a piece of the True Cross of Jesus) to Scotland.

	I was amazed to discover later in my research that Charles Morris’s father (also named Charles Morris) was born in Bristol, just 40 miles (64.4 km) from Montacute (where the cross was first discovered). Is it simply an incredible coincidence? Or was Charles Morris Jr. already aware of the origin of the Holy Rood (now buried on Oak Island)?

	A number of people or groups could have secreted away the Holy Rood from Durham Cathedral before it was, as I propose, eventually brought to Oak Island. If simply left in Durham Cathedral, according to the edict by King Henry VIII, it likely would have been destroyed. Whoever took it would have had to hide it in order to preserve it in those tumultuous times. And what if the person or group that recovered the Holy Rood already knew of a secret refuge across the ocean in the New World—one that already contained one of the holiest objects on earth?



  
John Dee

  
	As I considered my overall theory, where everything has been pointing to early Freemasons and Rosicrucians, there was one name that I kept coming back to: John Dee, the famous Elizabethan mathematician, astronomer, teacher, and alchemist.

	There are a number of strong reasons to consider John Dee the mastermind of this proposed operation. One is that he was known as an “intense Christian,” although influenced by Hermeticism. Another is that he was almost certainly involved in the early Rosicrucian movement, which ties in closely with early Freemasonry.

	At Queen Elizabeth I’s court, John Dee was the guiding figure of a network of Neoplatonic and Hermetic thinkers. This network included what was called the Sydney Circle, which was headed by Sir Philip Sidney and included the poet Edmund Spenser and Robert Dudley, 1st Earl of Leicester.

	Speaking of Dudleys, Dee was quite closely connected to the prestigious Dudley family and was a good friend of John Dudley, Duke of Northumberland. Dee was a long-time tutor to his son Robert, 1st Earl of Leicester, and Robert’s cousin Thomas Dudley became one of the earliest governors of the Massachusetts Bay colony. Thomas’s son Joseph became the governor of Massachusetts Bay in 1702, where once again, we find Captain Andrew Belcher. Belcher was on Governor Joseph Dudley’s council for over ten years. The Belchers were even connected to the Dudley family through marriage. Captain Andrew Belcher’s nephew Jonathan Remington married Lucy Bradstreet, the granddaughter of Governor Joseph Dudley’s sister Anne Dudley.

	The Dudley family even had a direct connection to the Holy Rood. From 1476 to 1483, William Dudley, the great-uncle of Robert Dudley, 1st Earl of Leicester, was Bishop of Durham and stationed at Durham Cathedral, where the Holy Rood was kept during those years.

	And in addition, from 1551 to 1583, Dee was the advisor to numerous English voyages of discovery, with a focus on North America. Dee worked closely with a number of famous navigators, including Sir Humphrey Gilbert, Sir Walter Raleigh, and Sir Francis Drake. He certainly had an opportunity to get one of his companions to take the Holy Rood to what would become known as Oak Island.

	It’s certainly possible that all three of these men would have been involved in the project to take the Holy Rood to Oak Island. In 1583 Sir Humphrey Gilbert was known to have been in Newfoundland and Nova Scotia. Sadly, he died at sea near the Azores on his return to England from Newfoundland and Nova Scotia.

	In the years leading up to his voyage to Newfoundland and Nova Scotia in 1583, Sir Gilbert was working closely with a Portuguese-born navigator and pirate named Simon (or Simao) Fernandes. Fernandes had been captured by the British, and instead of being executed, he made a deal with Queen Elizabeth’s secretary and spymaster, Sir Francis Walsingham. Walshingham is known to have worked closely with John Dee and Francis Bacon, as well as the navigators Gilbert, Raleigh, Drake, and others. Walsingham and Dee are recorded as having sent Drake on at least one secret mission.

	Simon Fernandes was sold by Walsingham to Sir Humphrey Gilbert, and in March 1580, Gilbert dispatched Simon Fernandes on a reconnaissance voyage to the mid-Atlantic coast (New England to Nova Scotia). This voyage had been suggested by John Dee, and Fernandes certainly could have gone to Oak Island during this time. It’s not known if he still had the original Portuguese ship that he would have been very familiar with. This could account for the possible Portuguese metal, possibly from a small canon, which was found recently on Oak Island.

	In 1584 Sir Humphrey Gilbert’s half-brother Sir Walter Raleigh received a royal patent for colonizing the region between Florida and Nova Scotia, and in 1585, Sir Francis Drake married his second wife, Elizabeth Sydenham of Combe Sydenham in Somerset, which is just 35 miles (56.3 km) from Montacute.

	It’s widely believed that Sir Walter Raleigh founded a secret society that was later called The School of Night. This group was made up of poets and scientific thinkers, such as Christopher Marlowe, Henry Percy, and the astronomer Thomas Harriot. New beliefs that went against the Church’s dogma were discussed, and it’s said that this group was closely related to the mysterious Rosicrucian movement.

	Although John Dee was a brilliant mathematician and worked with Britain’s most well-known navigators for over twenty years, he will always be remembered most for his so-called “sorcery” and conversing with angels, through his medium friend Edward Kelley. Dee is first recorded as having attempted scrying, or communicating with spirits, in 1579.

	I was quite surprised to discover that, according to two rare manuscripts in the British Museum, Sir Humphrey Gilbert was directly involved in summoning spirits, angels, and demons, eleven years before John Dee. This is described by researcher Frank Klaasen in his paper “Ritual Invocation and Early Modern Science: The Skrying Experiments of Humphry Gilbert” (2012). Sir Gilbert and his brother Adrian Gilbert were very likely the ones who got Dee interested in this method of gaining knowledge. As with Dee, there was never any evil intent in their workings but simply a belief in a method of gaining information directly from the original long-dead source.

	In the recorded descriptions of events made during these sessions in 1568, John Davis, a protégé of Humphrey Gilbert and a future navigator, was the scryer, or the one seeing the visions through a crystal device, Humphrey Gilbert was the “master” of the operation, and his brother Adrian Gilbert was also in attendance. They recorded that they summoned a number of characters such as the demon Azazel, King Solomon, Roger Bacon, and Cornelius Agrippa, to name a few.



	[image: An engraving created around the year 1600. Sir Humphrey is holding a navigational globe in one hand and a staff in the other. There is a family crest in the top left and a symbol in the top right that is very similar to John Dee’s famous Monas Hieroglyphica symbol. Below the symbol is Gilbert’s motto, Quid Non, meaning why not. There is an ocean in the background showing a ship to the left and mountains to the right with the word “Virginia”.]
	Sir Humphrey Gilbert. (Austrian National Library)


	According to the written descriptions, there were a number of times when all three men saw the same visions or characters, and “on occasion the visions bled into the waking world in encounters with great demonic dogs” (Klaasen 2012). One of the two dogs is described as being large and all black. This, of course, made me think of the stories of a large black dog being seen on Oak Island over the years.

	If Sir Humphrey Gilbert was one of the first men on Oak Island in the late 1500s, and if he somehow summoned a large black dog from the spirit world that “bled through” to the physical plane, as we have original manuscript evidence that he was involved in summoning the spirits of certain people from history, as well as demons that he bound and cursed, could this involvement somehow explain the “curse” of Oak Island? Perhaps Gilbert performed a ritual to bind the black dog to Oak Island in order to protect whatever sacred treasure he had buried there or knew was buried there.

	Less than a century later, in 1670, Captain Andrew Belcher married Sarah Gilbert, a relative of Sir Humphrey Gilbert. Sir Humphrey Gilbert was very possibly on Oak Island in 1583, and family knowledge of the vault could have been passed down to Sarah and subsequently to Captain Andrew Belcher.



  
Kabbalah Connection

	
We know that the Triple Tau cipher points directly to Oak Island, and one might assume that it points to the Money Pit. But I also have an alternative place of interest on the island, and it has to do with Kabbalah. Kabbalah is an esoteric method or discipline within Jewish mysticism. The word Kabbalah means “to receive,” and those who study Kabbalah strive to receive esoteric knowledge and become closer to God. The later Christianized version is referred to as Cabala.

	It’s possible that the Templars picked up knowledge of Kabbalah in their travels, but one group that was certainly knowledgeable about Kabbalah was the Rosicrucians. There are references to Kabbalah in their original manifestos from the early 1600s.

	According to Cabala teachings, the Cabalistic Tree of Life is formed by ten spheres and twenty-two connecting paths. Most Cabalists consider the spheres to be pathways as well, so there are actually thirty-two total paths within the Tree of Life. The spheres are first numbered one to ten, and then the twenty-two connecting paths are numbered eleven to thirty-two and are each associated with one of the twenty-two letters of the Hebrew alphabet. The letter tau or tav in Hebrew has always been associated with the thirty-second path. This is the path that one must start with from the Malkuth sphere at the bottom of the Tree of Life.

	Surely, it’s just a coincidence that Oak Island was divided into thirty-two lots, or that Scottish Rite Freemasonry has thirty-two degrees.

	The magical Order of the Golden Dawn was formed by three Rosicrucian Freemasons in England in the late 1800s. According to Golden Dawn teachings (taken from much older esoteric knowledge), the tau is considered to be the “sign of the Enterer,” a posture that symbolized the opening path of the Cabalistic Tree of Life, connecting the sphere of Malkuth (earth) with Yesod (moon). If you recall, Francis Bacon also specifically associated the Triple Tau with Terra (earth). The idea of the tau cross (or T-square) representing a “sacred gate” or a “sacred opening” goes back as far as ancient Egypt and the famous Book of the Dead.

	As explained previously, the tau cross symbol on the 1762 Charles Morris map (which I believe, with its two accompanying periods, indicates a secret Triple Tau) aligns and points directly to Oak Island, and according to Masonic Royal Arch teachings, indicates “a place where a precious or sacred thing is concealed.”

	We also know (thanks to Petter Amundsen’s research) that the boulders of Nolan’s Cross on Oak Island perfectly form half of the Cabalistic Tree of Life.

	All we need to do is determine where the Malkuth sphere would be in relation to the other boulders, and we will have the starting point of the “sacred opening” into the Tree of Life.



	[image: An arial photo of Oak Island with the locations of the 5 large Nolan’s Cross boulders shown as black circles forming a cross shape. Below the bottom boulder a white star shape indicates the location of the Malkuth spot, and a small rectangular box highlights the 32nd or Tau Path, if Nolan’s Cross is seen as a physical representation of the Tree of Life. The photo also highlights the locations of the Money Pit area, the Cave-in Pit, Smith’s Cove, Joudrey’s Cove and the South Shore Cove.]
	Nolan’s Cross with Malkuth location added overlayed onto the map of Oak Island. The rectangular box indicates the area of the thirty-second or “Tau” path on the Tree of Life.


	In the episode of The Curse of Oak Island that he was featured in, Amundsen referred to the Malkuth spot as “Kingdom,” which is simply another name for this sphere. He did find a boulder buried in the immediate vicinity of the spot that he predicted, and it was shown to have three small holes (or white dots) on it when washed off. It was suggested that they formed an equilateral triangle. This is certainly possible, and it would form another Masonic symbol; however, the three dots also make up the three ends of a Triple Tau symbol, which does fit perfectly with my theory that it could be part of the tau path.

	There could be something hidden directly below this spot, or more likely, between the Malkuth spot and Yesod boulder, as this would be the actual thirty-second or “opening” path.



	[image: A portion of a boulder with the flat side showing. There are three small indentations that appear white in the photo and the author has connected the three dots to form an upside-down Tau cross. The three dots can also form a triangle shape.]
	A screenshot of the Malkuth boulder dug up on Oak Island in the spot that Petter Amundsen suggested.


	Of course, I plotted the Malkuth sphere on an aerial photo of Oak Island to see where it would generally be. I was also interested to see which lot or lots the Malkuth sphere and the tau path would be on. From what I can discern, it falls on either lot 27 or 28, which I find very fitting because lots 27 and 28 were both owned by Scottish Freemasons from Chester Lodge No. 9, years before the discovery of the Money Pit.

	In fact, the immediate area around the tau path is a conjunction of lots belonging to four different pre-1795 Freemasons. Lot 27 belonged to Alexander Pattillo; lot 28 belonged to James Sharp; lot 26 belonged to Captain James Anderson, and lot 8 belonged to Jonathan Prescott. It would be wise to search this whole area.

	This particular branch of my overall theory could provide an opportunity for the Fellowship of the Dig to go on a true Arthurian Quest. To walk in the footsteps of Saint Margaret of Scotland and Joseph of Arimathea, the original “Guardian of the Grail,” in search of a piece of one of the most revered artifacts of Christianity.

	This quest begins with a very real treasure map, created by a member of a secret society, that points to medieval England and the realm of the legendary King Arthur and his knights before we are led to Scotland by a real princess. This particular quest ends on an island in New Scotland, where many of the earliest landowners were members of this same secret society, very likely descended from the Knights Templar.
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	Chapter 10 The Royal Arch of Oak Island


	
	There is one overriding reason why so many prominent Freemasons have been drawn to the mystery of Oak Island, and that is the striking similarity between the physical description of the Money Pit and that of the deep underground vault described in certain Masonic rituals. There are also quite a few physical features or artifacts discovered on Oak Island that appear to be Masonic in nature.

	That said, I believe that the research I’m about to present in this chapter takes the Masonic connections on Oak Island to a much higher level. I can’t yet perhaps prove beyond a doubt that the Money Pit was created with the intent to mimic a Masonic ritual, but I believe I can make a significant case based on the evidence I’ve unearthed thus far.

	Researchers Kel Hancock and Doug Crowell were likely the first to show that one or two of the earliest Oak Island lot owners were Freemasons. Through my research, I’ve significantly added to this and uncovered proof that at least six of the pre-1795 lot owners on Oak Island were Freemasons and that Masons may have owned almost half the island before the discovery of the Money Pit.

	In addition, I’ve discovered a few very interesting connections with the Master Mason who led the very first lodge meeting near Oak Island in Chester in 1784. These connections fit very well with what is known of Oak Island.

	The particular Masonic rituals involving the vault are not taught within the three degrees of Craft Masonry, but within the higher degrees of the appendant Scottish Rite and York Rite bodies.

	Although certain degrees build on each other and relate to each other, there are really only two degrees (one in the Scottish Rite and one in the York Rite) that have come down to us in the present day that specifically incorporate a subterranean vault of nine levels.

	In the Scottish Rite, this is the 13th degree. In Canada and the United States Southern Jurisdiction, it is referred to as the Royal Arch of Solomon. In the United States Northern Jurisdiction, it’s called the Master of the Ninth Arch, and in the UK, it is called the Royal Arch of Enoch.


  
The Sacred Subterranean Vault

	
	In the Scottish Rite of Freemasonry, the Masonic legend teaches that God appeared to the biblical patriarch Enoch in a vision, at a place called Mount Moriah. Mount Moriah was later associated with the Temple Mount in Jerusalem where King Solomon built his temple. In Enoch’s vision, God brought Enoch to the top of a huge mountain that reached into the heavens. There, God is said to have shown Enoch his true name, engraved upon a plate of gold. He also taught Enoch how to pronounce this name.

	Enoch is then transported through a series of nine subterranean vaults, where in the lowest vault, he sees a very similar plate of gold with the same characters showing. Later we’re told that Enoch physically constructed nine underground vaults exactly as he had seen in his vision from God. He also had a plate of gold made, on which he inscribed the true and sacred name of God on one side and the ancient Master Mason’s word on the other. He deposited this plate in the ninth or lowest vault, had it sealed up, and built a simple temple above it.

	Centuries later when King Solomon had the temple in Jerusalem built, we’re told that he had three of his grand master architects explore below the foundations. Once the rubble was removed, a large square stone was discovered that had an opening below it. One of the Grand Master architects was lowered down into the chamber where he discovered a second vaulted chamber below. Eventually, they succeeded in reaching the lowest vault and discovering the sacred treasure.

	In the York Rite of Freemasonry, the story is similar but with a number of significant differences. Here, we find the underground vault of nine arches in the Select Master degree. The York Rite degrees are not numbered as they are in the Scottish Rite, but the entire rite includes ten degrees. The York Rite is divided into three separate bodies known as the Royal Arch Chapter, the Cryptic Council, and the Knights Templar Commandery. The Select Master degree is the 6th in progression and is one of the three Cryptic degrees. It was likely developed out of the earlier Scottish Rite 13th degree.

	This Select Master degree tells of the three legendary Grand Masters: King Solomon of Israel, Hiram, king of Tyre, and Hiram Abiff. In order to protect the sacred treasures in the sanctum sanctorum, or Holy of Holies, they agreed to create a secret vault underground leading from King Solomon’s living quarters and ending nine levels below the sanctum sanctorum within Solomon’s Temple.



	[image: A side-by-side comparison of an 1851 depiction of the Masonic nine-arched vault from the Select Master Degree by Jeremy Ladd Cross and a depiction of the Money Pit on Oak Island, according to the earliest descriptions. The subterranean Masonic vault appears similar to a human ribcage with 9 curved rib-like arches and black space in between each arch. At the bottom there is a depiction of a copy of the Ark of the Covenant. In the air above the vault is a downward pointing triangle surrounded by 3 circles. The depiction of the subterranean Money Pit shows layers of material every 10 feet down to just over 90 feet below ground. At the surface a few drawings of trees are shown.]
	A visual comparison of the Masonic Vault of Nine Arches and the Oak Island Money Pit.


	We’re told that once the lowest or ninth arch was completed, the three Grand Masters deposited the exact imitation of the Ark of the Covenant. Inside the Ark, they placed an imitation of the pot of manna, Aaron’s rod, and a true copy of the Book of the Law. This Book of the Law contained all the Old Testament writings up to that period.

	In Hebrews 9:1–4, the Bible tells us that the original Ark of the Covenant contained the two stone tablets given to Moses by God on Mount Sinai. These are more commonly referred to as the Ten Commandments, which made up the terms of the covenant. We’re also told that the ark contained Aaron’s rod, or staff, and a gold jar containing manna.

	Aaron was a Biblical high priest and the brother of Moses, and manna is the bread-like substance that fell from heaven, according to Psalm 78:24, which sustained the Israelites during their forty years of wandering in the desert before arriving in the promised land.

	The Masonic Select Master degree ritual tells us that Solomon, king of Israel, Hiram, king of Tyre, and Hiram Abiff placed their initials each on a different side of the ark and, on the fourth side, wrote the year that it was deposited.

	In addition, just like in the Scottish Rite ritual, the Master’s Word was engraved on a triangular plate of gold. We’re told that, along with the Master’s Word, mysterious characters that would act as a key or cover words by which the Master’s Word may be revealed were engraved on the plate. It is further explained that, if the Children of Israel should be taken into captivity and remain in it for so long that they forget their original language, upon their return, by means of the key, the Word might be restored and known as the Master’s Word. The three Grand Masters also placed their three jewels with one on each side of the triangular gold plate.

	The actions within the degree ensure that the Master’s Word is preserved deep in the sacred vault. Within Masonic tradition and teachings, the Master’s Word does become lost to all Masons upon the death of the Grand Master Hiram Abiff. Outside of the vault, Hiram Abiff was said to be the last man alive to have known this word.

	I set out to find the original historical source of the description of the vault with nine arches in association with both Enoch and Solomon. I knew that Enoch was said to have lived long before King Solomon, so it made sense that the legend likely started with Enoch.

	The patriarch Enoch is mentioned in the Bible, but the vast majority of information about him is contained in the pseudepigraphal Book of Enoch. In fact, there are three Books of Enoch known. The oldest is the Ethiopic Book of Enoch, which was written during the first or second century bce. Certain early church fathers did not consider this book to be scripture, so it was not included in the Christian Bible.

	The second Book of Enoch is called the Slavonic Secrets of Enoch or Slavonic Apocalypse. It was written in the late first century AD. The third Book of Enoch is the Hebrew Book of Enoch, and this one is believed to have been written in the fifth to sixth century AD.

	It’s interesting to note that the original Ethiopic Book of Enoch was considered to be lost in Europe since the Middle Ages. The book was known to have existed based on other sources of writing about it. In the early 1770s, a Scottish Freemason and traveller named James Bruce discovered and acquired three full copies of the Book of Enoch while in Ethiopia.

	Bruce presented one of these copies to King Louis XV of France, to be kept in the French National Library, in 1773. The second copy was given to the Bodleian Library at Oxford University in England, and the third copy he kept for himself. Upon his death in 1794, this copy also went to the Bodleian Library.

	The Books of Enoch are apocalyptic in nature and, among other things, describe Enoch’s revelations and visits to both heaven and hell. It’s not entirely clear if Enoch physically goes to the locations described in the books or just has incredibly detailed visions, but he is apparently told by God to record what he sees.

	I read through all three of the Books of Enoch and could not find any specific references to a subterranean vault with nine arches. I did, however, discover where this imagery likely originated.

	In the first Book of Enoch, we learn about Enoch’s visions of heaven and hell, or the underworld. There are a couple of mentions of “the heavens,” but primarily, it refers to a single heaven. Hell is usually referred to as the “abyss.” Both the Bible and modern dictionaries state that an abyss means a “seemingly bottomless, unfathomable chasm or pit.”

	In the second Book of Enoch, the description of heaven is expanded significantly in that Enoch describes his mystical ascent through a hierarchy of ten heavens. He also hints at more than one level of hell. In chapter 40, verse 9, Enoch says, “…all existing things I wrote down, the height from earth to the seventh heaven, and downwards to the very lowest hell.”

	The concept of multiple levels or hierarchies of heaven and hell appears to have originated in ancient Mesopotamia with Sumerians and Babylonians, as they are said to have believed in seven heavens and a seven-gated underworld.

	So there is no specific mention of a subterranean vault of nine arches within any of the Books of Enoch, but there is the idea of multiple levels of hell and the association of hell with the abyss or a bottomless pit.

	The Scottish Rite degree involving the nine arches appears in history before the York Rite degree involving the same structure. The Scottish Rite degree ritual makes it clear that the vault is created by Enoch after his visions from God. The only obvious explanation for this statement is that it is meant to represent the levels of hell that he saw in his visions. The specific number of nine vaults and arches very likely comes from the popular idea of nine heavens and nine hells as described by Dante Alighieri’s Divine Comedy. The Divine Comedy consists of three books called Inferno, Purgatorio, and Paradiso. They were written between 1308 and 1320. The poem Inferno depicts an allegorical journey through hell, much like Enoch is said to have experienced. And, very specifically, the poem depicts nine circles or levels of hell located within the earth. The Divine Comedy is said to have significantly influenced history and very possibly could have influenced the original creators of the Masonic degree involving the vault of nine arches.



  
The Ark of the Covenant

	
	So, what is it about the Ark of the Covenant that makes it so important to Royal Arch Freemasons or Masons who follow the Antient original customs and teachings of the earliest Masonic rituals from Scotland—so much so that they have incorporated the Ark of the Covenant as the prime emblem within their organizational seal?



	[image: At the very center of the seal are the Arms of the Grand Chapter, showing a Lion, a Bull, a Man and an Eagle. These are meant to represent the four Christian Evangelists of Mark, Luke, Matthew and John. Above this is the crest which shows an image of the Ark of the Covenant, and there are two large Cherubim on either side with their wings raised up over the Ark. At the bottom are the words “Holiness To The Lord”. This is all within a circle and around this circle are the words “The Grand Chapter of Royal Arch Masons of Nova Scotia”]
	Seal of the Grand Chapter of Royal Arch Masons of Nova Scotia (with the Ark of the Covenant).


	As one early book on Freemasonry states, “It has always been a tradition of ours that after the precious heirloom of the Hebrew nation [the Ark of the Covenant] had disappeared from the Temple and was considered irrecoverably lost, our predecessors [the Knights Templar] found it in a subterranean Chamber and the Royal Arch has always commemorated this auspicious event.”

	So the early Royal Arch Masons were once taught that the Templars have discovered and retrieved the Ark of the Covenant, presumably from under the Temple of Solomon, and that as descendants of the Templars, they ritually act out the discovery as a way of remembering the momentous event and paying homage to the knights.

	Moving on to King Solomon, I discovered that there is in fact a historical source for at least part of this Masonic legend. According to the “Short Talk—The Royal Arch Story and the Crypt, or Vault, Legend” by Rob Soames, the source for the legend was written in about 400 ce (ad) by a Byzantine scholar named Philostorgius. He wrote about the rebuilding of the Temple of Jerusalem and gave an account of the discovery of a vault under an area of Solomon’s Temple.



	[image: This replica of the Ark of the Covenant is approximately four feet wide and two and a half feet high. In addition, there are two very large representations of Cherubim (Angels) kneeling at either end of the lid and are both bowed towards each other in prayer. Their wings are stretched up and over their heads and touch each other. There is a curtain behind the Ark and back lighting to illuminate the Cherubim.]
	The most famous replica of the Ark of the Covenant in the Royal Arch Room of the George Washington Masonic Memorial Building in Alexandria, Virginia. (Ben Schumin, public domain, via Wikimedia Commons)


	We’re told that Philostorgius’s actual written text has not survived, but nearly five hundred years later, a man named Photius wrote all about it. According to Philostorgius, the Roman Emperor Julian had ordered the local Jewish people to rebuild Jerusalem and its temple around 360 ce (ad). Not long after they started work, there was a very strong earthquake that caused the entrance of the vault to be revealed.

	Around the year 1320, another Byzantine historian named Nicephorus Callistus repeated Philostorgius’s story in detail. A copy of this book is said to be kept in the library at Freemasons’ Hall in London, England.

	Jump ahead to 1659, and an English scholar named Samuel Lee authored a book in which he translated Nicephorus Callistus’s account into English. We learn from the account that the earthquake had apparently loosened a foundation stone in the floor in a certain area of the former temple, and it had fallen or moved out of place. It left a hole such that the workers could see a cavern or a chamber in the dark below.

	They eventually lowered one of the workers down through the hole by a rope, and he found that he was standing in shallow water. He is said to have walked around the space in the dark and found it to be perfectly square in shape. When he went back toward the middle, he apparently bumped into a small column rising out of the water. When he felt it, he found a book wrapped in a fine linen cloth. Not finding anything else, he was pulled back by his companions. They carefully removed the linen and opened the book to the following words in large letters: “In the beginning was the Word—And the word was with God—And the word was God.”

	Now those words are from the opening chapter of the Gospel of John in the New Testament. Biblical scholars agree that it was written between 90 ce and 110 ce. This is, of course, well before the discovery date of the underground chamber in 360 ce, but the chamber was apparently hidden since the time of the destruction of the temple almost 950 years earlier, in 586 bce.

	Either way, we do have a historical source for a subterranean single-room vault under the Temple of Solomon, containing at least a chapter of the Bible or the Word of God.



  
The Hero’s Journey

	
	But why would the originators of this particular Masonic degree have candidates symbolically descending into the lowest level of hell to retrieve the sacred treasure? Because they were almost certainly trying to emulate ancient Greco-Roman “mystery” initiation rites, which I believe were tied closely to what would become known as the hero’s journey, or Monomyth, through the work of Joseph Campbell. During the hero’s journey, the hero must descend to the underworld to retrieve something of value.

	After studying countless myths and narratives, such as the Epic of Gilgamesh, mythologist and author Joseph Campbell identified certain elements and patterns that were common to many stories throughout history. He named this narrative archetype the hero’s journey, or Monomyth. It consists of three major phases: the departure, the initiation, and the return. It is truly a tale as old as time.

	Over a thousand years before the Old Testament account of Enoch, an unknown author composed the very earliest story known to humanity. It is known as the Epic of Gilgamesh, and it was originally written on clay tablets in ancient Sumer around 2100 bce. Even at the beginning of recorded history, we find the hero of the story descending into the underworld on a quest. This particular quest, in part, involved a search for the secret of immortality, in which the questor instead learns an important lesson about themself.

	One of the best-known examples of a story where the hero journeys to the underworld on a quest is within the ancient Greek epic poem the Odyssey, written by the poet Homer around the eighth or seventh century bce. It’s one of the oldest pieces of literature still widely read in modern times and is literally the origin of the word odyssey. Of course, stories like the Epic of Gilgamesh and the Odyssey are much more complex than a simple hero’s journey archetype.

	Even the Christian Son of God, Jesus Christ, is said to have “descended into hell and rose again from the dead on the third day” in the “Apostles’ Creed.” The period between the crucifixion of Jesus and his resurrection is known in Christian theology as the “Harrowing of Hell.” We’re told that during his time in hell Jesus granted salvation to the souls he encountered there.

	The idea of an initiate symbolically descending into hell or the underworld also appears to have been prominent among the ancient mystery schools of Egypt, Greece, and Rome. The secret wisdom taught by these schools was only available to the initiated; however, certain general knowledge has survived. These ancient schools also seem to have had a significant influence on literature and culture.

	The mystery schools of Greco-Roman antiquity include the Eleusinian Mysteries, the Orphic Mysteries, and the Dionysian Mysteries. The Orphic Mysteries are associated with the mythical poet Orpheus, who descended into the Greek underworld and returned. Orpheus had just married Eurydice when she was bitten by a viper and died. In his extreme grief, Orpheus went down to the underworld to try and convince Hades to let her live again. Hades was a brother of Zeus, Demeter, and Poseidon, and was never seen as a villain. In fact, Orpheus was able to convince Hades to let him take Eurydice back with him into the world of the living.

	Followers of Orpheus also revered Dionysus, the Greek god of fertility and a son of Zeus. He too travelled to the underworld, where he bargained with Hades to bring back his deceased mother Semele.

	The Eleusinian Mysteries represent the myth of the abduction of the goddess Persephone from her parents, Demeter and Zeus. Persephone was taken by her uncle Hades, the king of the underworld. The mysteries were taught to initiates in a cycle with three phases: the descent, the search, and the ascent. This, of course, sounds very much like Joseph Campbell’s modern concept of the hero’s journey, which includes the departure, the initiation, and the return.

	The classic tale of Eros and Psyche from Apuleius’s Metamorphoses is an example of the heroine’s journey, as the hero of the story is the mortal female Psyche. In this story, Aphrodite, the mother of Eros, due to her jealousy of Psyche’s beauty, imposes four seemingly impossible trials on her. The last of these involve a descent into the most dangerous part of the underworld to obtain a special cream from Persephone, the queen of the underworld and wife of Hades.

	Certainly, all of these stories share a theme of death and rebirth, as well as transformation. In the book Morals and Dogma of the Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite of Freemasonry by 33rd-degree Freemason Albert Pike, he states that “for the immutable law exemplified in the trials of Psyche, man must pass through the terrors of the under-world, before he can reach the height of Heaven” (1871).

	A number of prominent Masonic researchers and authors have stated that Freemasonry is the modern-day equivalent of the ancient mystery schools. In his book Antient Mystic Oriental Masonry, Reuben Swinburne Clymer, the Supreme Grand Master of the modern Rosicrucian group Fraternitas Rosae Crucis, states that “Freemasonry is modeled on the plan of the Antient Mysteries” and that “the identity of the Masonic Institution with the Antient Mysteries is obvious from the striking coincidences found to exist between them” (1907).

	George H. Steinmetz, in his excellent book Freemasonry: Its Hidden Meaning (1982), states that “ancient secret doctrine which is concealed in Masonic allegory and symbolism…was but to preserve these truths for future generations that Masonry was perpetuated.” And the well-known Masonic author Manly P. Hall, in his book The Lost Keys of Freemasonry, simply states that “the true Masonic Lodge is a Mystery School” (1923).

	The subterranean vault with nine arches does appear to symbolize the lowest level of hell, where the initiate faces their worst fears and demons in order to overcome them. But this same vault can also be seen as a grave or a doorway to the underworld and the world of the dead. Anyone who enters partakes in a symbolic death, and to escape, they must be symbolically reborn.

	Joseph Campbell originally identified seventeen stages or landmarks within the hero’s journey. These stages were later combined and simplified into the more widely known twelve stages by Christopher Vogler in his book The Writer’s Journey (1998).

	Stage One is the Ordinary World, or normal life of the hero, before any adventure or quest begins. Like most people, the hero likely has problems in their life, perhaps certain flaws in their character or fears that hold them back.

	Stage Two is the Call to Adventure, where a certain challenge presents itself, disrupting the normal life of the hero and compelling them to decide whether to undertake the adventure or not.

	Stage Three is the Refusal of the Call, where possible insecurity, doubt, or fear may set in. The potential hero may feel that they are not good enough or not prepared to undertake something outside of their comfort zone.

	Stage Four is called Meeting with the Mentor. This is the stage at which someone arrives who offers encouragement, possible training, and most importantly, insight or wisdom that can change the hero’s mind.

	Stage Five is known as Crossing the Threshold. This is where the hero goes past the point of no return. The decision has been made to pursue the quest, and their life may never be the same again.

	Stage Six is called Trials, Allies, Enemies. This is when the hero begins to learn more about their quest and starts to go through certain challenges. They also meet new people along the way. Some will become friends and want to help, while others may not be so friendly and could hinder the hero’s progress.

	Stage Seven is known as the Approach to the Inmost Cave. This almost certainly alludes to Campbell’s original findings that these kinds of quests historically involve entering the underworld. The inmost, or innermost, cave would refer to the ninth arch or lowest level of the vault in Freemasonry. As one approaches the inmost cave, there could be setbacks that cause the hero to look at different options or come up with new ideas. It can be a lesson in persistence and thinking outside the box.

	Stage Eight is the Ordeal itself. It has been referred to as “slaying the dragon,” where the hero is potentially in grave danger and faced with a very difficult obstacle or great fear. They must overcome their fears or weaknesses in order to prevail.

	Stage Nine is the Reward. The hero has managed to survive the ordeal and earned the reward or primary object of their quest. The hero is now likely a changed person, but the quest is not yet over.

	Stage Ten is the Road Back, where the hero must begin the journey back to their ordinary life. This could be a challenge, as they’ve been through a lot and may be reluctant to return to the way things were before.

	Stage Eleven is called the Resurrection. This is the point at which the hero faces the final big challenge where everything is at stake. They must draw upon their life experiences as well as all that they learned from their mentors and their previous trials. Having endured so much and by overcoming the final challenge, the hero is transformed and reborn as a better version of themselves.

	Stage Twelve is when the hero Returns with the Elixir, so to speak. In certain historical tales, the elixir would be a magical or medicinal potion, but in most cases, it refers to the reborn hero returning to their ordinary life as a better person with new insight and wisdom that they can then use to help others.

	The true reward is not the original object of the quest, but the positive transformation of one’s character and the application of that transformation and wisdom to help others.



  
Early Masonic Rituals and the Money Pit

	
	Nowadays, Freemasons who participate in the degrees involving the subterranean vault are only symbolically descending through the nine arches and ascending back. But during the earliest days of Freemasonry, the degree rituals were meant to be as realistic as possible. In the opening of the actual Scottish Rite 13th degree ritual, recorded by Henry Andrew Francken twelve years before the discovery of the Money Pit, in 1783, it states that “the place where this Royal Lodge or college is held, ought to be in a very secret place, and should be underground vaulted, without either door or window, with a small trap door at Top, big enough to let a brother through.”

	The bottom of the Money Pit, just below where the 90-foot Stone was found and before the bottom collapsed further down, would have been meant to symbolize the ninth arch, the inmost cave, or the lowest level of the underworld. This would be quite fitting given that the very first known written reference to the digging on Oak Island from the Mephibosheth Stepsure letters by Thomas McCulloch jokingly suggests that the searchers had dug so deep that they entered the “other world,” where they encountered the devil and were lucky to get away with just the loss of their tools.

	With all this in mind, I think it’s very possible that the Money Pit on Oak Island has been utilized by early Freemasons, as well as earlier related groups, for the purpose of physically acting out the hero’s journey as a key component of their degree rituals, in order for the candidate to better “know thyself” and improve themselves.

	One of the original members of the old Oak Island Treasure forum was a lawyer and Freemason from New Zealand named Dennis King. Not long before I joined the group, Dennis made a post titled “Did the Oak Island Legend Start Out as a Masonic Ritual?” in November 2004.

	King begins by referring to an article by Joe Nickell in the Skeptical Inquirer from 2000, in which Nickell suggests that the symbolism of the Money Pit on Oak Island is related to the ritual of the Holy Royal Arch Degree and that it was made up by those relaying the earliest accounts in the 1860s.

	King goes on to say that, as a Freemason, he sees the reported symbolism surrounding the Money Pit and its discovery as more similar to the Scottish Rite 13th degree of the Royal Arch of Enoch or Royal Arch of Solomon. King also ultimately concludes that these earliest Masonic descriptions of the discovery were added as part of a Masonic prank or joke.

	I certainly do agree with King that the reported symbolism of the Money Pit does strongly resemble that of the Royal Arch of Enoch. However, I don’t believe it was all a prank. I’ve discovered far too much additional information over the years that makes this scenario very unlikely.

	Mark Finnan was the second author to write about the Masonic connections to Oak Island in his book Oak Island Secrets (1995). In this book, Finnan suggests that the Money Pit symbolism is connected to Cryptic Masonry or Masonry of the Secret Vault (150).

	Finnan was likely not aware at the time that another researcher named Betty McKaig had written an article in the periodical Baconiana in 1985, in which she also suggests that the Oak Island Money Pit is somehow tied to the Select Master degree. As far as I’m aware, McKaig was the first person to make this Masonic connection.

	Dennis King updated his post in May 2010 and titled it “The Oak Island Legend: The Masonic Angle.” In the post, King points out a number of significant similarities between the Scottish Rite 13th degree of the Royal Arch of Enoch and one of the earliest accounts of the Money Pit discovery as written by J. B. McCully of the Oak Island Association.

	The first is that the Money Pit was discovered by three men (McGinnis, Smith, and Vaughan), while the subterranean vault of Enoch is discovered by three men also—the three Grand Master Architects.

	Next in the newspaper account, we’re told that three oak trees surround the Money Pit in a triangular shape. As King points out, the triangle is a recurring symbol in the Masonic Royal Arch of Enoch degree.

	In addition, we’re told that a large stone was discovered down in the Money Pit with characters engraved on it. In the Masonic ritual, a cubic stone with inscriptions is raised by an iron ring at the entrance to Enoch’s temple. There are also other instances of characters and hieroglyphics engraved on items in the ritual.

	Furthermore, in this early Oak Island account, we’re told that at 93 feet (28.3 m) down in the pit, the diggers probed below with a crowbar and struck a wooden platform at 98 feet (29.9 m), which they interpret as a treasure chest or a chamber. In the Royal Arch degree, the three sojourners discover a vault containing a treasure including the secret name of God when their crowbar strikes a rock which makes a hollow sound.

	The final similarity of note is that we’re told that the Money Pit collapsed. This apparently happened at least twice in the early days as relayed by two different people. In the Masonic ritual, when one of the three Grand Master Architects enters the ninth level of Enoch’s temple, “a parcel of stone and mortar suddenly fell in.” Later we’re told that several ancient masters asked King Solomon for the secrets of the 13th degree and were refused, whereupon they entered Enoch’s subterranean temple to discover the secrets for themselves, but the nine arches collapsed and “fell in upon them” (Crafts 157).

	Many of the earlier Oak Island books mention that at least two celebrities were very interested in the hunt for treasure on Oak Island: Hollywood actor John Wayne and eventual United States President Franklin D. Roosevelt. What isn’t always mentioned is that both of these men were also not only Freemasons, but 32nd degree Scottish Rite Masons. They both would have been very familiar with the 13th degree involving the subterranean vault of nine arches.

	There’s a well-known acronym within Hermetic philosophy and alchemy called V.I.T.R.I.O.L. The word vitriol in antiquity meant sulphuric acid, as it was once called “oil of vitriol.” But the acronym is believed to have originated in the fifteenth century and stands for Visita Interiora Terrae Rectificando Invenies Occultum Lapidem. This translates to “visit the interior of the earth and by rectifying (or purifying) you will find the hidden stone.” This phrase, which originated over five hundred years ago, was associated with the philosopher’s stone, a substance said to be able to turn base metal into gold and even bring immortality. The translation also sounds like it could be referring to the 90-foot Stone found deep in the Money Pit.

	Either way, it is almost certainly referring to spiritual alchemy or transformation. Visiting the interior of the earth can be a metaphor for going inside oneself and working on self-improvement. The so-called hidden stone likely refers to uncovering your future self, or who you can become through rectification of your flaws.

	Masonic ritual in general is a system of moral and spiritual transformation. It inspires men to look at themselves, to try and truly see and know themselves, identify character flaws, and work to positively change the way they behave and interact with others. This is why one of the slogans of Freemasonry is “Making Good Men Better.” Masonic teachings guide Masons to make themselves better.



  
The Rhodolite Garnet

	
	Toward the end of season 5 of The Curse of Oak Island, Gary Drayton and Rick Lagina are shown detecting metal on lot 8. After some time, they uncover what appears to be a brooch setting, and soon after, they find a red gemstone that once accompanied the setting. In the follow-up episode, Drayton stated that they had the stone examined by a gemologist, and it was found to be a rhodolite garnet.

	Knowing that lot 8 once belonged to long-time Freemason Jonathan Prescott prior to 1784, I was especially intrigued as to where the semi-precious garnet might have come from. Prescott had first been initiated into Freemasonry in Saint John’s Lodge in Boston, but he joined the Chester lodge near Oak Island in 1784.

	As I thought more about this red garnet, it occurred to me that it was actually the perfect colour, size, and general shape as one of the stones in a Masonic Royal Arch high priest breastplate.

	These have long been used in a specific Masonic ritual and are meant to mimic the breastplate of judgement worn by Biblical high priests. The high priest is the head of the Masonic Royal Arch chapter, and according to the Bible, the original high priest was the only person permitted to see the Ark of the Covenant once each year on the Day of Atonement. The making of the original breastplate is described in the Book of Exodus. On it were twelve precious and semi-precious stones, arranged in four rows of three, representing the twelve tribes of Israel.



	[image: A close-up image shows the smooth and multi-faceted oval shaped garnet surrounded at the perimeter by a circular layer of corrosion. This is sitting on a slightly larger oval yet jagged shaped setting that is also covered in corrosion.]
	The red garnet and setting found on lot 8 on Oak Island. (Prometheus Entertainment)


	According to the King James translation of the Bible, one of these twelve stones was a carbuncle or a deep red gemstone. Nowadays, a carbuncle is most often associated with a red garnet, like the one found on Oak Island.

	Although later Royal Arch breastplates could be purchased through a Masonic supply company, earlier versions would have been handmade and would have had varying styles. The gemstones could have come from anywhere, and some could have already been quite old before being set into the breastplate.

	But what would a Masonic Royal Arch high priest’s breastplate be doing on Oak Island? As it turns out, two of the men intimately connected to Oak Island in the early to mid-twentieth century were Royal Arch high priests at the very highest level. They were both grand high priests in the Grand Chapter of Nova Scotia.

	Reginald V. Harris was the grand high priest from 1926 to 1928. He was also the lawyer and friend of the long-time Oak Island treasure hunters Fred Blair and Gilbert Hedden, who themselves were Freemasons. Harris was admitted to the bar in Nova Scotia in 1905 and became a Freemason in 1913. He likely learned about Oak Island from Fred Blair early on.

	Melbourne (Mel) R. Chappell was the Royal Arch grand high priest from 1954 to 1956. Chappell was also a long-time Oak Island landowner and treasure-trove licence holder. He first became involved with Oak Island by working with his father, William Chappell, in 1931. By the end of 1950, Mel Chappell owned much of Oak Island (including lot 8).



	[image: A thin square metal plate that has a framed appearance. The framing around the four sides has foliage engraved into it. Within the main center are twelve different coloured gemstones, each representing the twelve Tribes of Israel. This particular breastplate also has the name of each tribe engraved below each stone. The stones on this particular Masonic breastplate do not have peripheral settings, but other but other examples do. There is also a long chain attached to each side of the top so that it can be worn around the neck and hang down over the chest.]
	An example of a Masonic Royal Arch high priest breastplate from the 1880s. (Seth Anthony)


	Both Harris and Chappell were also Grand Masters of another York Rite body called the Cryptic Rite. Within this body, they were both Grand Masters of the Supreme Grand Council of Eastern Jurisdiction Royal and Select Masters of Canada. The Cryptic Rite rituals, like those of the Royal Arch, involve the retrieval of the Ark of the Covenant from a secret vault underground.

	As I’ve stated previously, Royal Arch Freemasonry has existed in Nova Scotia since at least 1794, but the earliest Royal Arch Chapter known to exist in North America was in Jonathan Prescott’s hometown of Boston. It was called Saint Andrew’s Royal Arch Chapter and was established in 1769.

	We then know that connections to Royal Arch Freemasonry in Nova Scotia go back at least 250 years. We also know that at least two men who were intimately connected to Oak Island were also Royal Arch grand high priests who would have worn a breastplate with the twelve gemstones during their rituals. But would there be any reason for them, or any earlier Royal Arch Masons, to conduct Masonic rituals on Oak Island? The answer is yes!

	In the earliest days of Freemasonry, as I’ve mentioned before, the degree rituals were meant to be as realistic as possible.

	Reginald V. Harris and Mel Chappell are both perfect candidates for having a Masonic Royal Arch breastplate on Oak Island for the purpose of acting out a Masonic ritual. Both would have been on the island long before the causeway was built in 1965, and the many trees would have offered significant seclusion. The breastplates they would have had may also have been quite old, having been passed down within the lodges.

	Perhaps if one were to go digging through the Masonic Archives in Halifax, or a dusty lodge storage room, they might come across an old Royal Arch high priest’s breastplate that just happens to be missing its carbuncle or red garnet gemstone.

	Of course, there’s always the possibility that Jonathan Prescott, Captain James Anderson, and the other members of Chester Lodge No. 9 prior to 1795 made use of certain Masonic rituals to hide a real sacred treasure on the island. Or perhaps they were ritually paying homage to their believed predecessors, the Knights Templar, who they also may have believed buried the Ark of the Covenant on Oak Island centuries before.



  
Tying It All Together

	
	I’ve always believed that Oak Island in particular was chosen as a perfect place to hide one or more sacred artifacts because a very deep sinkhole was discovered there. I believe this sinkhole was then modified for use as a subterranean vault, with physical markings or partial layers made every 10 feet (3 m) to below 90 feet (27.4 m), very likely with tunnels and one or more side chambers, created to hide at least one sacred artifact.

	Once the original sacred artifact was hidden, I believe the actual vault was kept open to be used for physically acting out rituals. Surely there would have also been some way to seal off the top so nobody would stumble across it and no animal would fall into it.

	Based on certain information that Freemasons are told within the modern ritual, it’s possible that the Knights Templar were the ones who discovered and modified the original workings on Oak Island. It’s not likely, but it is possible. The so-called paved area in the swamp was scientifically dated to 1200 CE, which fits perfectly with the Templar period. Perhaps they did discover a sacred artifact under the Temple of Solomon when they were stationed in Jerusalem and brought it to the New World to safely hide away.

	I believe it’s more likely that a later group was responsible for the original creation of the vault. This would have been either very early Freemasons, Rosicrucians from the early 1600s, or people connected to the creation of those groups, who very likely involved Sir Francis Bacon, Dr. John Dee, and Sir Humphrey Gilbert in the late 1500s.

	I believe that Captain Andrew Belcher learned about this Masonic vault, possibly through his Gilbert family connections or early Masonic connections. And I believe that Belcher suggested this location to William Phips and company as a perfect place to hide silver from the Concepción shipwreck. The location of the vault would almost certainly have been passed to his son Jonathan Belcher Sr. and the leaders of his Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 in Boston in 1733. Again, Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 was the very first Grand Lodge in North America. One of its members, Dr. Jonathan Prescott, then went on to become one of the very first lot owners on Oak Island once lots became available.

	It’s my belief that, sometime around 1785, a decision was made to stop using the vault for physical ritual purposes and to seal it off. The flood tunnels would have been created then, and layers of material or logs would have been created at every 10 feet (3 m) as they backfilled the vault. It’s also possible that the flood tunnels could have been created much earlier but not “set” until the vault was backfilled.

	More often than not, a quest does not lead to monetary treasure or the answers one is hoping for, but instead, the journey itself is the real treasure. The hero is transformed for the better. This is one of the key aims of Freemasonry, which is symbolized by the rough and perfect ashlar stones in the lodge. The rough ashlar represents a man’s unrefined state and need for improvement. The perfect ashlar in turn represents a Freemason, who works to become a more morally upstanding citizen and strives to obtain enlightenment through Masonic ritual and Masonic education, which could be the real treasure of Oak Island.
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	Chapter 11 An Idea That Could Change Masonic History



	So far I’ve detailed a number of my discoveries that all strongly support my initial belief that Freemasonry has played a huge part in Oak Island’s history. These discoveries include:

	
	
			A direct family connection between the earliest and highest levels of Freemasons in North America and Oak Island.

			A connection between the man who funded Sir William Phips’s expedition to the Concepción, whose own father was a member of the oldest Masonic lodge in the world, and the owner of the Money Pit lot in 1795.

			The revelation that several pre-1795 Oak Island lot owners were Freemasons in Chester Lodge No. 9 under the Antient Grand Lodge of England.

			The revelation that the man who conducted the first meeting of Chester Lodge No. 9 was also a member of the Grand Lodge of Royal Arch Masons in New York and the Antient Grand Lodge of England, and he had just conducted the very first recorded Mark Mason degree in North America only weeks earlier.

			The revelation that three of the very first Speculative Masons’ Marks recorded in Nova Scotia were also three of the most prominent symbols on the 90-foot Stone.

	

	
All these discoveries not only show a strong connection between Oak Island and Freemasonry as a whole, but more specifically, the degree rituals of the Royal Arch. As you’ll see, I’ve made yet another discovery that could truly solidify this Royal Arch connection.

	Looking back at some of my key discoveries, the circumstantial evidence strongly points to Spanish silver from the Concepción shipwreck being on Oak Island. I believe this plan was masterminded and carried out by Captain Andrew Belcher and Sir William Phips. As we’ve also seen, there are multiple close Oak Island connections involving Captain Belcher’s son and grandson, with their friends and colleagues owning the first lots on Oak Island.

	However, this theory doesn’t explain all of the Royal Arch degree connections to Oak Island. There’s the biggest Royal Arch feature of all—the Money Pit itself. Its description of having layers every 10 feet (3 m) down to 90 feet (27.4 m) strongly suggests the Royal Arch of Enoch (or Solomon) degree.

	But what’s interesting is that the very first reference to Royal Arch Masonry isn’t recorded until December 27, 1743, in Ireland, exactly ten years to the day before Gifford and Smith were granted Island 28, aka Oak Island, by Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence. According to the records of Lodge No. 21 in Youghal, Ireland, the “Royal Arch was carried in a procession by two excellent Masons” through Youghal.

	I’ve always been under the impression that the Oak Island Money Pit, with its described layers, was based on the Masonic rituals involving the subterranean vault with nine arches. But what if it was actually the other way around? What if it was the so-called Money Pit or vault on Oak Island that inspired the creation of these Masonic rituals?

	I know this suggestion is controversial, but several of the connections I’ve discovered do seem to suggest this possibility. Keep in mind that Masonic historians simply don’t know exactly when or by whom the higher rituals within Freemasonry were created.

	As I’ve explained previously, one of the people who accompanied Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle, to Jamaica in late 1687, and who almost certainly would have known all about the second treasure recovery attempt from the Concepción, was the duke’s personal physician, Dr. Hans Sloane.

	The Duke of Albemarle had largely financed Phips’s very successful first treasure recovery attempt, and when Phips and his entourage returned to the wreck site in late 1687, the duke, as well as Dr. Sloane, accompanied them much of the way.

	Dr. Hans Sloane was a most interesting character. By the time he left for Jamaica with Christopher Monck and Phips’s entourage in late 1687, he was not only a doctor, but also a member of both the Royal Society and the Royal College of Physicians. He was also a Freemason, but the date of his initiation is not known.

	As I was to discover, Dr. Hans Sloane almost certainly knew the map-maker Herman Moll. They had many of the same intellectual friends, such as Sloane’s fellow Royal Society members Robert Boyle and Robert Hooke. Boyle was also a Freemason.

	Various sources, such as RareMaps.com, state that Moll sometimes learned secretive or privileged information from these friends, which he incorporated into his maps. I believe that’s exactly what happened with his 1701 map (page 104) that shows both the Concepción shipwreck, which he names “plate rack” or “silver wreck,” and a new place in New Scotland (Nova Scotia), which he calls “La Plata.” La Plata is Spanish for “the silver,” and the use of both “plate” and “plata” shows that Moll was very clearly linking the two sites together.

	As I’ve also discussed previously, I believe that the 1688 letter I discovered also adds significant circumstantial evidence to my contention that Captain Andrew Belcher and Sir William Phips conspired to hide silver from the Concepción on Oak Island. The letter very clearly shows suspicious activity involving both Belcher’s and Phips’s ships, dealing with alleged pirates very soon after Phips’s ship had returned from the Concepción wreck site. The letter states that, after Captain Belcher “traded” with the pirates, the pirates went directly to Port-la-Bare (Port L’Hebert) in Nova Scotia, where they burned their ship. Again, Port L’Hebert is very close to Oak Island and would have been one of the few places named in that area in 1688.

	I also think Captain Andrew Belcher knew that there was an existing open pit or vault on what would eventually be named Oak Island, and that he either learned this through Masonic channels in Europe or through his wife’s Gilbert family. The original vault may have been created by the Knights Templar, or more likely by an early Masonic or Rosicrucian group less than a hundred years earlier. The use of the vault on Oak Island to hide silver would have almost certainly been planned by Phips and Belcher in advance of their return to the wreck site, with the Duke of Albemarle and Dr. Sloane likely in on the secret.

	As we know, Charles Mordaunt also showed up at the Concepción wreck site in early 1688, where he suspiciously remained with his ships for a few months. Then upon his return to the Netherlands, it was only a matter of months before William of Orange and his wife Mary instigated the Glorious Revolution to oust King James II and end the Stuart reign in England.

	Like Dr. Hans Sloane, the majority of the Royal Society members were Freemasons. The Royal Society also had a strong Stuart backing, as both King James II and King Charles II were members and supporters. So, when King James II was deposed, these same Freemasons remained sympathetic to the restoration of the Stuart throne. They became known as Jacobites, after the Latin form of the name James.

	When King James II was ousted, he moved with his family to France. Many of his closest supporters also joined him there, as they plotted his return to the throne. There was a significant Jacobite uprising in 1715, which was subdued. And there was another one thirty years later, in 1745, when Prince Charles Edward Stuart or Bonnie Prince Charlie, the grandson of King James II, led another uprising. This campaign started well but ended about eight months later when the Jacobite supporters were defeated at the Battle of Culloden. The prince and some of his supporters managed to escape back to France.

	I even found a reference to Jacobite ciphers that were discovered in a collection of Jacobite letters in the north of England. The ciphers are discussed in an 1871 publication titled Notes and Queries: A Medium of Intercommunication for Literary Men, General Readers, Etc. The source only gives about twelve examples of ciphered words from the letters, but they include “Duke,” “Albemarle,” “King James,” and “Narborrows.” Admiral Sir John Narborough was part of William Phips’s entourage during the second visit to the Concepción wreck site. Sir Narborough died of an illness shortly before Phips headed back to Boston in 1688. I haven’t seen these letters, but based on the limited ciphers provided in the publication, they could prove a connection between Phips’s treasure recovery and the Glorious Revolution that started the Jacobite movement.

	It was during this time, toward the 1740s, when Masonic historians believe a number of the higher grades of Freemasonry were being developed. These new grades were part of what was called Ecossais or Scottish Masonry in France. The degree involving the underground vault with nine arches developed during this time and became part of what turned into the Rite of Perfection in Paris in 1758. These degrees later became part of what is known today as the Scottish Rite.

	Over time, 25 degrees were developed within Ecossais Masonry in France. In 1762 a man named Etienne (Stephen) Morin was appointed grand inspector in all parts of the world by a Masonic council in France. Morin eventually conferred the degrees on a man named Henry Andrew Francken, who became deputy inspector general. Francken wrote out the rituals of these degrees in three manuscripts, with the most complete version written in 1783. I have a copy of this version, and it shows the degree pertaining to the vault with nine arches as being called Knights of the Royal Arch or simply Royal Arch. It eventually became known as the Royal Arch of Enoch or Master of the Ninth Arch.

	Masonic historians don’t know with certainty who may have been responsible for the creation of the various degrees, but the name that comes up most often is (Chevalier) Andrew Michael Ramsay. Ramsay was born in Ayr, Scotland, not far from Kilwinning. He became a tutor to Bonnie Prince Charlie and his brother during their exile in France. Ramsay was also a Freemason and became a baronet in the Jacobite peerage.

	Chevalier Ramsay is most famous for the speech that he gave to the Grand Lodge in Paris in 1737 that became known as “Ramsay’s Oration.” In this oration, Ramsay states that Freemasonry was originally linked with the medieval crusaders and chivalric orders. These crusaders eventually became the Knights Templar. Critics then and now have repeatedly stated that there is absolutely no historical evidence to support this claim. I, however, am not so sure. As I’ve shown previously, modern historian AJ Morton has brought forward quite a bit of evidence that the Kilwinning area of Scotland, where one of the earliest Masonic lodges on earth is found, has many Templar properties around it. Ramsay himself was born and raised very close to Kilwinning, so his claims may not have simply been an idealistic and romantic view but based on what he had learned in Scotland.

	Certain Masonic historians, such as Dr. George Oliver in the 1850s, also strongly believe that Chevalier Ramsay had invented the Royal Arch degree. This claim had supporters early on, but later fell out of favour. More recently, researcher and author Marsha Keith Schuchard has discovered significant information to reaffirm a potential Jacobite source for these degrees. I highly recommend Schuchard’s excellent book Restoring the Temple of Vision: Cabalistic Freemasonry and Stuart Culture.

	As I was to discover, Chevalier Ramsay was also a friend of Dr. Hans Sloane. In fact, they were both members of a quasi-Masonic club called the Spalding Gentlemen’s Society. Dr. Sloane became a member in 1726, and Ramsay joined in 1730.

	It’s interesting to note that Dr. Hans Sloan was not only a Freemason and member of the Royal Society. According to the publication Leibniz, Mysticism and Religion, edited by Allison P. Coudert, Richard H. Popkin, and Gordon M. Weiner, Dr. Sloane was a collector of manuscripts and treatises on kabbalism and Rosicrucianism. The same publication states that the Royal Society was “an essentially Rosicrucian organization with strong royalist [Stuart] backing” (1998).

	According to the research paper “Kabbalah and Freemasonry” by W. Kirk MacNulty (1999), Dr. Sloan was also a member of a Cabala Club run by his friend John Byrom. Dr. Sloan was known for having owned two of the oldest Masonic manuscripts in the world from 1646 and 1659 and very old manuscripts regarding magical conjuration of spirits to reveal treasure.

	When Dr. Sloane passed away in 1753, his vast collection of manuscripts and artifacts was bequeathed to the British nation, which provided the foundation of the British Museum, the British Library, and the Natural History Museum in London.

	What if Dr. Hans Sloane did know about the nine-arched underground vault on Oak Island from Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle, and what if he told Chevalier Ramsay about it? Ramsay could then have created the original Royal Arch degree with the vault of nine arches based on the real vault, or Money Pit, on Oak Island. Ramsay would also not have wanted to reveal the existence of the real vault on Oak Island so he would have incorporated the Enoch story into the actual ritual.

	Of course, this hypothesis is primarily based on circumstantial evidence at the moment, but it makes for a pretty interesting and believable theory.
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	Chapter 12 Real Ties Between the Oak Island Mystery and the National Treasure Movies


	
	Note: If you haven’t seen the movies yet, there are a few minor spoilers ahead.

	If we do a search on the most popular treasure-hunting movies of all time, we will inevitably find National Treasure in the top ten. Similarly, if we do a search on the most popular movies involving Freemasonry, we will usually find National Treasure at or near number one. What people may not know is that the first National Treasure movie was inspired by the real-life Oak Island mystery.

	When the first National Treasure movie came out in late 2004, the official website had a number of information pods that discussed things connected to the movie. One of these pods was specifically about Oak Island and mentioned author Mark Finnan. Finnan was a consultant for the movie.

	The DVD release in May 2005 included a bonus treasure-hunt game with puzzles and codes that, when found, unlocked special bonus features. One of the these features was an opening scene animatic, a two-minute and twenty-second animation showing a captain sailing a Knights Templar ship. Then the animation showed a map of a cross at Rosslyn, Scotland, with a large arrow going directly to a point in southern Greenland and another large arrow going directly to the Oak Island area of Nova Scotia. There was then a smaller arrow going to New England, where the treasure in the movie was ultimately hidden.

	The map in the animatic appears to be indicating that the Templar treasure in the movie was first hidden on Oak Island but later moved to New England. Or the movie is simply paying homage to Oak Island by pointing it out before settling on New England.

	Although the National Treasure movies are fictional, they include many elements of factual history. In fact, I’ve come across a number of pieces of factual history from the movies that tie in directly to my overall research on Oak Island.

	Anyone who has watched the first National Treasure movie knows that “the secret lies with Charlotte.” This isn’t a spoiler as it’s mentioned in one of the opening scenes of the movie. I discovered that there was in fact a ship named Charlotte, and it had been built in England in 1784, the same year the Chester Lodge No. 9 near Oak Island was formed.

	What struck me right away was that the master of the ship Charlotte was a man named Thomas Gilbert. I knew that a Thomas Gilbert was a close relative of Captain Andrew Belcher. Captain Andrew Belcher owned many ships, and one of his ships was called The Swan. His brother-in-law, Captain Thomas Gilbert (1655–1719), was the commander of The Swan for many years. Gilbert was a member of the early Massachusetts Navy and fought against the French in King William’s War with Captain Andrew Belcher.

	Upon further research, however, I was able to determine that it was not the same Thomas Gilbert, as they lived almost a century apart. The real Charlotte is believed to have been lost at sea off the coast of Newfoundland in 1818.

	In the first National Treasure movie, Paul Revere is mentioned as being one of the early United States Freemasons, along with George Washington and Benjamin Franklin. Revere is most famous for his midnight ride before the official start of the American Revolutionary War.

	On the evening of April 18, 1775, Paul Revere and William Dawes were instructed by Joseph Warren to warn Samuel Adams and John Hancock that the British were on their way to arrest them. Adams and Hancock were both in Lexington, Massachusetts, at that time.

	Warren also asked Revere to deliver a warning to the officials in Concord, Massachusetts, that British troops were on the way to seize all the weapons that were being amassed there. Revere and Dawes were successful in warning Adams and Hancock in Lexington and began making their way to Concord. Not long after setting out, they ran into Dr. Samuel Prescott. As Revere knew Dr. Prescott to be a fellow patriot and Son of Liberty, he informed him of their mission. Dr. Prescott convinced the other men that, since he was from Concord, he might have better luck at getting residents to listen to him.

	The three men set out toward Concord but were soon intercepted by a British scouting party. Revere was captured, but Dawes and Prescott escaped. Dr. Prescott managed to warn a number of people and eventually made it to Concord where he alerted a man named Amos Melvin, the only minuteman on duty that night. Melvin then rang the bell to alert the entire town.

	The reason I’m mentioning this event is not because Paul Revere, William Dawes, Joseph Warren, and John Hancock were all Freemasons (which they were), but because Dr. Samuel Prescott is actually a first cousin of early Oak Island lot owner Dr. Jonathan Prescott. And incredibly, that’s not the only Oak Island connection. Amos Melvin, the minuteman who rang the bell at Concord, was a cousin of Oak Island lot owner Robert Melvin.

	Dr. Jonathan Prescott and Robert Melvin each owned two Oak Island lots as early as the 1760s, and Robert Melvin and his family would go on to own many more.

	There’s also a scene near the end of the first National Treasure movie that again mentions Paul Revere. However, the actual facts are a little twisted. In the movie, one of the main characters is describing a clue and states that it points to “the Old North Church in Boston, where Thomas Newton hung a lantern in the steeple to signal Paul Revere that the British were coming.”

	In reality, it was not Thomas Newton, but a man named Robert Newman, a caretaker of the Old North Church in Boston, who was involved. Robert Newman, along with Captain John Pulling Jr., lit and held two lamps at the top of the church to signal that the British were coming by sea, across the Charles River. If they had held one lamp, it would have signalled that the British were coming by land. They were also not signalling Paul Revere but the patriot soldiers and supporters, as this occurred on the same evening as Revere’s and Prescott’s midnight rides in April 1775.

	The Oak Island connection here is that Robert Newman was a Masonic lodge brother of Oak Island lot owner Dr. Jonathan Prescott. Both had been members of Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 in Boston.

	Two more connections between the first National Treasure movie and Oak Island are through the Declaration of Independence. These are by no means direct connections, but I find them interesting.
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	The Committee of Five (L to R: John Adams, Roger Sherman, Robert R. Livingston, Thomas Jefferson & Benjamin Franklin) presenting a draft of the Declaration of Independence to Continental Congress President John Hancock on June 28, 1776, painted by John Trumbull in 1818. (John Trumbull, public domain, via Wikimedia Commons)


	The Declaration of Independence plays a significant part in the movie. The main character states that, of the fifty-five men who signed it (eventually fifty-six men), nine were Freemasons.

	One of these nine was a man named William Ellery. Ellery was a lawyer and representative from Rhode Island. He too was a fellow lodge brother of Oak Island lot owner Dr. Jonathan Prescott, joining the Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 very soon after Prescott.

	And not only was Ellery a lodge brother of Jonathan Belcher Sr., but they were even related through family ties. Belcher’s first cousin was Jonathan Remington, and his daughter Ann Remington married William Ellery.

	In fact, Governor Jonathan Belcher Sr. became related to not one but two signers of the Declaration of Independence, both of whom were fellow Freemasons. The other was probably the most famous signer of them all, John Hancock. Hancock was the president of congress when he signed the Declaration, and his name appears much larger than all the others. Coincidentally, Ellery’s is actually the second-largest name on the Declaration.

	A further connection with the Declaration of Independence involves Adam Fife, the man who conducted the very first meeting of Chester Lodge No. 9 near Oak Island in December 1784.

	Three years before leading the first meeting of Chester Lodge No. 9, a lodge that consisted of a number of Oak Island lot owners, Adam Fife was an inaugural member of the Grand Lodge of New York. At the first meeting of the Grand Lodge in 1781, Reverend William Walter was elected as the first Grand Master of New York.

	In 1767 Reverend Walter became the minister of Holy Trinity Church in Boston and held that position until he was forced to flee Boston for Nova Scotia in 1776. It’s recorded that Reverend Walter became a Freemason at an Antient lodge in England in 1764, and he was the master of Lodge No. 169 in New York in 1781, prior to being elected as Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of New York.

	Even in the late 1700s, New York was already the most populated city in North America. Reverend Walter, who was a Loyalist during the Revolutionary War, remained a Grand Master for two years, and in 1783, he recommended Robert R. Livingston to succeed him.

	Robert R. Livingston was a member of the Committee of Five that drafted the Declaration of Independence. The other members of this committee were Thomas Jefferson, Benjamin Franklin, John Adams, and Roger Sherman. Livingston was the Chancellor of New York since 1777, and just prior to 1784, he served as the first United States Secretary of Foreign Affairs. Livingston was also a staunch Patriot, and it just goes to show how Freemasonry existed outside of politics, where Masons could meet “on the level.” 

	To strengthen the Oak Island connection even further, Reverend William Walter married into the Lynde/Lynds family of Nova Scotia and became related to Oak Island lot owner Dr. Jonathan Prescott, as well as the ancestors of the future Oak Island treasure hunter Simeon Lynds.

	Both Reverend Walter and Adam Fife would have known Livingston through their shared years in the lodge in New York. Livingston did become Grand Master in 1784 and held that esteemed position for several years. Livingston was also the man who administered the oath of office to George Washington when he assumed the presidency in 1789. George Washington had been a Freemason for many years. The Bible on which Washington took the oath is still a treasured possession of Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 in New York.

	As an interesting sidenote, Robert R. Livingston’s great-grandfather, Robert Livingston the Elder (1654–1728) was the main financial backer of Captain William Kidd and his Adventure Galley, when Kidd started out as a privateer in 1695. Livingston was born in Ancrum, Scotland, about 40 miles (64.4 km) from Rosslyn Chapel. As many will know, Oak Island has been linked to Captain Kidd since the earliest newspaper articles mentioned the Oak Island mystery.

	The Livingston family also had some pretty strong ties to Nova Scotia. Robert Livingston’s daughter Margaret Livingston (1681–1758) married Samuel Vetch, the first governor of Nova Scotia in 1710. He held this position until 1713. Vetch was the man who renamed Port Royal to Annapolis Royal, after Queen Anne. He was born in Edinburgh, Scotland. Interestingly Vetch also knew Captain Andrew Belcher quite well, as Belcher was in England with Vetch when he presented his plan for the conquest of Canada (siege of Port Royal) to Queen Anne. The two men sailed from London to Boston together for seven weeks on HMS Dragon.

	Another connection to Oak Island that I discovered has to do with the second National Treasure movie, Book of Secrets. In this movie, one of the main clues involves the “resolute twins,” which the main character, Benjamin Gates, determines is in reference to HMS Resolute, a British ship that was lost in the Arctic in the 1800s. This ship was allegedly salvaged by American whalers, and then Congress sent it back to England where it was retired. We’re then told that Queen Victoria had two desks made from its timbers, which Gates concludes are the “resolute twins.”

	This account from the movie is partially correct. HMS Resolute was in fact a British ship that was part of a five-ship expedition that set out to the Arctic in 1852 in search of the lost ships of the earlier Franklin expedition. HMS Resolute became trapped in the ice and had to be abandoned in April 1854. Seventeen months later, Resolute was found adrift by an American whaling ship 1,200 miles (1931.2 km) from where it had been abandoned.

	And who led this expedition of ships, in which HMS Resolute had to be abandoned? It was the grandson of Nova Scotia Governor and Grand Master Freemason Jonathan Belcher Jr., Sir Edward Belcher. He was born in Halifax, Nova Scotia, and eventually moved to England and joined the Royal Navy. Sir Edward Belcher was knighted in 1867 and became an admiral in the British Navy in 1872.

	In 1856 the United States Congress purchased HMS Resolute, and with the assistance of a man named Henry Grinnell, Resolute was refitted and sailed to England where it was presented to Queen Victoria as a gesture of national courtesy.

	When the ship was finally retired in 1879 and salvaged for timber, Queen Victoria actually had three desks made, but they were all quite different. One of these desks was, in fact, presented to US President Rutherford B. Hayes in 1880, but there was never a twin desk in Buckingham Palace. The Resolute desk has continued to be used in the Oval Office of the White House by the five most recent US presidents, including President Joe Biden as of 2023.

	Readers who enjoyed this book will likely enjoy these National Treasure movies. Knowledgeable viewers may even spot additional ties to Oak Island’s history.
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	Chapter 13 Where Do We Go from Here?



	We’ve now come to the final chapter of this book, but not yet to the end of my quest. I’ve made many fascinating discoveries regarding Oak Island and found several unique treasures thus far. Since I had a small portion of my research shown on The Curse of Oak Island during season 9 in early 2022, I thought it was the perfect time to bring all my research together in one place and greatly expand on the information shown on TV. But like the Fellowship of the Dig on Oak Island, I know there are still things left unfinished.

	I believe the current Fellowship of the Dig, like every group of searchers before them, is engaged in the hero’s journey. Rick and Marty Lagina were in their ordinary worlds when they learned that a lot on Oak Island was for sale. It was their “call to adventure” that allowed them to eventually purchase more lots.

	One could also argue that their call to adventure was when Prometheus Entertainment president Kevin Burns approached them about doing the reality TV show. At that point, the Laginas both entered stage three of the hero’s journey, the refusal of the call. Neither originally wanted to be part of a TV show.

	They would then have entered stage four in meeting their mentor, when Kevin Burns explained all the good the TV show could bring. In terms of the actual search on Oak Island, the mentors would no doubt be the experienced treasure hunters: Dan Blankenship, Fred Nolan, Dave Blankenship, and Dan Henskee.

	Their stage five, or crossing of the threshold, would have either been when they truly committed to restarting search efforts on the island or when they committed to doing the first season of the TV show.

	Stage six of trials, allies, and enemies has been going on for years as they’ve continued to learn all they can from past search records and faced many trials and tribulations. The Fellowship has certainly acquired many allies along the way, but I’m not aware of any real enemies. Perhaps one could consider the so-called enemies to be things like government restrictions that stop or slow the search activity.

	This brings us to stage seven, the approach to the inmost cave. This is the stage the current members of the Fellowship are at. They’ve likely been at this stage for a while now, hovering between stages six and seven. As one approaches the innermost cave, there are often setbacks that cause the hero to look for alternative approaches. Ground-penetrating radar and numerous boreholes seemed frustratingly close to providing answers, and now the team has moved on to a different approach, using muon technology.

	The innermost cave on Oak Island is the so-called Chappell Vault in the Money Pit, or it could be an offset chamber nearby. What makes this stage so difficult is that, according to previous searcher records, the bottom of the Money Pit is known to have collapsed. The once-contained area is likely now a debris field scattered over a much larger area deep underground.

	As of the writing of this chapter in 2023, the members of the Fellowship of the Dig are once again busy on the island. With the purported incredible capabilities of muon tomography, they are truly closer than ever to finding out what lies beneath. Perhaps this is the year they finally “slay the dragon.”

	As I continue to follow up on many strands of my Oak Island research, I also look forward to continuing my journey as a Freemason and going through the York Rite degrees on my way to becoming a Masonic Knight Templar.

	As a 32nd-degree Scottish Rite Mason, I enjoyed witnessing an indoor version of the 13th degree of the Royal Arch of Enoch or Master of the Ninth Arch, as it’s called in Ontario. However, I’m sure it doesn’t come close to the impact of physically descending deep below the earth as Freemasons once did.

	It’s now an imagined version of the hero’s journey into the underworld, but it, as well as other Masonic rituals, can still be quite effective in helping to positively transform one’s character. However, the candidate cannot simply cruise through the degrees and expect a miracle. They have to truly contemplate their own strengths and weaknesses, identify their character flaws, and actively work on making positive changes.

	I’ve made countless new friendships in my many years of involvement with Oak Island research. I’m fairly certain that I now have more Oak Island–related friends on social media than I do family and old school friends.

	When I first became interested in the Oak Island mystery, there was only one website that I could find where Oak Island authors, researchers, and enthusiasts could share current information, discuss theories, and learn more about the mystery. That website still exists and is called Oak Island Treasure. The online forum of the website closed down a number of years ago. At the same time, the Oak Island Treasure group on Facebook was almost certainly the first one to appear on the platform, years before the TV show started. About five years ago, I became one of its administrators. As of early 2023, the Oak Island Treasure group has approximately 50,000 members, but there are other groups that have even more.

	Since the TV show started in 2013, a number of new Oak Island Facebook groups began appearing, to the point where there are now over fifty in total. The largest page is Curse of Oak Island (Original), which has 110,000 members.

	I highly recommend joining the Quest of Oak Island group, as it is one of the more engaging and active ones, with weekly live podcasts in the months that the show is airing. I had the pleasure of being interviewed by its founder in 2022, and this interview can be found on YouTube.

	Another Oak Island Facebook group that I’d recommend is The Curse of Oak Island & Beyond. It also has an excellent weekly podcast, and you can find an interview with me there from April 28, 2022.

	The Facebook group Could It Be: A Curse of Oak Island also has a good weekly podcast, as well as Oak Island trivia contests with unique prizes. Other notable Oak Island Facebook groups are Oak Island Research Circle, Oak Island Raw, and OIAG or Oak Island Archaeoastronomy.

	Another priceless treasure that I’ve discovered in abundance is knowledge. That’s one of the main reasons why I, and many others, believe a journey itself to be more of a treasure than the final destination, or even monetary discovery. Throughout a quest, if one is looking hard enough, one will almost certainly learn new things and have new experiences. Through experience, one will also likely develop better judgement, and the combination of knowledge, experience, and good judgement brings wisdom.

	Let’s take a final look at my key discoveries to date and see how they’ve led me to an incredible, still-evolving theory.

	I began with the premise that Oak Island’s history and Freemasonry were much more closely linked than anyone realized. This idea started with the obvious similarities of the earliest Money Pit descriptions with what I had read about the Masonic subterranean vault.

	The many Scottish connections to this mystery are very interesting. Freemasonry began in Scotland and the higher Ecossaise or Scottish degrees were developed by Scots like Chevalier Ramsay, while living in France. Adam Fife, who led the first Masonic lodge meeting in Chester, near Oak Island, was from Scotland. Three of the first Masons to join the Chester lodge had been Masons in Scotland. Daniel McGinnis, who discovered the Money Pit in 1795, was from Scotland. And of course, Nova Scotia is New Scotland.

	Unlike most Oak Island theories, my theories and research tie directly to numerous Oak Island lot owners. In addition to this, they tie directly to numerous early treasure hunters on the island. I can show that all five of the often-cited Onslow Company members were related by blood or marriage and that generations of these same families were involved in subsequent treasure-hunting groups for almost 150 years.

	Even though my research has led me to a few different possible treasures on Oak Island, these possibilities all still link together through Freemasonry in some way. Whether the treasure might be the Ark of the Covenant, the Holy Rood, Jacob’s Pillow, or silver from the Concepción, it still ties to Freemasons (as well as the related Rosicrucians or Knights Templar).

	More specifically, many of my discoveries tie directly to Royal Arch Masonry. These discoveries include the 1762 Morris map ciphers, with the proposed Triple Tau, the fact that Chester Lodge No. 9 was warranted by the Antient Grand Lodge in England, which considers the Royal Arch degree to be very important, and the red garnet that possibly came from a Masonic Royal Arch high priest’s breastplate.

	In order to provide a clearer presentation of the sequence of events within my research, I’ve put together a timeline up to the discovery of the Money Pit in 1795.


  
Pre-1795 Masonic Timeline of Events Related to Oak Island

	
	
			1200s to 1300s: The Knights Templar or one of the later succeeding orders possibly visit the New World and find an existing deep sinkhole on what would become Oak Island. They could have modified this pit and deposited a sacred treasure. A certain Masonic ritual alludes to this general idea, and evidence of artificial workings from this period has been found on Oak Island.

			1583: Sir Humphrey Gilbert is known to have visited Newfoundland and Nova Scotia. Sir Gilbert is known to be a friend of Dr. John Dee, who researchers believe was the founder of the Rosicrucian movement. Sir Gilbert may have already known about a sacred vault on Oak Island, or he may have been the one to discover the sinkhole and modify it to create the vault and deposit a sacred artifact.

			1688: Likely early Freemason (and father of the first America-born Freemason), Captain Andrew Belcher is caught “trading” with pirates. He has with him Sir William Phips’s ship, right after this ship returned from the Concepción wreck site, where mostly silver was found. The pirates are then said to have gone directly to a location not far from Oak Island in Nova Scotia. Captain Andrew Belcher was married to Sarah Gilbert, a relative of Sir Humphrey Gilbert. Also in 1688, Charles Mordaunt is suspiciously at the Concepción wreck site with Phips. Soon after Mordaunt sails back to the Netherlands, William and Mary invade England in what became known as the Glorious Revolution. This revolution leads to King James II fleeing to France, where his supporters become known as Jacobites. It is almost certain that Jacobites, such as Chevalier Andrew Michael Ramsay, were instrumental in developing the earliest higher degrees within Freemasonry, including the Royal Arch degree.

			1701: Herman Moll, who knew not only Dr. Hans Sloane (who accompanied Christopher Monck, 2nd Duke of Albemarle, to the Concepción wreck site), but also a number of early Freemasons such as Robert Boyle and Richard Stukeley, publishes a map which specifically shows the Concepción wreck site, and also a new named location in what is surely Mahone Bay, Nova Scotia, which he calls “La Plata” (or “The Silver”).

			1720–40: It’s possible that, at some point during the 1720s or ’30s, Dr. Hans Sloane informs Chevalier Ramsay of the sacred vault on Oak Island and Ramsay then incorporates this vault into the Royal Arch ritual.

			1753: The very first grant of Oak Island (then known as Island 28) is awarded by a Freemason, Lieutenant-Governor Charles Lawrence, on one of the two most important days of the year for Masons.

			1762: Freemason Charles Morris creates the first known map of Mahone Bay, which appears to contain multiple ciphers that all point directly toward Oak Island (then known as Smith’s Island) and to strongly indicate that a “sacred” artifact is concealed there.

			1765: One of the first people to acquire two lots on Oak Island is Freemason Dr. Jonathan Prescott, a lodge brother of Jonathan Belcher Sr. from Saint John’s Lodge No. 1 in Boston. Another person to acquire a lot on Oak Island is Jonathan Seccombe, a good friend and former classmate of Freemason Jonathan Belcher Jr., the Masonic Grand Master of Nova Scotia at that time.

			1783: The Francken Manuscript, which came from an earlier 1758 source, states that the Royal Arch degree should be held in a very secret place, underground and vaulted. I propose that the sacred vault or Money Pit on Oak Island was used for this purpose and that this practice derives from the ancient mystery schools. I also believe it is part of what Joseph Campbell eventually terms the hero’s journey.

			1784: Freemason Adam Fife conducts the first recorded Mark Master Mason degrees in North America, in Halifax. Then three weeks later Fife is in Chester, Nova Scotia, near Oak Island, conducting the first meeting of Chester Lodge No. 9. This meeting includes six existing or soon-to-be Oak Island lot owners.

			1784: Chester Lodge No. 9 receives its warrant from the Antient Grand Lodge in England. Antient lodges consider the Royal Arch to be the 4th degree of the Craft (tied to the Mark Master degree), which indicates that some Oak Island lot owners would have been familiar with the Royal Arch ritual.

			1784–85: Three of the very earliest Mark Master Masons in Nova Scotia, including Adam Fife, choose Masonic Marks for themselves that are identical to symbols said to have been carved on the 90-foot Stone, discovered deep in the vault (Money Pit) in 1803.

			1795: The Money Pit is discovered on Oak Island by Daniel McGinnis, Anthony Vaughan Sr., and John Smith.

	

	
	The centuries-long odyssey on Oak Island truly does appear closer than ever to giving up its secrets. The members of the Fellowship of the Dig are about to employ the highest-precision technology yet to peer deep into the underworld, where the proverbial dragon lies in wait. But unlike the dragon Smaug, who guards the treasure hoard in Tolkien’s classic The Hobbit, the dragon under Oak Island is simply a metaphorical stage of the hero’s journey. Still, it is a stage that no previous search group has ever reached. I know that millions of fans of the Oak Island mystery wish them “Godspeed!” in their continued quest.

	I, in turn, have traversed a long and winding road in my personal quest into two of the world’s great mysteries: Oak Island and Freemasonry. I believe that this book shows the most evidence, by far, that these two mysteries have actually been intertwined for centuries.

	My journey has led me to the discovery of long-lost family members, many new friends, cherished memories, and a lot of new knowledge. After a series of meaningful coincidences, I went from not knowing anything about Oak Island or Freemasonry to discovering that both were deeply engrained in my genetic past. I’m definitely wiser now than I’ve ever been, and I’d like to think that I’ve transformed myself into a better person. That said, there is always room for improvement.

	Like that of the Fellowship of the Dig’s on Oak Island, my quest is not yet complete. I’ve raised several questions in this book and still have many loose ends to follow up on. That’s okay, because this quest has been a true labour of love, and to me, the journey is often better than the destination and the quest can be more of a treasure than something of monetary value.

	Certainly, my biggest treasures are my wife and kids. My wife has supported my Oak Island odyssey since the beginning. I know she wasn’t too happy with me early on as I commandeered the dining room table as a research base, covered with thousands of pages of documents arranged into subject piles, for months at a time. Not long after, we moved to a larger place where I was able to have my own office and library. I’m not sure who was happier: me, with my new office space, or my wife, in getting my mess out of sight. Thanks to Oak Island, we’ve taken numerous family vacations to Nova Scotia and have grown to love it there. My kids have also both taken an interest in the mystery and done French-language presentations about Oak Island in school. As most parents will say, my children are my greatest accomplishment, and my family truly is the most precious treasure I could ask for.

	Of course, if the Fellowship does unearth a priceless holy relic, like the Holy Rood or the Ark of the Covenant, or even just a cache of silver ingots from the Concepción, I think I’d be pretty happy.

	I would love to hear from any readers who might have information, suggestions, or constructive criticism to share, or who just want to say “hi.” I’ll do my best to respond to everyone. I can be reached via email at scottclarke416@gmail.com.
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